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Question 3:

William P. Noglows = Male
Richard S. Hill = Male
Barbara A. Klein = Female
David H. Li = Male

Paul I. Reilly = Male

Susan M. Whitney = Female

Geoffrey Wild = Male

Question 4:

William P. Noglows = Caucasian
Richard S. Hill = Caucasian
Barbara A. Klein = Caucasian
David H. Li = Asian

Paul J. Reilly = Caucasian

Susan M. Whitney = Caucasian

Geoffrey Wild = Caucasian

Question 7:

At CMC, we believe that diversity and inclusion create opportunities for greater business success.

Differences are valued, respected, appreciated and embraced, enabling us to be more innovative
and competitive.



QUESHONS 8,5

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our board of directors is currently comprised of sevan directors. The board of directors is divided into three
classes: Class |, whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2022; Class I, who
are nominess for election at this Annual Meeting and whose terms will expire at the annual mesting of
stockholders to be held In 2023; and Class Ill, whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2021. Mr. Hill and Ms. Whitney are currently in Class I, Messrs. Reilly and Wild are currently in Class I,
and Ms. Klein, and Messrs. Li and Noglows are currently in Class Il

At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors for the class of which term expires at the annual mesting
will be alected to serve from the time of election and qualification until tha third annual meeting following selection.
Our cerfificate of incorporation provides that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by
rasolution of the board of directors, and that the board of directors may increase or decrease the authorized
number of directors. Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be
distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the total
number of directors. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that our board of directors may fill any vacancy
created by the resignation of a director or the Increase in the size of our board of directors.

Our board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote “FOR” the election to the board of the
nominees named below.

Nominees for Director for a term that explires in 2023:

Paut J. Reilly, 63

Committee Mr. Reilly was elected a director of our company in March 2017. Mr. Rallly served as
Membership: an executive vice president of Arrow Electronics, Inc. through his retirement in
«  Audit January 2017, and previously had served as its executlve vice president, finance
* Compensation and operations, and chief financial officer from 2001 through May 2016, and head of

global operations from 2009 through May 2018. Prior to joining Ammow in 1991,
Mr. Reilly was a certified public accountant in the business assurance practice of the
New York office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. Railly also serves as & direclor of
Assurant, Inc., and previously served as a director of comScore, Inc. He has a B.S.
in accounting from St. John's University. Based upon Mr. Reilly's management and
director experience and his accounting and finance background discussed above,
the board has concluded Mr. Reilly should serve as a director of our company.

Geoffrey Wild, 63

Committee Mr. Wild was elected a director of our company in September 2015. Mr. Wild has
Membership: sorved as the Chief Executive Cfficer of Atotech since March 2017, and previously
» Compensation was the Chief Executive Officer of AZ Electronic Materials from January 2010 until
*  Nominating and April 2015. Prior to that, he was President and Chief Executive Officer of Cascade
Corporate Microtech, Inc., having previously served as Chief Executive Officer of Nikon
Govermnance Precision, Inc. Mr. Wild previously served as a director of Materion Corporation, and

Axcslis Technologies, Inc. He received his B.S. in chemistry from the University of
Bath, UK. Based upon Mr. Wild's management and director experience and his
technical background discussed above, the board has concluded Mr. Wild should
serve as a director of our company,
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Directors whose terms continus until 2021:

Committee
Membership:

»  Audit (Chair)
= Nominating and
Corporate
Govarnance

Membership:
= None

Committes
Membership:
« None

Committae Mr. Li was elected a director of our company in January 2015. Mr. Li has served as

William P. Noglows, 61

Barbara A. Klein, 65

Ms. Klein was elected a director of our company in April 2008. Ms. Klein also is a
director of Ingredion, Inc. She retired in May 2008 as the Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of COW Corparation. Prior to that, Ms. Klein held a variety of
senior finance positions including Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Dean
Foods Company, Vice President and Corporate Controller of Amearitech Corporation,
and Vice President and Corporate Controller of Pillsbury Co. Ms. Klein received a
B.S. in accounting and finance from Marquette Univarsity, and an M.B.A. from
Loyola University. Based upon Ms. Kieln's management and director experience and
her accounting and finance background discussed above, the board has concluded
Ms. Klein should serve as a director of our company.

our President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2015. From June 2008
through December 2014, Mr. LI servad as our Vice Prasident of the Asia Pacific
Region. Prior to that role, Mr. Li served in various leadership roles, including as our
Managing Director of China and Korea, and our Global Business Director for
Tungsten and Advanced Dielactrics. Prior to that, he held a variety of leadership
positions in operations, sourcing and investor relations since joining us in 1998.
Mr. Li received a B.S. in chamical engineering from Purdue University and an
M.B.A. from Northwestern University. Based upon Mr. Li's management experience,
his knowledge of our company, its operations and customers, his knowledge of the
chemical and semiconductor industries, and his Asiafocused, cross-border
business experience, the board has concluded Mr. Li should serve as a director of
our company.

Mr. Noglows has served as our Chairman since 2003, and was our President and
Chief Executive Cfficer from November 2003 through December 2014. Mr. Noglows
also Is a director of Aspen Aerogels, Inc. and Littelfuse, Inc. From 1984 through
2003, he served in various management positions at Cabot Corporation, culminating
in serving as an executive vice president and general manager. Mr. Noglows had
praviously served as a director of our company from December 1999 until April
2002. Mr. Naglows received his B.S. in chemical engineering from the Georgla
Institute of Technology, Based upon Mr. Noglows' management experience, his
knowledge of our company and its operations, and his knowledge of the chemical
and semiconductor industries, the board has concluded Mr. Noglows should serve
as a director of our company.

A .
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Directors whoss terms continue untlf 2022:

Richard S. Hill, 68
C

ommittee Mr. Hill was slected a director of our company in Juns 2012. Mr. Hill retired as the
Membership: Chairman and Chief Exscutive Officer of Novellus Systems, Inc. in June 2012 after
*  Audit serving in these positions since 1996, and since 1993 as CEO upon his joining
» Nominating and Novellus. Prior to leading Novellus, Mr. Hill held various senlor Isadership and
Corporate managemsent positions with Tektronix, Inc., General Electric, Inc., Motorola, Inc., and

Governance (Chair) | Hughes Aircraft, Inc. Mr. Hill also serves as a director of Arrow Electronics, !nc.,
Xperi, Inc., and Marvell Technology Group Lid. He also served as Interim Chiaef
Executive Officer of Symantec, Inc. from May to November 2019, and had served as
a director untii December 2019. He received a B.S. in bioengineering from the
University of lllinois and a M.B.A. from Syracuse University. Based upon Mr. Hill's
management and director experience and his technical background discussed
above, the board has concluded Mr. Hill should serve as a director of our company.

Committes Ms. Whitney was elected a director of our company in April 2015. Ms. Whitnay, a

Membership: 35-year veteran of the IBM Corporation, retired as the General Manager of IBM
»  Audit System X in 2007 after leading the IBM Server Group, and directing IBM's global
«  Compensation x86-based server division. Prior to that, she served in numerous exscutive

(Chair) leadership roles, including marketing and sales responsibilities for the IBM Asia

Pacific and IBM Midwest organizations. Ms. Whitney also serves as a trustee of the
College of Mt. St. Vincent, and served as a director of LSt Logic Corporation prior to
its acquisition by Avago Technologies, Ltd. in 2014. She received her BA. in
mathematics and economics from the College of Mt. St. Vincent. Based upon
Ms. Whitney's management and director experience and her background in
technology companies discussed above, the board has concluded Ms. Whitney
should serve as a director of our company.

BOARD STRUCTURE AND COMPENSATION

Board of Directors and Board Committees
Board Leadership

Cur independent directors hold regularly scheduled meetings In executive session, at which only
independent directors are present. As provided in our Corporate Govemnance Guidelines, the Chairman of the
nominating and govemance committes, Mr. Hill, serves as chairman of the meetings of the independent directors
in executive sesslon and performs other responsibllities of a lead director such as working with the Chairman of
the board of directors to plan and set the agenda for meetings of the board of directors. Mr. Noglows is the
independent, non-executive Chairman of the board of directors and prior to January 1, 2015, also was the
President and Chief Executive Officer of our company. Effective January 1, 2015, Mr. Li became our President
and Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Noglows continued as Chairman of the Board in an Executive capacity
through December 2015. Thus, from and aRter January 1, 2015, our company has had a separate Chairman of the
board of directors (Mr. Noglows) and a separate President and Chief Executive Officer (Mr. Li), an approach that
our board believes has provided a smooth leadership transition and structure for our company.

Board's Role In Risk Oversight

The board of directors has an oversight role, as a whole and at the committee level, In overseeing
management of our risks. Our board focuses on our general risk management strategy, the most significant risks
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facing us, and oversees the implemantation of risk mitigation strategies by management. The board regulary
reviews information regarding our credit, liquidity, and operations, including the environmental, health and safaty
aspects of such, and risks associated with each, and along with the audit committee, compliance matters related
to our business. The Board's oversight of risk management matters related to environmental, health and safety
includes consideration of sustainability and climate-related risks. The compensation committee of the board is
responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to our employee compensation plans, policies, and
programs, as well as our annual report on executive compensation for inclusion in each proxy statement. The
audit committes of the board oversees the management of financial risks. The nominating and corporate
govemnance committee of the board is responsible for oversesing the management of risks related to corporate
govemance matters. While each committee is responsible for evaluating certain risks and oversesing
management of such risks, the entire board is regularly informed through the committees about such risks, and
reviews and discusses them in the context of our overall risk posture and risk management and mitigation
strategies.

Corporate Governance

Our board of directors has adopted the Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Corporate Governance
Guidelines, which are available on our website, www.cabotcmp.com, along with other corporate govermnance
materials, such as board of directors’ committee charters and our Code of Business Conduct. Pursuant to the
Corporate Govemance Guidelines, committee charters and other corporate govemance materials and practices,
our board of directors and committees, particularly the audit committee, periodically review and provide oversight
of the management of various risk factors that are relevant to our company. Qur board of directors also reviews
annually the functioning of the board.

Shareholder Engagement and Communications with Directors

Our company values the perspectives of our shareholders, and has a variety of means by which we engage
with them. Also, stockholders and third parties may communicate with our board of directors, the non-employee
directors or any individual director (including any committee chair) through the Chairman of the Board, c/o the
Secretary of our company, at our offices at 870 North Commons Drive, Aurora, lilinois 60504. Depending on the
nature of the communication and to whom it is directed, the Secretary of our company will: (a) forward any
communication to the appropriate director or directors; (b) forward the communication to the relevant department
within the company; or (c) attempt to handle the matter directly (for example, a communication dealing with a
share ownership matter).

independent Directors

The board of directors has determined that six of our seven cument directors, including Messrs. Hill,
Noglows, Reilly and Wild, and Ms. Klein and Ms. Whitney, are “independent” directors as definad in the National
Association of Securities Dealars Automated Quotation ("NASDAQ") Marketplace Rules and as defined in
applicable rules by the SEC. In making its determinations of indepsndencs, in addition to consideration of the
relevant SEC and NASDAQ rules (according to which the definition of “independent director® Is set forth in our
Corporate Governance Guidelines, a current copy of which is available on our website, www.cabotcmp.com), the
board of directors considered factors for each director such as any other directorships, any employment or
consulting arrangements, and any relationship with our company’s customers, suppliers or advisors. In particular,
the board of directors determined that, effective January 1, 2019, Mr. Noglows qualified as an independent
director under applicable rules considering, among other things, that it has been more than three years since he
was an employee of cur company.

Board Refreshment and Succession Planning

Our board of directors regularly reviews its own composition, and considers and plans for an orderly
transition of the board, including with respect to planning for potential retirements and with respect to identifying
potential candidates for service as new directors. As part of this process, the board of directors routinely
evaluates the need for board refreshment and focuses on identifying individuals whose skills and experiences will
enable them to make meaningful contributions to the shaping of the future of the company. The board of directors
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believes it has made considerable strides towards these goals in recent years, Underscoring these refreshment
efforts, the board of directors has refreshed approximately 73% of Its directors since 2015. Mr. Li joined
the board of directors in January 2015 in connection with his appointment as the company's president and chief
executive officer. The company alsc added three new independent directors, Ms. Whitney in April 2015, Mr. Wild
in September 2015, and Mr. Reilly in March 2017. The board of directors belleves all these individuals have the
relevant experience and expertise to complement that of our other directors, and to further contribute to the
board's ongoing guidance of our company; since 2015, the board has transitioned through the retirement of six
long-serving directors. Over time, our board of directors expects to continue to focus on board refreshment and
this transition process to inject relevant expertise, new skill sets, and diverse perspectives. The Board also has
committed itself to carafully considering diversity when evaluating director candidates, giving strong consideration
to candidates that would contribute to the board's gender and other diversity, as evidenced by the fact that it has
had female representation on the Board for more than a decade, and approximately 30% for the past 5 years,

Board and Committee Meeting Attendance

During fiscal year 2019, our board of directors held 14 meetings and took action by written consent two
times. Each of our directors attended at least 75% of all the mesetings of the board and those committess on
which he or she served during fiscal year 2019, and all directors attended our annual meeting of stockholders in
fiscal year 2019. We encourage directors to attend our stockholder annual mestings. Since the end of fiscal year
2019, the board of directors has met six times and has taken action by written consent two times. During fiscal
year 2019, our independent directors met in executive session 12 times. Since fiscal ysar end, our independent
directors have met in executive session four times.

Committees of the Board

The board has three standing committees: the audit committee, the compensation committes and the
nominating and corporate governance committes. The following chart sets forth the directors who currently serve
as membears of each of the board committees.

Nominating and Corporate

Directors Audit Committee Compensation Committee Governance Committee
Richard S. Hill X c

‘Barbara A. Klein c X

Pauli J. Railly X X

“Susan M. Whitney X C

Geofirey Wild X X

“C" denotes member and chairman of committae
“X" denotes member of committee

Audit Committee.

The members of the audit committee are currently Messrs. Hill and Rellly, Ms. Klein {Chair) and
Ms. Whitney. The board has determined that each of these audit committee members during fiscal year 2019 and
currently are independent as defined by NASDAQ Marketpiace Rules and under the applicable rules adopted by
the SEC and that all such members are financially literate.

The functions of the audit committes include:
» salecting, appointing, retaining, compensating and overseeing our independent auditors;

= deciding upon and approving in advance the scope of audit and non-audit assignments and related
fees;
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* reviewing accounting principles we use in financial reporting;
*  reviewing our system of disclosure controls and procedures;
« reviewing the adequacy of our internal control procedures, including the internal audit function; and,

* reviewing general compliance matters and processes related to our operations, including those
related to environmental, health and safety matters.

Our board of directors has determined that the audit committes has at least one member who qualifies as an
Audit Committee Financial Expert, as defined by relevant SEC rules, and has designated Ms. Klein, the Chair of
the audit committee, as such Audit Committee Financial Expert.

The audit committee operates under a written charter, a current copy of which is available on our website,
www.cabotcmp.com. The audit committee reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the audit committee charter
on an annual basis. The audit committee has established procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints recelved regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, as well as for the pre-
approval of services provided by our independent auditors, both of which are also available on our website,
www.cabotcmp.com. As set forth in the audit committee charter, the audit committee is also responsible for the
review and approval of any related party transaction in advance of the company entering into any such
transaction; since April 2002, we have not been engaged in any related party transactions and none have been
proposed to the audit committee for consideration.

The audit committee met eight times during fiscal year 2019 and did not take action by written consent, and
has met three times since fiscal year end with respect to the audit of our fiscal year 2019 financial statements and
related and other matters, and has not taken action by written consent. In fulfiliment of the audit committee's
responsibilittes for fiscal year 2019, Ms. Klein, the audit committee Chalir, reviewed our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 {as did the other members of the committee and board of
directors), and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q before wae filed them, and Ms. Klein and other members of
the audit cormmmittes (and board of directors} also reviewed quarterly eamnings announcements and related matters
before we released them.

Compensation Committee. The members of the compensation committee are currently Messrs. Reilly and
Wild, and Ms. Whitney (Chair), each of whom the board determined was during fiscal year 2019 and is now an
“independent” director as defined by NASDAQ Marketplace Rules and as defined in applicable rules adopted by
the SEC. Further, the members of the compensation committee each satisfy the enhanced eligibility requirements
applicable to compensation committee members of listed companies set forth in NASDAQ listing standards.

The functions of the compensation committee include:
* reviewing and approving the compensation and benefits for our employees;
« evaluating and deciding upon the compensation of our chiaf executive officer;

* evaluating and deciding upon the compensation of our other exscutive officers, which Is done
following consultation with our chief executive officer;

*  monitoring the administration of our employes bensfit plans;

« authorizing and ratifying stock option grants, restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards, other
equity awards (such as perfarmance share unit awards), and other incentive arrangements;

* authorizing employment and related agreements;

* in concert with the nominating and corporate govermnance committee, reviewing and making
recommendations to the board of directors regarding succession planning for our chief executive
officer and other executive officers; and

» periodically reviewing human capital matters affecting the company (for example, demographics,
diversity and inclusion, talent development and employee retention initiatives).
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Our chief executive officer is neither present for voting or deliberation on, nor votes upon decisions relating
to, his compensation. In addition, our chief executive officer does not vote upon decisions related to the
compensation of our other executive officers. Also, our vice president of human resources and her staff support
the compensation committee in its work by providing input and recommendations on the overall mix and forms of
executive compensation as directed by the compensation committee. Qur vice president of human resources and
human resources staff do not make decisions regarding the amount of compensation for our named axecutive
officers or other axecutive officers.

The compansation committee has engaged the services of an independent compensation consultant, which
reports directly to the committee. Since April 2017, the committee has engaged Meridian Compensation Partners,
LLC (*Meridian™ as its independent compensation consultant. The consultant has been engaged to advise the
compensation committes on executive officer compensation and equity incentive matters and trends and to
perform benchmark comparison analysis of compensation practices of pesr companias. As part of the
compeansation committee’s ongoing and annual reviews of executive officer compensation matters, the consultant
recommends specific ranges of compensation for our executive officers, including our named executive officers,
based on Information provided by the committee regarding different performance scenarios and desired
positioning with respect to market compensation ranges. The consultant also advises the nominating and
corporate governance committee on non-employee director compensation matters. The consultant provides no
other services to our company. The compensation committee also has reviewed the independence of the
consuitant in light of SEC rules and NASDAQ listing standards regarding compensation consultants and has
concluded that the consultant's work for the committee and for the nominating and corporate governance
committee is independent and does not raise any corfiict of interest.

The compensation committee operates under a written charter that addresses compensation matters, a
currant copy of which is available on our website, www.cabotcmp.com. The compensation committee reviews and
reassesses the adequacy of the compensation committee charter {including under NASDAQ listing standards) on
an annual basis. The compensation committee mst six times during fiscal year 2019 and took action by written
consent two times, and has met three times since the fiscal year end with respact to 2019 annual cash incentive
payouts, salary increases, equity awards (including stock option grants, and restricted stock unit and performance
share unit awards), and other matters, and has not taken action by written consent.

Nominating and Corporale Govemance Commities. The members of the nominating and corporate
govemance committee are currently Messrs. Hill (Chalr) and Wild, and Ms. Klein, sach of whom was during fiscal
year 2019 and is now an “Independent” director as defined by NASDAQ Marketplace Rules and as defined in
applicable rules adopted by the SEC.

The functions of the nominating and corporate govemance committee include:

= reviswing and recommending a slate of nominees for the election of directors;

» recommending changes in the number, classification and term of directors;

* reviewing nominations by stockholders with regard to the nomination process;

= reviswing and recommending compensation and other matters for our non-employee directors;

» reviewing and recommending succession planning for the chief executive officar, and other executive
officers, which may be done In concert with the compsnsation committee; and,

» attending to general corporate govemance matters, including Environmental, Social and Govemance
(ESG), such as sustainability and climate-related, matters and their impact on our stakeholders.

The nominating and corporale governance committee operates under a written charter that addresses the
nominations process and such related matters as may be required under the federal securities laws and NASDAQ
listing requirements, a current copy of which is available on our website, www.cabotcmp.com. The nominating and
corporata governance committee reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the nominating and corporate
govermnance charter on an annual basis. The nominating and corporate govenance committee met three times
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during fiscal year 2019, did not take action by written consent, and has met once since fiscal year end and has
not taken action by written consent. The nominating and corporats govemance committee acted unanimously to
recommend the nomination of the Class Il director nominees to the board of directors, subject to stockholder
approval, as discussed in “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS,” above.

Criterla for Nominating Directors

The nominating and corporate govemance committee considers candidates to fill new directorships created
by expansion and vacancies that may occur and makes recommendations to the board of directors with respect to
such candidates. The nominating and corporate governance committee considers suggestions from many
sources regarding possible candidates for director and will consider nominees recommended by stockholders.
Any such stockholder nominations, together with appropriate biographical information, should be submitted to the
Chairman of the nominating and corporate governance committee, c/o the Secretary of our company at our
offices at 870 North Commons Drive, Aurora, illinois 60504. To be included In the proxy statement, such
nomination must be received by the Secretary of our company not later than the 120th day prior to the first
anniversary of the date of the preceding year's proxy statement.

In fiscal year 2019, we did not pay a fee to any third party to identify or evaluate potential director nominees;
however, in the future we may pay a fee to a third party to identify or evaluate potential director nominees If the
need arises, given the important role our directors play in guiding our strategic direction and overseeing the
management of our company.

Board candidates are selected based upon various criteria including, but not limited to, their:
* character and reputation;
* relevant business experisnce and acumen;
* relevant educational background;

« experience in areas such as technology, manufacturing, marketing, finance, strategy, international
business, and academia; and

= geographic, cultural, expariential and other forms of diversity, such as gender.

The nominating and corporate governance committee and board of directors review these factors, including
diversity, in considering candidates for board membership. Board members are expected to prepare for, attend
and participate in all board of directors and applicable committee meetings, and our annual meetings of
stockholders. The nominating and corporate govemance committee considers a director's past attendance
record, participation and contribution to the board of directors in considering whether to recommend the reelection
of such director.
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revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YesT1 No (E]

The aggregate tharket value of the registrant's Cammon Stock held beneficially or of record by stockholders who are not affiliates of the registrant, based upon the
closing price of the Common Stock on March 31, 2019, as reported by the NASDAQ Global




Select Market, was approximately $3,221,306,626. For the purposes bereof, "affiliates” include all executive officers and direciors of the registrant.
As of Octaber 31, 2019, the Company hed 29,104,190 shares of Common Stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's definitive Proxy Stalement for the Angual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on March 4, 2020, are incorporated by reference in Part
[l of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent stated herein.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K inchudes statements that constitute "forward-leoking statements™ within the meaning of federal securities regulations. For more
detail regarding "forward-looking statements® sec licm 7 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-KE.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OUR COMPANY

Cabot Microclectroaics Corporstion {"Cabot Microelectronics”, "the Company”, "us”, “we", or "our”), which was incorporated in the state of Delaware in
1999, is & leading global supplier of consumable materials to semiconducior manufacturers and pipeline and adjacent industry cusiomers. On November 15, 2018
(“Acquisition Date™), we completed our acquisition of KMG Chemicals, Inc. (“KMG"), which produces and distributes specialty chemicals and performance
materials for the semiconductor industry, pipeline and adjacent industries, and industrial wood preservation industry (“Acquisition™). The Acquigition extended and
strengthened our position as one of the leading suppliers of consumable materials to the semiconductor industty and expandsd our portfolio with the addition of
KMG’s electronic chemicals and performance materials businesses, the latter of which we belicve enables us to be a leading global provider of performance
products and services to customets in pipeline and adjacent industries.

Subsequent 1o the Acquisition, we have operated our business within two repertable segments: Blectronic Materials and Performance Materials. The
Electronic Materials segment consists of our heritage chemical mechanical planarization (CMP) slurries and polishing pads businesses, as well as the KMG's
heritage electronic chemicals business. In our Electronic Materials segment, we serve customers in the semiconductor industry across the United Siates, Europe
and Asia, and are the leading global supplier of CMP slurries, and a leading global supplier of electronic chemicals (also kmown as “high-punty process
chemicals™), and CMP pads. We develop, produce, and sell CMP shurries for polishing many of the conducting, insulating and isolating materials used in integrated
circuit (IC) devices, and for polishing the disk substrates and magnetic heads used in hard disk drives. We also develop, manufacture, and sell CMP polishing pads,
which arc used in conjunction with slutries in the CMP process. In our electronic chemicals business, we produce and sell high-purity process chemicals through
the formulation, purification, and blending of acids, solvents, and other wet chemicals used to etch and clean silicon wafers in the production of semiconduciors,
photovoliaics (solar cells), and flat panel displays.

Our Performance Materials segment includes KMG's hertitage pipeline performance and wood treatment busineases, and our beritage QED business. We arc a
leading global provider of products, services, and solutions for optimizing pipeline throughput and maximizing performance and safety. Our pipeline performance
producis include drag-reducing agenis (“DRAs™), valve lubricants, cleaners and scalants, and related equipment supporting pipeline and adjacent industries. We
also provide routine and cmergency maintenance services as well as training for customers in the pipeline and adjacent industries worldwide. Through KMG's
subsidiary, KMG-Bernuth, Inc. (KMG-Bernuth), we manufacture and scll our wood treatment presetvatives, based on pentachlorophenol (“penta™), to wood
treatment customers who use these products to extend the usefidl life of wood utility poles and crossarms, but we recently have ammounced that we intend to no
longer invest in this business and will not construct a new consolidated manufacturing facility when we closc the two existing facilities by the end of 2021, See
below, and Note 10 of “Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in [tem 8 of Pan II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In our QED business,
we serve the precision optics industry with capital equipment, cohsumsbles and services. For additional information on our scgment reporting, refer to Note 22 of
“Nolcs to the Consolidated Financial Statements* included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ELECTRONIC MATERIALS:
IC DEVICE MANUFACTURING

IC devices, or "chips”, are components in a wide range of electronic systems for computing, communications, manufacturing and transportation. Consumers
most frequently encounter {C devices m mobile internet devices (MIDs) such as smart phones and tablets, microprocessors, application processors and memory
chips in their deskiop or laptop computers, and in automotive applications, gaming devices, and digital televisions. The multi-step manufacturing process for IC
devices typically begins with a circular wafer of pure silicon, with the first mannfacturing step refemred to as s "wafer start”. Many identical IC devices, or dies, are
manufactured on cach wafcr at the same time, The initial steps in the manufacturing process build transistors and other electronic components on the silicon wafer.
These components are isolated from each other using a layer of insulating material, most often silicon diaxide, to prevent electrical signals from bridging from one
transistor to another. These components are then wired together using conducting materials such as aluminum or copper in a particular sequence 1o produce 2
functional IC device with apecific characteristics, Once the conducting wiring on one layer of the IC device is completed, another layer of insulating material is
added. The process of alternating insulating and conducting layers is repeated until the desired wiring within the IC device is achicved. At the end of the process,
the wafer is cut into the mdividual dies, which arc then packaged to form individual chips.




CMP SLURRIES AND PADS

Demand for CMP consumables products, including sturries and pads, used i the production of IC devices is primarily based on the number of wafer starts by
semiconductor manufacturers and the type and complexity of the IC devices they produce. To enhance the performance of IC devices, IC device manufacturers
have progressively increased the pumber and density of electronic components and wiring layers in each IC device. This is typically done in conjunction with
shrinking the key dimensions on an IC device from one technology generation, or "node,” to another. As a result, the number of transistors, wires and discrete
wiring layers have increased, increasing the complexity of the IC device and the related demand for CMP consumables products. Furthermore, as semiconductor
technology has advanced and performance requirements of IC devices have increased, the percentage of IC devices that utilize CMP in the manufacturing process
hzs increased steadily over time. We believe that CMP is used in moat [C devices made today, and we expect that the use of CMP will continue 1o increase in the
future,

In the CMP polishing process, CMP consumables are used to remove excess matetial that is deposited during the IC manufacturing process, and to level and
smooth the surfaces of the layers of IC devices, via a combination of chemical reactions and mechanical abrasion, leaving minimal residue and defects on the
surface, with only the raaterial necessary for circuil integrity remaining. CMP slurries are liquid solutions gencrally composed of high-purity deionized water and a
proprictary mix of chemical additives and enginesred abrasives that chemically and mechanically interect at an atomic level with the surface material on the wafer.
CMP pads arc engincered polymeric materials designed 1o distribute and transport the slurry to the surface of the wafer and distribute it evenly across the wafer.
Grooves are fermed into the surface of the pad to facilitate distribution of the shurry. The CMP process is performsd on a CMP polishing tool. During the CMP
process, the wafer is held on a rotating carrier, which is pressed down against s CMP pad. The CMP pad is attached to a rotating polishing teble that spins in 2
circular motion in the opposite dircction from the rotating wafer carrier. A CMP slurry is continuously applied to the polishing pad to facilitate and enhance the
polishing process. Hard disk drive and silicon wafer manufacturers use similar processes to smooth the surface of substrute disks.

Aan effective CMP process is achieved through technical optimization of the CMP connunables in conjunction with an appropriately desigoed CMP process.
Prior to introducing new or different CMP slurrics or pads into its manufacturing process, an IC device manufacturer generally requires the product to be qualified
in its processes through an extensive scrics of tests and evahiations. These qualifications are intended to confinm that the CMP consumable product will function
properly within the custemer’s overall manufacturing process. These tests and evaluations may require minor changes to the CMP process or the CMP slurry or
pad. While this qualification process varies depending on numerous factors, it is generally quite costly and may take six months or longer to complete. IC device
manafacturers usually assess the cost, time required, and impact on production when they consider implementing or switching to a new CMP slurry or pad.

CMP enables IC device manufecturers to produce smaller, faster and more complex IC devices with a greater density of transistors and other electronic
components. With smaller IC devices, [C device manufacturers can increzse the number of IC devices that fit on a wafer, which increases their throughput, or the
number of IC devices that can be manufactured in a given time period. CMP also helps reduce the number of defective or substandard IC devices produced, which
mcreases the device yield. Producing more complex and higher performing IC devices increases the value of the wafiers processed. Improvements in throughput,
yield and value per wafer improve the return on an IC device mamifacturcr’s significant investment i manufacturing capacity, which is a high priority. Maore
broadly, sustained growth in the semiconductor industry traditionally has been fueled by enhanced performance and lower unit costs, making IC devices more
affordable in an expanding range of applications. We believe CMP remains a critical process in leading-edge semiconductor technology, enabling IC device
manufacturers to cfficiently produce complex chips, particularty where higher performance may now be accompanied by higher unit costs.

ELECTRONIC CHEMICALS

Through our electronic chemicals business, we formulate, purify and blend acids, solvents and other wet chemicals used to etch and clean silicon wafers in the
production of semiconductors, photovoltaics (solar cells) and flat panel displays. Our products include sulfuric, phosphoric, nitric and hydrofluoric acids,
ammonium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide, iscpropy] atcohol, other specialty organic solvents and various blends of chemicals, Our customens rely on us to provide
products with very low levels of contaminants and particles. We purchase raw material chemicals from various suppliers and at our facilitics blend, purify and
package them for distribution to our customers. We are responsible for procuct purity levels and analytical testing, and in our view, our ability to maintain high
purity levels throughout the supply chain process is a competitive advantage. We belicve the production of high-purity process chemicals is critical to our
customers’ businesses, #s they demand an increasing level of purity te enable more advanced technology nodes and increase yiclds. We belicve demand for
electromic chemicals will continue to increase as the semiconductor industry migrates to smaller nodes, which require additional processing steps.




PERFORMANCE MATERIALS:
PIPELINE PERFORMANCE PRODUCTS; DRAG REDUCING AGENTS ("DRAs")

Through the Acquisition, we acquired KMG's pipeline performance business, which has enabled us to become a leading global provider of performance
products and services to pipeline companies. Through this business, we supply DRAs, valve lubricants, clcaners and scalanta, and related services and equipment,
including routine and emergency valve mainicnance services and training, to customers in the pipelice and adjacent industries. Our pipeline performance products
and services provide value-added specialty products that optimize pipeline efficiency, lower operating costs, and enhance safety. Through the Acquisition, we
acquired KMG's pipeline performance business, which includes the DRA business operated through Flowchem LLC (“Flowchem™), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of KMG, as well the valve lubricants and related services businesses, We operate facilities for the manufacture, formulation and distribution of our pipeline
performance products in the United States and Canada. We believe demand for DRAs is driven by both production levels within current pipeline infrastructure, as
well as future additional pipeline capacity coming online. In our view, aging of existing pipeline infrastructure should create additional demand, as DRAs allow
pipeline customers to maximize throughpat while meeting maximum pipeline pressure regulations.

WOOD TREATMENT

In the wood weamment preservatives business, KMG-Bernuth mpplies penta to industrial customers who use this preservative 1o pressure treat wood products,
priuarily utility poles and crossarms, to extend their useful life by protecting against insect damage and decay. Early in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we had
announced that, as a result of the Mexican government's required compliance with certain international environmental regulations and the resulting requirement
that KMG-Bernuth cease producing penta in Mexico by the end of 2021, we planned to close both the Matamoros, Mexico and Tuscalocsa, Alabama facilities by
such time, with the intention to cansolidate operations in a new plant. However, later in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, as we assessed our capital
cxpenditure priorities for fiscal year 2020 and beyond, we made a decision 1o further focus our future capital investments on our high-growth core businesses, such
a3 pipeline performance products, CMP slurries and pads and electronic chemicals. As a result, we also decided to cease future investment in the wood treatment
business and (o not construct a new production facility to replace current operations in Metamoros and Tuscaloosa, [n the interim, prior to the closure of the
Matamoros and Tuscaloosa facilities, we intend to continue to operate the existing facilities and provide our customers with quality penta products to treat and
extend the useful life of wood utility poles and crossarms, We are considering various options regarding this business. See Note 9 and Note 10 of “Notes 1o the
Consolidated Financial Statements” included in [tem 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PRECISION OPTICS

Cur wholly-owned subsidiary, QED Technologics International, Inc. (QED), is a leading provider of deterministic finishing and advanced measurement
technology for the precision optics industry. Many of the production processes currently used in precision machining and polishing have been based on traditional,
labor-mtensive techniques, which are being replaced by compirter-conirolled, deterministic processes. Through our QED subsidiary, we are applying our technical
expertise in polishing techniques to demanding applications in other industries where shaping, enabling, and enhancing the performance of surfaces is critical to
success, such as for precision optics. We belicve precision optics are pervasive, serving several large existing industries such as semiconductor equipment,
acrospace, defense, biomedical, research and digital imaging.




OUR PRODUCTS
ELECTRONIC MATERIALS
CMP CONSUMABLES FOR IC DEVICES AND FOR SUBSTRATEMATERIALS

We develop, produce and sell CMP sturries for polishing a wide range of materials that conduct electrical signals, including tungsten, copper, tantalum
(commonly referred to as "barrier”), which is used in copper wiring applications, and alaminum. Slurries for polishing tungsten are used in essentially all chip
manufscruring processes containing CMP, with growth driven by increased utilization and higher performance demands in advanced logic, DRAM and 3D NAND
devices. Tungsten slurries are also used in advanced logic devices for a multitude of end use applications including MIDs such 2 smart phones and tablets, gaming
devices, and in high-performance computing and artificial intelligence, as well as in legacy bogic applications sch as those used in automobiles and connected
communication devices. In addition, Tungsten slurries are also used in some of the most advanced technologies, such as 3D memory and FinFET for advanced
logic IC devices. Slurries for polishing copper and barrier materials are used in the production of advanced IC logic devices such as microprocessors for computers,
and devices for graphic systems, gaming systems and communication devices, as well as in the production of edvanced memory devices. These products include
differcnt slurrics for polishing the copper film and the thin barrier layer used to separate copper from the adjacent insulating material. Slurries for polishing
ahnninum are used in certain advanced transistor gate structures. We offer multiple products for each technology nede to enable different mtegration schemes
depending on specific customer needs.

We alzo develop, mamfacture and sell sturry products used to polish the diclectric insulating materials that acparate conductive Ixyers within logic and
memory IC devices. Some of our slury products for these materials are used in mature, high volume polishing applications called Interlayer Dielectric, or ILD, in
the production of beth logic and memuory devices. Qur more advanced diclectrics products are designed to deliver higher throughput, improved defectivity, and
lower cost of ownership than required in traditional ILD applications, as well as to meet the more stringent and complex performance requirements of lower-
volume, more specialized dielectrics polishing applications at advanced technology nodes. Some of the applications for advanced diclectrics slurrics include
shallow treach isolation {STT), "stop on poly” or "stop on nitride” isolation, bulk oxide polishing, and polishing of varigus dielectrics in advanced transistor
designs.

We develop, produce and sel] CMP polishing pads, which are consumable materials that work in conjunction with CMP sharries in the CMP polishing process.
We believe that CMP polishing pads represent a natural adjacen<y to our CMP slurry business, since both technologies are required by our customers to deliver
their intended result and utilize the same technica? and sales infrastrnecture. Our polishing pad product portfolio includes pads utilizing both thermoset and
thermoplastic polyurethane pad material. We produce and sell pads that can be used on a variety of polishing tools, over a range of applications, including
tunggter:, copper, and diclectrics, over a mnge of technology nodes, and on both 300mm and 200mm wafers.

In addition, we develop, produce and sell CMP shurries for polishing certain substrate related materials that are used in the production of hard digks and IC
devices used in various electronics applications, which represent an extension of our core CMP shury technology and manufacturing capabilities established for
the semicenductor industry. We believe CMP significantly improves the surface finish of these substrates, resulting in better performance, such as greater storage
capacity, higher speed or better power efficiency, of electronics and their applications.

ELECTRONIC CHEMICALS PRODUCTS FOR IC DEVICES AND FOR SUBSTRATE MATERIALS

Ourr electronic chemicals products include sulfuric, phogphoric, nitric and hydrofluoric acids, ammoniurn hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide, isopropyl alcoho!,
other speciaity organic solvents and various blends of chemicals. These products are used in multipie process steps throughout the semiconductor fab, Customers
demand an increasing level of parity lo cnable more advanced technology nodes and increase yields. Our clectronic chemicals products currently have purity levels
up to 20 parte per trillion levels,




PERFORMANCE MATERIALS
PIPELINE PRODUCTS

In our Flowchem business, we provide polymer-based DRAs for light, medium, and heavy crude oil transmisgion. We have zeveral product offerings o meet
specific customer needs depending on the physical propertics of the crude being pumped and various geographic climate conditions. Our products provide benefit
by reducing the pressure loss in a pipeline due to the turbulent flow. This allows pipeline operators to maximize product flow while maintaining safe operating
pressure and reducing energy consumption.

In our Valve Products and Services business, we develop, manufacture, and sell products used for maintaining and extending the operational lifespan of
lubricated isolation valves. We elso service velves inline and under pressure through our field services division, and provide accredited training to customers in the
pipeline and adjacent industries globally.

WOOD TREATMENT PRODUCTS

Penta produsts include solid blocks and concentrated sohitiops. The solid penta blocks are manufactured at our facility in Matamoros, Mexico. DT-40 (penta
concentrate liquid) is procsssed at KMG-Bernuth's plant in Tugcaloosa, Alabama See above and below, and Note 9 and Note 10 of “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements” included in Item 8 of Part 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding our decision to cease future investment in the wood treatment
business and to not construct a new production facility 1o replace current operations in Matamoros and Tuscaloosa.

PRECISION OPTICS PRODUCTS

Through QED, we design and produce precision polishing and metrology systems for advanced optics applications that allow customers to attain near-perfect
shape and surface finish on a range of optical components such as mirrors, lenses and prisms, QED's polishing systems use Magneto-Rheological Finishing
(MRFT™™), a proprietary surface figuring and finishing technology that employs magnetic fluids end sophisticated computer technology to polish a variety of shapes
and materials. QED's metrology systems use proprictary Subaperture Stitching Interferometry (SSI) technology, which captures precise metrology data for large
and/or strongly curved optical parts. QED's products also include MR polishing fluids, consumables, spare and replacement parts, as well as optical polishing
services and other customer support services.

STRATEGY

We collaborate closely with our customers 1o develop and manufacture products that offer innovative and reliable solutions to our customers’ chailenges, and
we strive lo consistently and reliably deliver and suppott these products around the world through what we believe is a robust global infrastructure and supply
chain. We continue to focus on the execution of our primary strategies related to technology leadership, customer collaboration, and supply chain excellence.

STRENGTHENING AND GROWING OUR ELECTRONIC MATERIALS BUSINESS

Delivering Innovative and High-Performing Soludions. We belicve that technology and innovation are vital to success in our Electronic Materials business,
primarily in the area of CMP consumables, and we devote significant resources to research and development. We focus our research and development activity to
deliver innovative CMP consumables products for advanced applications for our technology-leading customers.

We believe an example of our ability to deliver innovative products for edvanced applications is the revenue generated from our tungsten and dielecirics shurry
products used in 3D memory and hmgsten slurry products for FInFET in advanced logic, as well as growth in revenue from our CMP pads products. We believe
our focused effort on advanced technologies with technology-leading customers will enable us to provide more compelling new products as technology continues
to advarce. In addition, we believe our CMP pads product area represents a promising opportunity for continued growth. We believe that our array of pad
teclmology and products enables us to better serve the needs of our customers on a global basis, including the ability to offer performance-differentiated CMP
slurry and pad consumable sets, For our electranic chemicals products, we believe increasing levels of purity and achicving lower levels of variation are required to
enable these next-generation IC technologies. We continue to work to develop industry leading metrology methods to measure the purity levels achieved.




Close Collaberation with Our Castomers. We belicve that building close relationships with our customers is essential to achicving long-term success in our
business. We collaborate with our customers to identify and deliver new and improved CMP solutions, to integrate our products into their manufacturing processes,
and to assist them with supply, warehouse and inventory management. Our customers demand » highly reliable supply source, and we believe we have 2
competitive advantage because of our ability to timely deliver high-quality products and service from the carly stages of product development through the high-
volume commercial use of our products. We have strategically located our research and development and clean room facilities, manufacturing operations, and
rclated technical and customer support teams io be responsive to our customers' needs, and believe they provide s with a cotnpetitive advantage. These fecilities
are located in the United States, South Korea, Japan, Taiwen, Singapore, France, Italy, and the United Kingdom.

We believe the scveral supplier excetlence awards we have received from our customers over the past decade, which recognize our product quality and
reliability, technology leadership, and custorner support capabilities, are evidence of our cormmitment 10, and success in, delivering high-performing and high-
quality products Lo our customers through close collaboration with them. Our global business tcams are focusad on a range of projects with our customers to
address specific business opportunities for advanced technologies.

Robust Manufacturing Process and Global Supply Chain We belicve that product and supply chain quality are critical to success in our business. Our
customers demand continuous improvement in the performance of our products, in terms of product quality and consistency. Thus, we strive to reduce varistion in
our products and processes in order to increase quality, productivity and efficiency, and improve the uniformity and consistency of performance of our CMP
consumables and high-purity electronic chemicals products. Variability reduction becomes more important (o our customers as technology advances, Our global
manufacturing sites are managed 1o provide the people, training and systems needed to support stringent industry demands for product quality. Te support our
quality injtiative, we use Six Sigma, a systematic, data-driven approach and methodology for improving quality by reducing variability, across our Company. We
believe our use of Six Sigma has contributed to lower variability in our products and sustained improvement in productivity in our operations.

We also believe that continuous improvement and variation reduction in our global supply chain are critical to our success and the success of our customers.
We belicve our capabilities in supply chain manggement and quality systems differentiate us from our competitors, and that our worldwide CMP consumables
manufacturing plants and global network of supplicrs also provide supply chain flexibility as needed.

EXPANDING OUR PERFORMANCE MATERIALS BUSINESS

Delivering High Qualily Pipeline Products. For our DRA business, our Flowchem subsidiary focuses on providing superior customer service to our
custonrers while delivering consistent, high quality DRA products at a competitive price. We intead to continue to serve current customers as they bring new
capacity online and to grow our business through artracting and serving new customers. In addition, we contimue to develop other products focused on the pipeline
transmission arca for which DRAs can serve currently unmet needs.

In our Valves Products and Services business, we continue to work to drive demand for cur products by promoting valve best practices to energy industry
operetors that align with current and trending global regulations. Gur primary focus is the promotion of our high-margin criticat sealing products as an aliernative
1o more costly mechanical solutions for achieving isolation in aged nfrastructure.

Wood Treatmens Tronsition. Early in the fourth quarter of fizcal 2019, we had announced that, as & result of the Mexican government's required compliance
with certain international environmental regulations and the resubting requirement that KMG-Bemuth cease produciog penta in Mexico by the end of 2021, we
planned to close both the Matamoros, Mexico and Tuscaloosz, Alabama facilities by such time, with the intention to consolidate operations in a new plant.
However, later in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, as we assessed gur capital expenditure priorities for fiscal year 2020 and beyond, we made a decision to
further focus our future capital investments on high-growth core businesses, such ag pipeline performance products, CMP shuries and pads and electronic
chemicals. As a result, we also decided to cease future investment in the wood treatment business and to not construct a new production facility to replace
operations in Matameros end Tuscalcosa, In the interim, prior to the closure of the Matameros and Tuscaloosa facilities by the end of 2021, we intend 1o continue
10 operate the exigring facilities and provide our customers with quality penta products to treat and extend the useful life of wood utility poles 2nd crossarms. We
are considering various optians regarding this business. See above and below and Note 10 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in ltem 8
of Part II of this Annual Report on Ferm 10-K.
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Driving Demand for Precision Optics. : "

Through our QED subsidiary, we develop and provide products for demanding polishing applications for precision opucs and QED continues to be the
technology leader in déterministic finishing in the industry. QED's polishing and metrology lechnology enables customers 1o replace manual processes with
‘automated solutions that provide mare precise and repeatable Tesults..




INDUSTRY TRENDS
SEMICONDUCTOR INDUSTRY

We believe the semiconductor industry continues to exhibit various trends. Demand within the semiconductor industry is driven by MIDs, personal computers
{PCs), and & wide range of other electronic applications including high-performance computing and artificial intelligence. The semiconductor industry has shown
fluctuation in the overall industry demand, as a result of numerous factors, including changing mix of demand drivers, semicenductor fab utilization, pressure to
reduce costs, and slower pace of technology advancement,

We have discussed the significant shift in semiconductor industry demand over the past several years from IC devices for PCs to MIDs. Demand for MIDs is
largely consumer-based, versus more enterprise-based demand for PCs, and this shift introduced fluctuations in semiconductor mdustry demand, along with
various macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions. Thu'cmncveralﬁacmﬂlhﬂwﬂddnvcﬁmnmdumygmwm,mchulhc ongoing transition from
traditiopal planar, or 2D, memory o advanced 3D memory for mobile, server, and PC applications; expected need for advanced semiconducter devices for high
performince computing, virtual and augmented reality, smart phone applications, artificial intelligence, and 5G; demand for greater connectivity with wearables,
pcriphmh,mdthcinm:tofthinss;tnamdumimndmwrwnwminnmnmobﬂm;andmioonducmrhﬂmydcwhpmm:ChMWhiledmmd
conditions may fluctuate, and periodicatly be softer, which we experienced in fiscal year 2019, we continue to believe that semiconductor industry demand will
grow over the long term based on increased usage of [C devices in existing applications, as well as future applications.

Over the past several years, we have seen the customer base within the semiconductor industry consolidate as larger semiconductor manufacturers have
generally grown faster than smaller ones, through mergens and acquisitions as well as through alliances among and between different companies. Cosis to achieve
the required scale in manufacturing within the semiconductor industry continue to rise, along with the related costs of research and development, and larger
manufagturers generally have greater access to the resources necessary to manage their businesses. This trend is particularly evident in capital spending within the
industry, as the largest semiconductor companics account for an increasingly large portion of wotal capital spending in the industry compared to the past.

As demand for more advanced and lower cost electronic devices grows, there is continued pressure on IC device mamfacturers to reduce their costs. Many
manufagturers reduce costs by pursuing ever-increasing scale in their operations, while secking to reduce their production cosis by increasing their production
yields, regardless of their scale. Thus, they took for clectronic materials products, such as CMP consumables and electronic chemicals produsts, with quality and
performance attributes that can help them reduce their overall cost of ownership, pursue ways 1o use smaller amounts of CMP materials, and aggressively pursue
price reductions fior these muterials. Electronic chemicals products stso require increased levels of purity and, like CMP consumables products, lower levels of
variation, which contributes to our pursuit of cutting-edge metrology methods to measure purity levels achieved,

Mapufacturers also have historically reduced cost, and simultancously improved device performance, by migrating to smaller technology nodes. However, as
the industry continues to shrink dimensions, teading edge technology node transitions are becoming more challenging due to technical and physical obstacles, and
the pace of technology change has slowed. To achicve performance and cost improvernents, semiconductor manufecturers are placing greater emphasis on new
device architectures, including 3D memory and FinFET. Industry corumentary suggests that approximately two-thirds of the NAND market hag been converted to
3D memory, and while the indusiry transition is almost complete, we expect additional incrementsl vohmne in the mermory area associated with more vertical
layers, In eddition, while during our fiscal 2019 the semiconductor industry experienced weakness in overall DRAM and NAND demand that led 10 what we
belicve is & short-term reduction in wafer starts, industry expectations remain that overall demand for these devices, and the related need for increased wafer starts,
should continue in the coming years. We believe semiconductor manufacturers will continue to depend upon highly engineered materials in these new
architectures, requiring mnovative CMP solutions. Further, as waler starts and the subsequent number of procezsing steps used on each wafer continue to grow, we
sec the demand for our high purity electronic chemicals products as also likely to increase.

10




ELECTRONIC MATERIALS DEMAND

Demand for our CMP consumables and electronic chemicals products is primarily driven by wafer starts, g0 the electronic materials sector reflects
scmiconductor industry demand patterns in terms of growth, cyclicality and seasonality and varying demand for specific device types. Consistent with other
participants in the semiconductor industry, we have expericnced refatively soft demand conditions in the semiconductor industry starting in our second fiscal
quarter of 2019 and continuing past the end of the fiscal year, although some signs of stabilization are becoming apparent. Over the long term, we anticipate
worldwide demand for CMP consumables and ¢lectronic chemicals used by IC device manufacturers will grow as a result of expected long-term growth m wafer
starts, and the trend to more advanced technologies. With respect to CMP consumables, we believe there will continue to be an associated increase in the number
of CMP polishing steps required 1o produce these advanced devices, and the introduction of new materials that are expected to require CMP, With respect 1o
clectranic chemicals, we believe there will be increasing demand as customers are requiring a higher level of purity, which requires an increasing number of
processing steps used on each wafer, In addition, as customers introduce smaller technology nodes and new architectures, they require higher purity chemicals with
fewer and fewer impurities.

We expect the anticipated long-term growth in demand will be partially mitigated by continued efficiency improvements in electronic materials usage a3
customers seek 1o reduce their costs. As discussed above, semiconductor manufacturers look for ways to lower the cost of CMP consumables and electronic
chemicals in their production operations. As an example, for CMP consumsbles, thess can include customer improvements in technolegy, dilution of slurry, use of
concentrated slurry products, or reduction of slwry flow rate, to reduce the total amount of shurry used, and to extend pad life. In addition, CMP demand also
depends upon the specific mix of IC device demand, since the intensity of CMP usage varies by IC device type.

We belicve that CMP technical solutions are becoming more complex, with advanced 1echnologies generally requiring greater customization of CMP slurry
products by customer, loollctandproccumtegranonnppmmh.Anamult,mgmmﬂymcmmsldwmsmpl:mwhummuvclopm:mpmn
and maintaining preferred supplier relationships through production. Therefore, we believe that close collaboration with our customers carly in the development
cycle offers the best opportunity for optimal CMP solutions. We alzo believe that research and development programs with customers and suppliers continue 1o be
vital to our success as we develop and commercialize innovative, high-performing and mare cost-cffective CMP solutions.

PERFORMANCE MATERIALS DEMAND
Pipeline Products and Services

Demand for our pipeline performance products and services may be impacted by changes in the utilities and/or oil and gas industrics. Volatility in oil and
natural gas prices may impact our customers' activity levels, including production and spending on our pipeline products and services. Expectations about firture
prices and price volatility are important in determining fiture spending levels for customers of our pipeline performance products and services. Historically,
worldwide oil and natural gas prices apd markets have been volatike and may continue to be so in the future. Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to wide
fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, market uncertainty, and a variety of additional factors that
are beyond our control. These factors include, but are not [imited 1o, increases in supplies from United States shaie production, interational political conditions,
including uprisings and politi:a] unrest, sovereign debt crises, the domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas, the level of consumer demand due to
ccopomic growth in countries such as China, weather conditions, domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes, the price and availability of alternative
fuels, the health of international economic and credit markets, the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exponting Countries and other state-
controlied oil companies to agree upon and maintain oil price and production controls, and general economic conditions.

Wood Treatment

Demand for our wood treatment preservative products, which are used to treat and preserve wood from insect damage and decay, is driven by our customers®
demand for utility poles and railroad crossarms, which may be impacted by factors such as infrastructure improvement projects and weatber-related events. See
above and below, and Note 10 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” inchaded in Item 8 of Part IT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, regarding
our decision o ceasc fulure investment in the wood treatment business and to not construct a new production facility to replace operations in Malamoros and
Tuscaloosa,
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Precision Optics

Demand for products preduced by our QED subsidiary may be impacted by changes in the underlying industries that utilize precision optics, such as
semiconductor equipment, acrospace, defense, research, biomedical and digital imaging. Since our primary QED business is the sale of capital equipment, our
results may be directly affected by levels of capital spending in these indusiries. Historically, capital spending is very cyclical, and is impacted by several different
factors, These factors include gencral macrocconomic conditions, govermment spending and policicy, as well as industry-specific trends and dynamics.
COMPETITION
ELECTRONIC MATERIALS

We compete in the semiconductor industry, which is characterized by advances in technology and demanding requirements for product quality and
consistency, and lower cost of ownership. We face competition from other supplicrs of electronic matcrials. However, as to our CMP consumables business, we
believe we are the world’s leading supplier of CMP alurries, and the second largest provider of CMP pads. We believe we continue to be well-positioned to retain
and grow our business, and that we have the experience, scale, capabilities and infrastructure that are required for success, as we continie o work closely with
technology-leading customers in the semiconductor industry to meet their growing expectations as a trusted business partner.

Our CMP slurry competitors range from small companies that compeic with a single product or in a single geographic region, to divisions of global companies
with multiple lines of CMP products. In our view, we are the only CMP slurry supplier today that serves a bread range of customers by offering and supporting &
full line of CMP slurry solutions for all major applications, with a proven track record of supplying theae products globally in high volumes with the requisite high
level of technical support services.

With respect to CMP polishing pads, a divisien of DowDuPont has held the leading position in this area for many years. Several other companics also
participate in this area of the CMP consumables business. We believe that our distinctive portfolio of pad technology and products enables us to meet our
customers’ needs for improved defectivity, greater pad consistency, and longer pad life. In addition, we believe that our full arry of polishing pads offerings
cnables us to better serve our customers on a global basis, including our performance-differcntisted slurry and pad consumable sets.

As to electronic chernicals, there are various competilors with whom we compete in different regions. In North America, we belicve that we have a significant
leadership pesition, and our principal competitors include Honeywell, Kanto Corporaticn and Avantor. Outside of the United States, other providers in Burope are
BASF, Technic and Honeywell, and in Asia, BASF and Kanto Corporation, among others. We believe our business in Europe is comparable 1o other providers,
and other than in Singapore, a1 present we do not participate materially in the business in Asia.

PERFORMANCE MATERIALS

In our pipeline performance business, LiquidPower Specialty Products Inc. holds the leading position in DRAS, with Baker Hughes as the other primary
provider. For our valve products and services, however, participants include numerous other businesses with none appearing to bold a leedership position.

With respect to our wood treamment business, penta products are and must be registered prior to sale under United States law. See Item 3 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. As a condition to registration, any company wishing to manufacture and sell these products must provide substantial scientific research and testing
data regarding the chemistry and toxicology of the products to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA™). This data must be generated by the applicant,
or the applicant must purchase access 10 the inforrmation from other data providers. We belicve that the cost of satisfying the data submission requirement serves as
an impediment to the entry of new competitors, particularly those with lesser financial resources. While we have no reason 1o believe that the product registration
reguirement will be materially modified, we carmot give any agsurances as to the effect of such a discontinuation or modification on our business or competitive

position.

Our QED subsidiary operates in the precision optics industry. There arc fow direct competitors of QED and we believe its technology is unique and provides a
competitive advantage to customers in the precision optics industry, which still relics heavily on traditional artisanal methods of fabrication.
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CUSTOMERS, SALES, AND MARKETING
ELECTRONIC MATERIALS

Within the semiconductor indusiry, our customners are generally producers of logic or memory IC devices, or providers of IC foundry services. Some logic
customers, and so-called "fablesa™ companies, outsource some or all the production of their devices to foundries, which provide contract manufacturing gervices, in
order to avoid the high cost of process development, construction and operation of a fab, or to provide additional capacity when needed.

We believe the primary influences of cur customers' electronic materials buying decisions are: overall cost of ownership, which represents the cost to
purchase, use and maintain & product; product quality and consistency; product performance and its impact on a customer's overall yield; engineering suppon; and,
supply assurance. We believe that greater customer expertise within the processes that utilize our CMP consumnables and electronic chemicals, mare challenging
integration schemes, additional and untque polishing materials, and cost pressures will continue to increase demands on suppliers like us.

We use a collabarative approach to build close relationthips with our customers in a variety of areas, and we have customer-focused teans in each major
geographic region. Our sales process beging long before the actual sale of our products and occurs on numerous levels. Due to the long lead times from research
and development to product commercialization and sales, we have research teams that collaborate with technology-leading customers on emerging applications
years before the products are required by the market For CMP consumables, we also have development teams that interact closely with these customers, using our
research and development facilities and capabilities to design products tailored to their needs. Next, our applications engineers work with customers to integrate
our products into their manufacturing processes. Finally, as part of our sales process, our logistics and sales perzsonnel provide supply, warchouse and inventary
management services for our customers, which is also the case for our electronic chemicals customers.

We market our CMP slurry and pad products primarily through direct sales to our customers, althbough we use distributors in certain areas. We believe this
sirategy of primarily direct sales provides us an additional means to collaborate with our customers and provides our customers with the most efficient means by
which to procure our products.

For our electronic chemicals products, we market through a combination of an internal sales force and distributors organized by geographic region.
PERFORMANCE MATERIALS
Pipeline Products and Services

Through our Flowchem subsidiary, we provide DRAS to several major mid-stream pipeline transmission companies both domestically and internationally. We
have a U.S.-baged and global sales team, 8 wholly-owned transporiation and logistics company and a network of distributors and agents to manage the sales and
delivery of our products. Owr main marketing approach is through our membership in indusiry-based professional organizations, trade shows and publications.

In our Valve Products & Services business, we market and sell to pipeline and adjacent industry customers, such as service companies, and major utility
distribution companies via direct sales and channel partners. We actively participate as industry cxperts in global indusiry trade shows and forums through
technical presentations and white papers.

Wood Treatment

The principal wood preserving chemicals for industrial applications are penta, which is the base for our products, creosote and chromated copper arsenate, or
CCA. We only supply penta to customers in the United States and Canada. We do not have other products or business. We are the only manufachirer of penta-
based preservatives in North America. Penta is used primarily to treat clectric, telephone and other utility poles, to protect them from insect damage and decay,

thus extending their useful life by meny years. We estimate that approximately two million treated wood utility poles are purchased cach year by utility companics
in the United States. Of that amount, we estimate approximately 50% are treated with penta. The remaining poles are treated primarily with creosote or CCA.
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Precision Oprics

Our QED subsidiary supports customers in the semiconducior equipment, acrospace, defense, rescarch, biomedical, and digital imaging industries. QED
counts among its worldwide customers keading precision optics manufacturers, major semiconductor original equipment manufacturers, research institutions, and
contractors to the United States and other governments.

For additional information on cur customers, refer to Note 2 of “Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual
Repert on Form 10-K.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNICAL

We believe that technology is vital to success in our businesses, primarily in the area of CMP consumables, and we plan to continue to devote zignificant
mommmch.d:vclopmentmdwchuiulrl:ppon(“R&D"Lmdbdmomcﬂ‘mbetwmshoﬂumdlmgamhdmuymcds. Here, we focus our
R&:D efforts on product innovation at ludm;—odgc applications for our technology- lendmg customers. We develop new and enhanced CMP sohutions tailored to
these customers' requirements using our expertise in chemical formulation, materials science, product engineering and manufacturing technology. We work closely
with these customers at their facilities to identify their specific technology and manufacturing challenges and to translate these challenges into viable CMP process
sohitions.

Our Research, development and technical efforts are focused on the areas of rescarch related 1o fundamental CMP technology; development of pew and
enhanced CMP consumables products, including collaborution on joint development projects with technology-leading customers and suppliers; process
development to support rapid and effective commercialization of new products; technical support of our CMP products in onr customers’ research, development
and manufacturing facilities; and, development of polizhing and metrology application outside of the semiconductor industry.

Our research in CMP slurrica and pads addresses a breadth of complex and interrelated performance criteria thet retate to the functional performance of IC
devices, our customers’ manufacturing yields, and their overall cost of ownership. We design slurries and pads that are capable of polishing one or more materials
of differing hardness, zometimes at the same time, that comprise the semiconductor circuitry. In addition, our shurries and pads products must echieve the desired
surface conditions at high polishing rates, high processing yiclds and low consumables costs in order to provide acceptable cost of ownership for our customers.
Meanwhile, our electronic chemicals products are subject to increased high purity demand to ¢nable more advanced technology nodes and increase yields, These
markctcxpecluionsmquimmmcmﬁnmmdwclwinduﬂylmdmgmmhgymﬂbodsmmduwmthepmﬂylcvc!sa.ch.icved.Anedmologyudum
and materials and designs increase in complexity, these challenges require significant investments in R&D.

We believe that our technology provides us with a competitive advantage, and that our investments in R&D provide us with polishing and metrology
capabilities that support the most advanced and challenging customer technology requirements.

Onr global R&D team includes experts from the semiconductor industry and scientists from key disciplines required for the development of high-performance
CMP consumable products. We operate an R&D facility in Aurora, [llinois, that features a Class 1 clean room and advanced equipment for product development,
including 300mm polighing and metrology capabilitics;; a facility in Taiwan that includes a clezn room with 200mm polishing capability; & facility in South Korea
that provides slurry formulation capability and 300mm polishing capability; and, an R&D laboratory in Singapore that provides polishing, metrology and slurry
development capabilitics for the data storage indusiry. We also operate R&D facilities in the Uniled States, Burope, and Singapore periaining to our electronic
chemicals business. Our shury, pads, and electronic chemicals facilities underscore gur commitment to continuing to mvest in our technology infrastructure to
maintain our technology leadership and to be responsive to the needs of our customers.

For our pipeline performance products, in our Flowchem business, we cmploy several respurces and facilities to perform research and development activities.
We focus on both improving existing producs performance as well es developing new products/technologies to serve our customers’ needs for DRAs.

We also commit R&D resources 1o our QED subsidiary. These activities are primarily focused on the development of new polishing and metrology
capabilities, in support of our MRF and SSI product lines, as well as additiopal capabilities for our polishing services group. This work is done in our facilities in
Rochester, New York.




RAW MATERIALS SUPPLY

Engincered abrasive particles are significant raw materials we usc i many of our CMP shurrics and pads. Our sirategy is to secure various sources of different
raw materials, as appropriate, (o enable the desired performance of our products, and monitor those sources as necessary to provide supply assurance. Also, we
have entered into multi-year supply agreements with several supplicrs for the purchase of raw materials in the interest of supply assurance and to control costs. For
additional information regarding these agreements, refer to *Tabular Disclosure of Cantractual Obligations®, included in "Mapagement's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in Item 7 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. o our electronic chemicals business, we rely on a
varicty of supplicrs for our raw materials, some of which we purchase on open account and others which we purchase under supply contracts. The number of
suppliers is ofien limited, particularly as to the specific grade of raw material required by us to supply high purity products to our customers.

For both our pipeline performance products and our wood treatment products, we depend on outside suppliers for all the raw materials needed to produce our
products and are subject to fluctustions in the price of those materials. We purchase raw materials for these businesses from & Limited number of supplicrs. Most of
our QED subsidiary’s business relates to capital equipment, thus, there are minimal raw material supply issucs that we face within this business unit.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We believe our intellectual property is important to our success and sbility to compete, and we also differentiate our products and techrology by their high
quality and reliability, and cur quality systems, global supply chain and logistics. As of Oclober 31, 2019, we had 1,317 active warldwide patents, of which 284
United States patents, and 357 pending worldwide patent epplications, of which 51 are in the United States.

Many of these patents are impaortant to our continued development of new and mnovative products for CMP and related processes, as well as for new
businesses. Our patents have a mnge of curation., We refresh our intellectusl property on an ongoing basis through continued innovation. As an example, we have
had patent coverage that was impartant to some of our legacy CMP slurry business and continuc to have significant other patents that protect this technology and
other legacy and advanced technology with a range of duration. We atiempt to protect cur intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, rademark,
copytight and trade sccret laws, use of certain manufacturing technologics, exclusive contractual arrangements with suppliers, and with employee and third party-
nondisclosure and assignment agreements. We vigoronsly protect and defend our intellectual property and have been successful in this regard.

Most of our intellectual property has been developed internally, but we also may acquire mtellectual property from others to enhance oug intellectual property
portfolio. These enhancements may be via licenses or assignments or we tmay acquire certain proprietary technology and intellectual property when we make
acquisitions. We belicve these technology rights can enhance our competitive advantage by providing us with future product development opportunities and
cxparding our mtellectual property portfolio.

ENYIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our facilities and operations are subject to various covironmental, safety, and human health laws and regulations, both at a federal and s1ate or local kevel,
including those relating to air emissions, wastewater discharges, chemical manufacture end distribution, the handling and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes,
storage and disposal, and various other occupational safety and health matters. Governmental authorities can to enforce compliance with their regulations, and
violators may be subject to civil, criminal, and administrative penaltics, injunctions, or both. We belicve that our facilities are in substantial compliance with
applicable environmental laws and regulations. Our major operations in the United States, Japan, Singapore, South Kores, Taiwan, France, [taly, and the United
Kingdom are certified under current ISO 14001 Environmental and OHSAS 18001 Safety and Health standards, which requires that we implement and operate
sccording to various procedures that demonstrate wasic reduction, energy conservation, injury reduction and other environmental, bealth and safety objectives. We
have achieved certification under the revised ISO 14001 standards and ere now ectively pursuing certification under revised OHSAS 18001 standards that will
transition to ISO 45001 standards over the next three years. We have incurred, and will continne to incur, capital and operating expenditures and other costs in
complying with environmental, safety and health laws and regulations in the United States and other countries in which we do business, but we do not expect these
costs will be material. See “Item, ] A. Risk Factors.”, ltem 3 “Legal Proceedings”, and Note 20 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in
Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




EMPLOYEES

Wo believe our employees are the foundation of our success. As of Oclober 31, 2019, we employed 2,047 individuals, including 1,385 in operations, 249 in
rescarch and development and technical, 413 in sales, general and administration. In general, our employees are ot covered by collective bargaining agreements,
but we do have some workers who are subject to such agreements, part of works councils, or similer arrangements, primarily in Europe, Mexico, Singzpore. We
have not expericnced any work stoppages and consider our relations with our employees to be good.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAFPHIC AREAS

We sell our products worldwide, We believe our geographic coverage allows us 10 utilize our business and technical expertise from a diverse, global
workforee, strategically located in close proximity to our customers. As a result of the Acquisition, our geographic mix has changed. For exampls, in fiscal 2019,
our North America revenmc as a percentege of total revenue has increased from 13% to 36% compared to fiscal 2018. While approximately 50% of our global
revenue is still being generated in Asia Pucific, our dependency on revenue from Asia Pacific has decreased as a result of the Acquisition. For more financial
information about geegraphic areas, see Note 23 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements’” included in Item 8 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

SEASONALITY

Our Electronic Materials business experiences spme seasonality, mestly related to fluctuations in consumer demand for MID's around the December and hunar
ncw year holidays, and back to school periods, but over the past scveral years seasonality has appeared more muted, tempered by the broader array of factors
affecting demand, such as 5G, Cloud computing, and Al In our Performance Matcrials business, demand for our pipeline performance products such as DRAs
appears to bave some seasonality linked to westher, with demand for DRAs increasing in the colder months, yet demand from additional pipeline capacity coming
online has made this less apparent.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, definitive proxy statements on Schedule 14A, current reports on Form 8K, and any
amendments to those reports, as well 25 any other filings with the SEC, are made available free of charge on our Company website, www.cabotcmp.com, as soon
as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Statements regarding beneficial ownership of our
securities by our executive officers and directors are made available on our Company website following the filing of such with the SEC. In additicn, the SEC's
website (http://www.sec.gov) contains reports, proxy statements, and other information that we file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCTS FLUCTUATES AND OUR BUSINESS MAY BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY WORLDWIDE ECONOMIC AND
INDUSTRY CONDITIONS

Our business is affected by cconomic and industry conditions and the majority of our revenue derives from our Electronic Materials segment, which is
primarily dependent upen semiconductor industry demand. With respect to our Electronic Materials scgment, historicaily, semiconductor industry demand has
fluctuated due to economic and industry cycles and seasonal shifis in demand, which can affect our business, causing demand for our electronic matetials products
to fluctuate. For example, we have experienced relatively soft demand conditions in the semiconductor industry starting in our second fiscal quarter of 2019 and
continuing past the end of the fiscal year, although some signs of stabilization are becoming apparent. Previously, we had experienced the strengthening of demand
conditions in the semiconductor industry from the second half of fiscal 2016 through fiscal 2018, following relatively soft demand conditions during the first half
of fiscal 2016. Furthermore, competitive dynamics within the semiconducior industry may impact our business. Our limited visibility to future customer orders
makes it difficult for us to predict industry mrends. If the global economy or the semiconductor industry weakens, whether in general or as a result of specific
factors, such as macroeconomic factors, or unpredictable events such as naturnl disasiers or geopolitical events, we could experience material adverse impacts on
our results of operations and financial copdition. Some additional factors that may affect demand for our electronic materials products include: demand trends for
different types of electronic devices, such as logic versus memory IC devices, or digital versus analog IC devices; the various technology nodes st which those
products are manufactured; customers' efficiencies in the usc of CMP consumables and/or high-purity process chemicals (“clectronic chemicals™); customers'
device architectures and specific manufiacturing processes; the short order to delivery time for our products; quarter-to-quarter changes in customer order patterns;
market share and competitive gains and losses; and pricing changes by us and our competitors.

As to our Pearformance Materials segment, which continues to be an arca of potential continued growth for us, our business may be impacied by changes in the
utilities and/or oil and gas mdustries. Volatility in o1l and natural gas prices may impact our customers' activity levels, including production, and spending on our
performance materials products and services. Expectations about future prices and price volatility arc important in determining future spending levels for customers
of our pipeline performance products and services. Historically, worldwide oil and natural gas prices end markets have been volatile, and may continue to be 50 in
the future. Prices for oil and natural gas are subject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and namral gas,
market uncertainty and a varicty of additional factors that arc beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to, increases in supplies from U.S.
shale production, international political conditions, including uprisings and political unrest, sovereign debt crises, the domestic and foreign supply of vil and
natural gas, the level of consumer demand due to economic growth in countrics such as China, weather conditions, domestic and foreign governmental regulations
and taxes, the price and availability of alternative fuels, the health of internationa] economic and credit markets, the shility of the members of the Organization of
Pewroleum Experting Countries and other state-controlled oil companies Lo agree upon and maintain oil price and production controls, and general economic
conditions.

Further, adverse global cconomic and industry conditions could bave other negative effects on our Company. For instance, we could experience negative
impacts on cazh flows due to the inability of our customers to pay their obligations to us, ar our production processes could be harmed if our suppliers cannot
fulfill their obligations to us. As a result of these or other conditions, we also might have to reduce the camrying value of goodwill and olber inangible assets,
which could harm our financial position and results of operetions.




WE MAY PURSUE ACQUISITIONS OF, INVESTMENTS IN, AND MERGERS OR STRATEGIC ALLIANCES WITH OTHER ENTITIES, WHICH
COULD DISRUPT OUR OPERATIONS AND HARM OUR QPERATING RESULTS IF THEY ARE UNSUCCESSFUL, OR WE MAY ENCOUNTER
UNANTICIPATED ISSUES IN IMPLEMENTING THEM

We expect to continue to make investments in technologies, assets and companies, either through acquisitions, mergers, investments or alliances, in order to
supplement our organic growth and development efforts. Acquisitions, mergers, and mvestments, including our scquisitions of KMG, which we completed in
November 2018, and NeaPlanar, which we completed in October 2015, imvolve oumerous risks, including the following: difficulties and risks in inlegrating the
operations, technologies, products and personne] of acquired companics; difficulties apd risks from unanticipated issues arising subsequent to a transaction related
to the other entity; pelential disruption of relationships with third parties such as customers or suppliers; diversion of management's attention from normal daily
operations of the business; increased risk aseociated with foreign operations; potential difficuities and risks in entering markets or industries in which we have
limited or ne direct prior expericnce and/or where competitors have stronger positions; potential difficulties and unexpected situations arising in operating new
busincsses with different business models; facilitics and operations; potential difficulties with regulatory or contract compliance in arcas in which we have limited
Or no experience; initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chains or relatively small supply partners; insufficient revenues to offset increased cxpenscs associated
wilh acquisitions; potentiel loss of key employees of the acquired companies; or inability 1o effectively cooperate and collsborate with our alliance partners.

Further, we may never realize the perceived or anticipated benefits of a business combination or merger with, or asset or other acquisition of, or investments
in, other entitics. Transactions such as our scquisitions of KMG and NexPlsnar could and in some cases have had negative effects on our results of operations, in
arcas such us contingent lizbilities, gross margins, amortization charges related to intangible assets and other effects of accounting for the purchases of other
busincss cntities. [nvestments in and acquisitions of technology-reiated companies or assets are inherent]y risky becatise these businesses or assets mey never
develop, and we may incur losses refated o these investments.

In addjtion, we may be required to impair the carrying value of these scquisitions or investments to reflect other than temporary declines in their value. The
carrying valuc of goodwill represents the fair value of acquired busincsses in excess of identifiable agseis and Habilities as of the acquisition date. The carrying
value of other intangible asscts represents the fair value of customer relationships, tradenames and other acquired intengible assets as of the acquisition date,
Goodwill and other acquired intangible sssets expected to contribute indefinitely to our cesh flows are not amortized, but must be cvaluaied for mmpairment by
management at least annually. If the carrying value exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, the goodwill is considered impaired and is reduced to fair value via
& non-cash charge to earnings. If the carrying vatue of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is greater than its fair value, the inmngible asset is considered impaired
and is reduced to fair value via a non-cash charge 10 carnings. Uf the valuc of goodwill or other acquired mtangible assets is impaired, our results of operations and
financial condition could be edversely affected, Examples of asset impairment charges we recently incurred include the charge we took in the fourth quarter of

fiscal year 2019 related to the KMG wood treatment business. Absent a sale of the wood reatment business, as we approach the announced closure date of the
Matamoros and Tuscaloosa facilities and there are fewer estimated future cash flows, there is ongoing potential for further impairments of long-lived assels and
impairment of goodwill, While the timing and amoeunts of any firther impairments are unknown, our results of operations and financial condition could be
adversely affected. See Notes 9 and 10 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statcments™ included in [tem 8 of Part 11 of this Anmual Report on Form 10-K for a
more detailed discussion of this impairment.

Furthermore, the integration of the recenlly acquired KMG business inte our operations is a complex and time-consuming process thal may not be successful.
Our Company has a limited history of integrating a significant acquisition into its business and the process of integration may produce unforeseen operating
difficulticx and expenditures. The primary areas of focus for successfully combining the business of KMG with our operations may include and has included,
among others: retaining and integrating key employees; realizing synergies; aligning customer and supplicr interface, and operations across the combined business;
integrating enterprise resource planning and other mformation technology systems; and managing the growth of the combined company. Even if we succesafully
integrate the business of KMG into our operations, there can be no assurance that we will realize the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition.




WE HAVE A CONCENTRATED PRODUCT RANGE WITHIN EACH OF OUR SEGMENTS AND OUR PRODUCTS MAY BECOME OBSOLETE,
OR TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES MAY REDUCE OR LIMIT INCREASES IN THE CONSUMPTION OF OUR PRODUCTS

Although our product offerings have expanded with the Acquisition, our business remains substantially dependent on products in our Electronic Materials
gegment, such as CMP slurries, pady and electronic chemicals, which account for the majority of our reverme. We have identifred our Performance Materials
segment as another arca of potential continued growth and the product offerings in our Performance Materials segment are similarly concentrated. As such, our
business would suffer if these products became obsolete or if consumption of these products decreased. Our success depends on our shility to keep pace with
technologicat changes and advances in the industries in which we operate, particularly the semiconductor industry, and to adapt, improve and customize our
products in response to evolving customer needs and industry trends. Since its inception, the semiconductor industry, which is the largest industry in which we
operate, has experienced technological changes and advances in the design, manufacture, performance and application of IC devices. Our customers continually
pursue lower cost of ownership and higher quality and performance of materials consumed in their manufacturing processes, including CMP slurries and pads and
electronic chemicals, as & means to reduce costs, increase the yicld in their manufacturing facilitics, and achieve desired performance of the IC devices they
produce. We expect these technological changes, and this drive toward lower costs, higher quality and performance and higher yields, will continue in the future.
Potential technology developments in the semicanductor industry, as well as our customers’ efforts to reduce consumption of CMP consumables, including through
use of smaller quantities, could render our products less important to the IC device manufacturing process.

A SICNIFICANT AMOUNT OF OUR BUSINESS COMES FROM A LIMITED NUMBER OF LARGE CUSTOMERS AND OUR REVENUE AND
PROFITS COULD DECREASE SIGNIFICANTLY IF WE LOST ONE OR MORE OF THESE CUSTOMERS OR BUSINESS FROM THEM

Our customer basc is concentrated among a limited number of large customerz in each of our segments. Currently, our principal business is to supply
clectronic materials primarily to the semiconductor industry. The semiconductor industry has been consolidating as the larger semiconducter manufacturers have
generally grown faster than the smaller ontes, through business gaing, mergers and acquisitions, and strategic alliances, Industry analysts predict that this trend will
continue, which means the semiconductor industry will continue to be comprised of fewer and larger participants in the future if their prediction is correct. In
addition, our customer base in our pipeline-related busincsses is also somewhat concentrated, with large entities predominant, and outside of the United States,
these entities frequently are state-owned or sponsared, and limited in number per country, as described more sbove. One or more of these principal customers
could stop rying products from us or could substantially reduce the quantity of products purchased from us. Our principal customers in both of our scgments also
hold considerable purchasing power, which can impact the pricing and terms of sale of our products. Any deferral or significant reduction in the quantity or price
of products sold to these principal customers could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ANY PROBLEM OR DISRUPTION IN OUR SUPPLY CHAIN, INCLUDING SUPPLY OF OUR MOST IMPORTANT RAW MATERIALS, OR IN
OUR ABILITY TO MANUFACTURE OR DELIVER OUR PRODUCTS TO OUR CUSTOMERS, COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

We depend on our supply chain te enable us to meet the demands of our customers. Our supply chain includes the raw materials we use 1o manufacoure our
products, our production gperations and the means by which we deliver our products to our customers. Our business could be adversely affected by any problem or
interruption in the supply of the key raw materials we use in our products, including raw materials that do not meet the stringent quality and consistency
requirements of our customers, any problem or interruption that may occur during production or delivery of our products, such as weather-related problems,
natural disasters, or geopolitical, rade or labor-related issues, or any difficulty in producing safficient quantitics of our producta to meet growing demand from our
customers. In particular, severe weather conditions have the potential to adversely affect our operations, damage facilities and increase our costs, and those
conditions may alzo have an indirect effect on our operations by disrupting services provided by service companics or suppliers with whom we have a business
relationship. Additionally, some of cur full-time employees are represented by labor umnions, works councils or comparable organizations, particularly in Mexico
and Burope. As our current agreements expire, we cannot provide assurance that new agreements will be reached at the end of each period without union action, or
that a new agreement will be reached on terms satisfactary to us. An extended work stoppage, slowdown or other action by our employees could significantly
disrupt our business. Future labor contracts may be on terms that result in higher labor costs to us, which also could adversely affect our results of operations. Our
supply chain may also be negatively impacted by unanticipated price increases due to supply restrictions beyond the control of our Company or our raw materials
suppliers.
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We believe it would be difficuft to promptly secure alternative sources of key raw materials in the event one of our suppliers becomes unable to supply us with
sufficient quantities of raw materials that meet the quality and technical specifications required by us and our customers. In addition, new contract terms, forced
protmcuonormanufacmrmg contractual amendments 1o existing agreements with, or non-performance by, our suppliers, including any significant

dm-usmsupphmmaysuﬂ'cr could adversely affect us. Also, if we change the supplier or type of key raw materials we use to make our products, in
particular our electronic materials products, or are required 1o purchase them from a different manufacturer or manufachuring facility or otherwise modify our
products, in certain circumstances our customers might have to requalify our products for their manufacturing processes and products. The requalification process
could take a significant amonnt of time and expense to complete and could occupy technical resources of cur customers that might otherwise be used Lo evaluate
our new products, thus delaying potential revenue growth, or motivate our customers to consider purchasing products from our competitors, possibly intetrupting
ot reducing our sales of products to these customers, especially sales of our clectronic meateriala products to our semiconductor industry custamers, but alto with
respect to our pipeline performance products to our pipeline and adjacent industry customers.

OUR BUSINESS COULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED {F OUR COMPETITORS DEVELOP COMPETITIVE PRODUCTS, OFFER BETTER
PRICING, SERVICE OR OTHER TERMS, OR OBTAIN OR ASSERT CERTAIN INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

Competition from other electronic materials or performance materials mapufacturers or any new cntrants could seriously hann our business and results of
operations, and this competition could continue to increase. Competition bas and will likely continve to impact the prices we are able to charge for our products, s
well as our overall business. In addition, our competitors coukd have, obtain or assert intellectual property rights that could affect or restrict our ability to market
our existing products and/or to inpovate and develop new products, thus increasing our costs of doing business, could attempt to introduce products similar to ours
following the cxpiration of our patents, or could attempt to introduce products that do not fall within the scope of our intellectual property rights.

WE ARE SUBJECT TO RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR FOREIGN OPERATIONS

We currently have operations and a large customer base oulside of the United States. Approximately 64% of our revenue was generated by sales to customers
outside of the United States for the full fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. We may encounter risks in doing buxiness in ceriain foreign countries, inchuding, but
ot limited to, edverse changes in cconomic and political conditions, both m foreign focations and in the United States with respect to non-U.S. operations of U.S.
businesses like curs, geopolitical and/or trade tensions, fluctuation in exchange rates, changes in international trade requirements and panctions and/or tariffs that
affect our business and that of our customers and suppliers, compliance with a variety of forcign laws and regulations and related audits and investigations, as well
as difficulty in enforcing business and customer contracts and agreements, including protection of intellectual property rights. We also may encounter rigks that we
may not be able to repatriate additional earnings from our foreign operations, derive anticipated tax benefits of our forcign operations or recover the investments
made in our foreign operations, whether due to regulatory or policy changes in the U.S. or in the countries outside of the U.S. in which we do business, or other
factors,

In particular, China continues to be a fast-developing market for the semiconductor industry, and an arca of potential growth for us. As business volume
between China and the rest of the world continues to grow, there is risk that geopolitical, regulstory, trade and political matters could adversely affect business for
companies like ours based on the complex relationships among China, the United States, and other countries in the Asia Pasific region or elsewhere, which could
have a material adverse impact on our business. In addition, there wre risks that the Chinese government may, among other things, require the use of local
suppliers, compel companies that do business in China to partner with local companies to conduct business, or, provide incentives to government-backed local
customers 1o buy from local suppliers rather than companies like ours, all of which could adversely impact cur business, including our results of operations,

In additicn, we have operations and customers located in the United Kingdom, where voters have approved an exit from the Furopean Union (“Brexit™),
which is supposed to oceur by January 31, 2020. The United Kingdom and the European Union have egreed to operate under transitional provisions under which
most European Union law would remain in force in the United Kingdom until the end of December 2020, however, this transitional period remains subject to the
successful conclusion of a final witlkdrawal agreement between the parties. In the absence of such an agreement, there would be no transitional provisions and a
“hard" Brexit wounld cccur. Although it is unknown what the terms of such an agreement, assuming it is reached, will be, it is possible that there will be greater
restrictions on imports and expaorts between the United Kingdom and Buropean Union countries, a fluctuation in currency exchange rates and increased regulatory
complexities. These changes may adversely affect our operations and financial results. While such changes in laws, regulations and corditions have not bad a
material adverse effect on our busmess or financial condition to date, we cannot provide assurances regarding the future effect of any such changes.
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WE ARE SUBJECT TO EXTENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS AND MAY INCUR COSTS THAT HAVE AN ADVERSE
EFFECT ON OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION AS A RESULT OF VIOLATIONS OF OR LIABILITIES UNDER THEM

Like cther companies involved in environmentally sensitive businesses, our operations and properties are subject to extensive and siringent federal, state, local
and foreign environmental, health and safety (EHS) laws and regulations, including those concerning, among other things:

« the marketing, sale, use and registration of our chemical products, such as pentachiorophenol (“penta™), which is part of the wood treatment business in our
Performance Materials segment;

» the treatment, storage and disposal of wastes;

* the investigation and remediation of contaminated media including but not limited to soil and groundwater;

« the discharge of effluents into waterways;

« the emission of substances into the air; and

« other matters relating to environmental protection and various health and safety matiers.

The EPA and other federal and state agencies in the United States, as well as comparable agencies in other countries where we have facilities or sell our
products, have the euthority to promulgate regulations that could have a material adverse impact on our operations. These EHS laws and regulations may require
permits for certain types of operations, require the installation of expensive pollution control equipment, place restrictions upon operations or impose substantial
lizbility for pollution and other EHS concerns resulting from our operations. Compliance with EHS laws and regulations has resulted in ongoing costs for us and
could restrict our ability to modify or expand our facilitics, continue production, require us to install costly pollution control equipment, or incur significant other
expenses, including remediation costs. We are currently involved in investigation and remediation activitics at cerinin sites, such as at KMG-Bernuth's Tuscaloosa,
Alsbama facility as described in Note 10 of “Notes o the Consolidated Financial Statements™ included in Iiem 8 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We have incurred, and expect to continue 1o incur, significant costs to comply with EHS laws or to address lisbilities for contamination resulting from past or
present operations. Federal, state and foreign governmental authoritics may seck fines and penaltics, as well es injunctive relief, for violation of EHS laws and
regulations, and could, among other things, impase liability an us to cleanup or mitigate envircnmental, naturzl resources or other damages resulting from a release
of pesticides, hazardous materials or other chemicals into the environment. We maintain insurance coverage for sudden and accidental environmental damages. We
do not believe that insurance coverspe for environmental damapge that occurs over time is available at a reasonshle cost. Also, wo do not belicve that insurance
coverage for the full potential liability that could be caused by sudden and accidental incidences is available a1 a reasonable cost. Accordingly, we may be subject
to an unjnsured or under-insured logs in such cases; although unknown at present, the KMG-Bemuth warehouse fire may be such an instance.

The distribution, sale and use of our products is subject to prior governmental approvals and thereafter ongoing governmental regulation: Our products are
subject to laws administered by federal, state and foreign governments, including regulations requiring registration, approval and labeling. The labeling
requirements restrict the use and type of application for our products. More stringent restrictions could make our products less desirsble which would adversely
affect our sales and profitability. All venues where our penta products are used also require registration prior to marketing or use.

Governmental regulatory authorities have required, and may require in the fiture, that centain scientific testing and data production be provided on our
preducta. Under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (*FIFRA"), EPA requires regisiranta to submit a wide range of acientific data to suppont
UL.S, registrations. This requirement significantly increases our operating cxpenses, and we expect those expenscs will continue i the future. Because scientific
analyses are constantly improving, we cannot determine with certaimty whelher of not pew or additional tests may be required by regulatory autharities. While
good Iaboratory practice standards specify the minimum practices and procedures that must be followed in arder to ensure the quality and integrity of data related
10 these tests submitted to the EPA, there can be no assurance that the EPA will not request certain tests or studies be repeated. In addition, more siringent
legislation or requirements may be imposed in the future. Recent changes to the Toxic Substances Control Act (“"TSCA™) could result in increased regulation and
required testing of chemicals we manufacture and could increase the costs of compliance for our operations. We can provide no agsurance that the cost of such
compliance will not adversely affect our profitability. Our producis could also be subject to other fiuture regulatory action that may result in restricting or
completely banning their use which could have an adverse effect on our performance and results of operations.

21




1. The Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals (“REACH") legislation may affect our ability to manufacture and scll cerain products tn the
European Union: REACH requires chemical manufacturers and importers in the European Union to prove the safety of their products. We were required to pre-
register cerfain products and file comprehensive reports, mcluding testing data, on each chemical sebstance, and perform chemical safety assessments.
Additionally, substances of high concern are subject to an authorization process. Authorization may result in restrictions on certain uses of products or even
prohibitions on the manufacture or importation of products. The full registration requirements of REACH arc phased in over several years. We will incur additional
expense 1o cause the registration of our products under these regulations. REACH may also affect our sbility to import, manufacture and sell certain products in the
Eurvpean Union. In addition, other countries and regions of the world already have or may adopt legislation similar to REACH that affect our business, affect our
ability to import, manufacture or s¢ll cermin products in these jurisdictions, and have required or will require us to incur increased costs.

2. The classification of penta as a Persistent Organic Pollutant (“POP”} under the Stockholm Convention may adversely affect our ability to manufacture or
gell our pents products: The Conference of the Parties (“COP”) aceepted the recommendation of the United Nations Persistent Osganic Pollutant Review
Committee thas the use of penta should be banned except that its use for the treatment of utility poles and crossarms could contime for an extended period of five
to ten years. KMG-Bernuth supplies penta to industriel customers who use it primarily to treat utility poles and ctossarms. The U.S. is not bound by the
detcrmination of the COP because it did not ratify the Stockhoim Convention treaty. Canads and Mexico are governed by the treaty. KMG-Bernuth's sole penta
manufacturing facility is located in Matamoros, Mexico, and its processing facility is located in Tuscaloosa, Alabama. As a result of the classification of pepta as a
POP, the Mcexican government requires KMG-Bernuth to cease producing penta in Mexico by the end of 2021. In July 2019, KMG-Bernuth had communicated
plans 1o close both the Matameros and Tuscaloosa facilities by such date and to consolldate into and build & new facility. However, in November 2019, we
communicated that we will not build a new facility, and that we intend to explore various options for the wood treatment business. We have taken a restructuring
charge and asset impairment charges in our fourth fiscal quarter related to the decision to ciose the Matamoros and Tuscaloosa fecilities and to not build a new
plant. No assurance can be given that we will not incur significant expenditures in connection with cloging the facilities, or thet the ultimate action of the COP and
our related decigions will not adversely impact on our financial condition and results of operation.

3. If our products arc not re-registered by the EPA or are re-registered subject to new restrictions, our ability to sell our products may be curtailed or
significantly limited: KMG-Bernuth's penta product registrations are under continuous review by the EPA under FIFRA. KMG-Bernuth has submitted and will
submit a wide rnge of scicntific dste to support its U.S. registrations. To satisfy the registration review, KMG-Bemuth is required to demonstrate, among other
things, that itz products will not cause unrcasonable adverse eflects on human health or the environment when used according to approved label directions. In
September 2008, the EPA announced that ji had determined that penta was cligible for re-registration, but the EPA proposed new restrictions on the nse of penta
that have required KMG-Bermuth's customers to incur substantial additional costs and to revise certain operating procedures. In December 2014, the EPA issued 2
registration review work plan that required penta registraats to provide additional rescarch and testing data respecting certain potential risks to human health or the
environment as a further condition to continued registration. KMG-Bemuth canducted required testing. but cannot tell you when or if the EPA will issuc a final
decision concluding that the conditions of re-registration for its penta products and all additional testing requirements have been satisfied. We cannot assure you
that KMG-Bemnuth's products will not be subject to use or labeling restrictions that may have an adverse cffect on our financial position and results of operations.
The failure of KMG-Bernuth's current or furure-acquired products 1o be re-registered, to satisfy the registration review by the EPA, or the imposition of new use,
labeling or other restrictions in connection with re-registration could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

4. Onrr use of hazardous materials cxposes us to potential liabilities: Our mannfacturing and distributian of chemical products, such as our electronic
chemicals, involves the controlled use of hazardous materials, Our operations, therefore, are subject to various associated risks, including chemical spills,
discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous subsiances or geses, fires, mechanical failure, storage facility leaks and similar events. Our supplicrs are subject to
similar risks that may adversely impact the availability of raw materials, While we adapt our manufacturing and distribution processes to the environmental control
standards of regtlatory authorities, we carmot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from hazzrdous or regulated materials, including
injury of cur employees, individuals who handle our products or goods treated with our products, or others who claim to have been exposed to our products, nor
can we completely eliminate the unanticipated interruption or suspension of operations at cur facilities due to such events. We may be held lisble for significant
damages or fincs in the event of contamination or injury, and such asscssed damages or fines could have an adverse effect on our financial performance and results

of operations.




FUTURE CLIMATE CHANGE REGULATION COULD RESULT IN INCREASED OPERATING COSTS AND REDUCED DEMAND FOR OUR
PRODUCTS

Although the 1].S. has not ratified the Kyoto Protocol, a number of federal 1aws related 1o “greenhouse gas” or “GHG" emissions have been considered by
Congress. Because of the lack of any comprehensive legislation program addressing GHGs, the EPA is using its existing regulatory antherity to promulgate
regulations requiring reduction im GHG cmissions from various catcgorics of sources, mch as when a permit is required due to emissions of other pollutants. In
addition, various state, local and regional regulations and initiatives have been enacied or are being considered related to GHGs.

Member States of the Furopean Union each have an overall cap on emissions, which are approved by the European Commission, and implement the EU
Emissions Trading Directive as a commitment to the Kyoto Protocol. Under this Directive, organizations apply to the Member State for an allowance of GHG
emissions. These allowances are tradable so as 10 enable companies that manage to reduce their GHG emissions to sel] their excess allowances to companies that
arc not reaching their emissions objectives. Failure to purchase sufficient alfowances will require the purchase of allowances at a current market price.

Any lews or regulations that may be adopted to restrict or reduce emissions of GHGS could cause an increase to our rew material costs, require us to incur
increased operating costs, and have an adverse effect on demand for our products and our financial performance and results for our business.

OUR PRODUCTS MAY BE RENDERED OBSOLETE OR LESS ATTRACTIVE BY CHANGES IN INDUSTRY REQUIREMENTS OR BY SUPPLY-
CHAIN DRIVEN PRESSURES TO SHIFT TO ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE ALTERNATIVES

Changes in regulatory, legislative and industry requirements, or changes driven by supply-chain pressurcs, may shift current customers away from products
using penta, products containing hazardous matcrials, or certain of our other products and toward alternative products that are believed to have fewer
environmental effects. The EPA, foreign and state regulators, local governments, private environmental advocacy organizations and a number of large industrial
companies have proposed or adepted policies designed to decrease the use of a variety of chemicals, including penta and others included in certain of our products,
such as those containing hazardous materials. Our ability to anticipate changes in regulatory, legislative, and industry requirements, or changes driven by supply-
chain pressures, affects our ability to rerain competitive. Further, we may not be able to comply with changed or new regulatory or industrial standands that may
be necessary for us to remain competitive.

We cannot assure you that the EPA, foreign and state regulators or local governments will not restrict the uses of penta or certain of our other products or ban
the use of one or more of thege products or the raw materials in them. Similarly, companies who uze our products may decide to reduce significantly or cease the
use of our products voluntarily, As a result, our products may become obsolete or less attractive to our customers.

BECAUSE WE RELY ON OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OUR FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY OBTAIN OR PROTECT IT COULD
SIGNIFICANTLY HARM OUR BUSINESS

Protection of intellectual property is particnlarly important in our industry because we develop complex technical formulas and processes for products that are
proprietary in nature and differentiate our products from those of our competiters. Our inteliectual property is important 1o our success and ability to compete. We
atlempt to protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, es well as employee and third-party
pondisclonure and assignment agreements. In addition, we protect our product differentiation through various other means, such as proprietary supply
armangenents for certain raw materials, and use of certain manufacturing technologies. Due to our international operations, we pursue protection in different
jurisdictions, which may provide varying degrees of protection, and we cannot provide assurance that we can obtain adequate protection in each such jurisdiction.
Our failure to obtain or maintain adequate protection of our intellectual property rights for any reason, including through the patent prosecution process or in the
event of litigation related 1o such intellectual property, could seriousty harm our business. In addition, certain types of intellectual property, such as patents, expire
afler a certain period of time, and products protected by our patents then lose such protection, so we refresh our intellectual property partfolio on an ongoing basis
through continued tnnovation, and failure to do so could adversely affect our business. Also, the costs of obtaining or protecting our intellectual property could
negatively affect our operating results.
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OUR INABILITY TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN KEY PERSONNEL COULD CAUSE OUR BUSINESS TO SUFFER

We utilize and rely upon a global workforce. If we fail to attrect and retain the necessary managerial, technical and customer support personnel, our business
and our sbility to maintain existing and obtain new customers, develop new products and provide acceptable levels of customer service could suffer. We compete
worldwide with other industry participants for qualified personncl, particularty those with significant experience in the semiconductor industry. The loss of services
of key employees, or our inability to obtain or maintain visas or other travel or residency documents on their behalf with respect to our business needs, could harm
our business and results of operations. Periodically, we engage in succession planning for our key employees, and our Board of Directors reviews succession
planning for our executive officers, including our chief executive officer, on an annual basis,

BECAUSE WE HAVE LIMITED EXPERIENCE IN BUSINESS AREAS QUTSIDE OF ELECTRONIC MATERIALS AND PERFORMANCE
MATERIALS, EXPANSION OF OUR BUSINESS INTO OTHER PRODUCTS AND APPLICATIONS MAY NOT BE SUCCESSFUL

An element of our strategy has been to leverage our customer relationships, technological expertise and other capabilitics and competencics to expand our
business. For cxample, we have made acquisitions to expand beyond CMP consumables into other electronic materials product areas, as well as into performance
materials product arcas in which we have limited experience. Expanding our business into new product arcas could involve technologies, praduction processes and
business models in which we have limited cxperience, and we may not be able to develop and produce products or provide services that satisfy customers’ needs,
or we may be unable to keep pace with technological or other developments. Or, we may decide that we no longer wish to pursue these new business initiatives.
Also, our competitors may have or obtain int¢llectual property rights that could restrict our ability to market our existing products and/or to innovate and develop
new products,

TAX INCREASES OR CHANGES IN TAX RULES MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS

As 8 company conducting business on a global basts, we are exposed, both directly and indirectly, to effects of changes in United Statcs, state, local and
foreign tax rules. In December 2017, comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tex Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act™) was enacted in the United
States. Known and certain estimated effects baged upon current interpretation of the Tax Act have been incorporated into our financial results. As additional
clarification and implementation guidance is issued on the Tax Act, it may be necessary to adjust our income tax estimaics, as we experienced in our second fiscal
quarter of fiscal 2019 with respect to our previously reported Transition Tax describe in Note 19 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in
Item 8 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Adjustments to income tax amounts could be material to our results of operations and cash flows. In
addition, there is & risk that state or foreign jurisdictions may amend their tax laws in response to the Tax Act, which could have & material impact on our future
results of operations and cash flows.

CERTAIN CRITICAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS COULD BE SUSCEPTIBLE TO CYBERSECURITY AND OTHER THREATS

We maintain and rely upon certain critical information systems for the effective operation of our business. These information systems include, but are not
litited to, telecommunpications, the Internet, our corporate intranet, various computer hardware and software applications, network commumications, and email.
These information systems may be owned and maintained by us, our outsourced providers, or third parties such as vendors, contractors, and Cloud providers. All
of these information systemns are subject to disruption, breach or failure from various sources including, but not limited to, attacks, degradation, and failures
resulting from potentisl sources, including viruses, malware, denisl of service, destructive or inadequate code, power failures, and physical damage. Confidential
and/or scnsitive information stored on these information systems, or transmitted to or from Cloud storage, could be intentionally or unintentionally compromised,
lost, and/or stolen. While we have implemented security procedures and virus protection software, intrusion prevention systems, access control, and emergency
recovery processes to mitigate risks like these with respect to information systems that are under our control, they are not fail-safe and may be subject to breaches.
Further, we cannot sssure that third parties upon whom we rely for various IT services will maimain safficient vigilance and controls over their systems. Our
inability to use or access these information systems at critical points in time, or unauthorized releases of personal or confidential information, could unfavorebly
impact the timely and cfficient operation of our business, including our results of operations, and our reputation, as well as our relationships with our employees or
other individuals whose information may have been affected by such cyberzecurity incidents.
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In addition, regutatory authorities have increased their focus on how companies collect, process, use, store, share and transmit personal data. New privacy
security laws and regulations, including the United Kingdom's Data Protection Act 2018 and the European Union General Data Protection Regulation 2016, and
similar laws in countrics such as Korea and Taiwan, among others, pose increasingly complex compliance challenges, which may increase compliance costs, and
any failure to comply with data privecy laws and regulations could result in significant penalties,

OUR ABILITY TO RAISE CAPITAL IN THE FUTURE MAY BE LIMITED, WHICH COULD PREVENT US FROM GROWING, AND OUR
EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENT COULD RESTRICT QUR BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

We may in the firture be required to raise capital through public or private financing or other amrangements. Such financing may pot be available on acceptable
terms, or at all, and our failure to raisc capital when needed could harm our business. Our Credit Agreement contains financial and other covenants that may
restrict our business activities or our ability to execute our strategic objectives, and our failure to comply with these covenants could result in a default under our
Credit Agreement. Furthermore, additional equity financing may dilute the interests of our common stockholders, and debt Bnancing, if available, may involve
restrictive covenants that could further restrict our business activities or our ability to exccute our strategic cbjectives and could reduce our profitability. If we raise
or borrow funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to grow our business or respond to competitive presaures.

In addition, borrowings under our Credit Facilities generally bear interest based on (a) a London Inter-bank Offered Rate (*LIBOR'™), subject to a 0.00%
flour, or (b) a base rate, in each case phus an applicable margin of, in the case of barrowings under the Term Loan Fecility, 2.25% for LIBOR loans and 1.25% for
base rate loaps and, in the case of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, initially, 1.50% for LIBOR loans and 0.50% for bass mate loans. On July 27,
2017, the Financiat Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation
of LIBOR after 2021. In the United States, the Alternative Reference Rates Committes (“*ARRC"), the working group formed to recommend an alternative rate to
LIBOR, has identificd the Secured Ovemight Financing Rate (“SOFR™) as its preferred alternative rate for USD LIBOR. When LIBOR ceases to exist after 2021,
any calculation of interest based upon the Alternate Base Rate {or any comparsble or replacement formulation), may result in higher interest rates. To the extent
that thesc interest rates increase, our Interest expense will increase, which could adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

RISKS RELATING TO THE MARKET FOR OUR COMMON STOCK
THE MARKET PRICE MAY FLUCTUATE SIGNIFICANTLY AND RAFPIDLY

The marke1 price of our common stock has fluctuated and could continue to fluctuate significantly as a result of factors such as: economic, geopolitical,
political and stock market conditions generally and specifically as they may impact participants in the semiconductor and related industries; changes in financial
estimates and recommendations by securitics analysts wha follow our stock; eamings and other announcements, and changes it market evaluations, by securities
analysts, investors, market participants or others, of or related 1o, us or participants in the semiconductor and relaied indusiries; changes in business, trade or
regulatory conditions afTecting us or participants in the semiconductor and related indusiries; announcements or implementation by us, our competitors, or our
customers of technological innovations, pew products or different business strategics; changes in our capital deployment strategy, issuances of shares of our capital
stock or entering into a business combination or other strategic transaction; and trading volume of our common stock.

ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS UNDER OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS MAY DISCOURAGE THIRD PARTIES
FROM MAKING AN UNSOLICITED BID FOR OUR COMPANY

Our centificate of incorporation and bylaws, and various provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may make it more difficult or expensive o
cffect s change in control of our Company. For mstance, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for the division of our Board of Directors
into three classes as nearly equal in size as possible with staggered three-year tenms.

We have adopted change in control arrangements covering our exccutive officers and other key employees. These ammangements provide for a cash severance

payment, continued medical benefits and other ancillary payments and benefits upon termination of service of a covered employee's empioyment foilowing &
change in control, which may make it more expensive to acquire our Company.
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ITEM 18, UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

‘None.
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ITEM 1. PROPERTIES
The material properties owned by the Company consist of the following:
= a global headquarters and research and development facility in Aurora, [liinois, comprising approximately 200,000 square feet, which serves both of our

segments;

= 8 commercial slurry manufacturing ptant and distribution center in Aurora, llinois, comprising approximately 175,000 square feet, which serves our Electronic
Materials segment;

= an clectronic chemicals manufacturing plant and distribution center in Pueblo, Colorado, comprising approximately 1,629,000 square feet, which serves our
Electronic Materials segment;

= a pipeline performance matcrials manufacturing plant and distribution center in Waller, Texas, comprising approximately 1,742,000 square feet, which serves our
Performance Maicrials scgment;

» 2 commercial shury and pad manufacturing plant, automated warehouse, research and development facility and offices in Kachsiung County, Taiwan,
comprising approximately 190,000 square feet, which serves our Electronic Materials segment;

» 3 commercial glury manufacturing plant and distribution center, and a development and technical support facility in Geino, Japan, comprising approximately
165,000 square feet, which scrves our Electronic Materials segment; and

= a commercial shory manufacturing plant, development facility and offices in Oseong, South Kores, comprising approximately 110,000 square feet, which serves
our Electronic Materials segment.

The material properties leased by the Company consist of the following:

= a commercial pad mamufacturing plant and offices in Hillsbore, Oregon, comprising approximately 140,000 square feet, which serves our Electronic Matetials
scgment;

= a commercial shurry manufacturing plant, research and development facility and offices in Singapore, compriting approximately 24,000 square fect, which serves
our Electronic Matcrials segment;

= an electronic chemicals mamfacturing plant and distribution center in Singapore, comprising approximately 213,000 square feet, which serves our Electronic
Materials segment; and

= an electronic chemicals manufacturing plant and distribution center in Riddings, UK, comprising approximatefy 183,000 square feet, which serves our Electronic
Materials segment.

We also own and |ease space in various locations worldwide for manufacturing, distnibution, technical support, sales, training, and general administrative
purposes. We believe that our facilities arc suitable and adequate for therr intended purpose and provide us with sufficient capacity and capacily cxpansion
opportunities and technotogical capability to meet our current and expected demand in the foreseeable future. We intend (o cxpand certain of our Electronic
Materials and Performance Materials facilitics to meet our anticipated buginess needs.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We periodically become a party to legal proceedings, arbitrations, and regulatory proceedings (“contingencies™) arising in the ardinary course of our business
operations. The ultimate resolution of these contingencies is subject to significant uncertainty, and should we fail to prevail in any of them or should several of
them be resolved against us in the same reporting period, these matters could, mdividually or in the aggregate, be material to our consolidated financial statements,
One of these contingencies, related to Star Lake Canal, which we sssumed in connection with the Acquisition, is discussed below. The ultimate outcome of these
matters, however, cannot be determined at this time, por can the amount of any potential loss be reasonably estimated, and as & result except where indicated no
amounts have been recorded in our consolidated financial statements. The Company records legal costs associated with loss contingencies as expenses in the
period m which they are meurred.

On May 31, 2019, a fire occurred at the warehonse of the facility of KMG's subsidiary, KMG-Bernuth, in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, which processes penta for
sale to customers in the United States and Canada. The warehouse fire, which we belicve originated from non-hazardous waste materials temporarily stored in the
warthouse for recycling purposes, caused no injuries and was extinguished in less than an hour. Company personne)] investigated the incident, and KMG-Bernuth
commenced cleanup with oversight from certain local, state and federal authorities. The carrying value of the warehcuse and the affected inventory are not
material. Applying the accounting guidance under ASC 410-30, Environmental Obligations and ASC 450, Contingencies, we determined that since we have
environmental obligations as of the date of the fire, costs for the fire waste cleanup and dispozal should be recognized 10 the extent they are probable and
reasonably cstimable. We have applied these criteria and recorded an undiscounted amount of $9,494 loss contingency regarding disposal costs that can be
reasonably estimated at this time. These disposal costs were charged to Cost of sales, There are potential additional disposal and other costs that cannot be
reasonably estimated as of this time related to materials in the warchouse or otherwise impacted by the incident. The fire waste cleanup and disposal costs have
been and may continue to be significant due to the nature of federully-regulated penta-related waste cleanup and disposal requirements. We will continue to update
the estimated losses as new information becomes availshle.

In addition, we are working with cur insurance carriers on possible recovery of losses and costs, bt at this point we cannot reasonably estimate whether we
will receive, or if so, the amount of, any potential insurance recoverics. As such, no insurance recoveries have been recognized as of September 30, 2019.

Separately, in 2014, prior to the Acquisition, EPA had notified KMG-Bermuth, that the EPA considered it to be a potentially responsible party under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended ("CERCLA"™) by virtue of its relationship with certain alleged
predecessor companies, including Idacon, Inc (fk/a Sonford Chemical Company) in conpection with the Star Lake Canal Superfimd Site near Beaumont, Texas,
The EPA has estimated that the remediatton will cost approximatety $22.0 million. KMG-Bernuth and approximately seven other parties entered into an agreement
with the EPA in September 2016 to complete a remedial design phase of the remediation of the sitc. The remediation work will be performed under @ scparate
future agreement. Although KMG-Bernuth has not conceded lisbility, a reserve in connection with the remedial design was established, and as of September 30,
2019, the regerve remaining was $728,

We also may face other governmental or third-party claims, or otherwise incur costs, relating to cleanup of, or for injuries resulting from, contamination at
sites associated with this or other past and present operations. We accrue for environmental lisbilities when a determination can be made that they are probable and
reasonably estimable. Other than as described herein, we are not involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, cur Company is subject to extensive federal, stale and local laws, regulations and ordinances in the U.S. and in other countries. These regulatory
requirements relate to the use, generation, storage, handling, emission, transporiation and discharge of certain hazardous maierials, substances and waste into the
enviromment. The Company, including its KMG entities, manage EHS matters retated to protection of the environment ard himan health, the cleanup of
contaminated sites, the treatment, storage and disposal of wastes, and the emission of substances into the air or waterways, among other EHS concerns.
Governmental authorities can enforee compliance with their regulations, and violators may be subject to fines, injunctions or both. The Company devotes
significant finapcial rezources to compliance, including costs for ongoing compliance.




Certain licenses, permits and product registrations are required for the Company's products and operations in the U.S., Mexico and other countries in which it
does business. The licenses, permits and product registrations are subject lo revocation, medification and renewal by governmental authoritiea. [n the United
States, in particular, producers and distributors of penta, which is a product manufactured and sold by KMG-Bemuth as part of the wood treatment business, are
subject to registration and notification requirements under the FIFRA and comparable state law in order to sell this product in the United States. Compliance with
these requirements may have a significant effect on our buginess, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to contingencies, incheding litigation relating to EHS laws and regulations, commercial disputes and other matters. Cettain of these
contingencics are discussed above and in *Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements™ in this Agnnal Report on Form 10-K. The ultimaie resolution of these
contingencics is subject to significant uncertainty, and should we fail 1o prevail in any of them or should several of them be resolved against us in the same
reporting period, these matters could, individually or in the aggregate, be material 1o the consolidated financial statements. The ultimate oulcome of thesc maticrs
cannot be determined al this time, nor can the amount of any potential loss be reasonably estimated, and as a result except where indicated no amounts bave been
recorded in our consolidated fmancial statements. The Company records legal costs associated with loss contingencics as expenses in the period in which they are
incurred.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Set forth below is information concerning our executive officers and their ages as of October 31, 2019.

NAME AGE POSITION

David H. Li 46 President and Chief Executive Officer

Scott D. Beamer 48 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

H. Carol Bernsiein 59 Vice President, Secretary and Getteral Counsel

Jeffrey M. Dysard 46 Vice President and President, Performance Materials
Collecn E. Mumford 43 Vice President, Commumications and Marketing
Eleanor K. Thorp 45 Vice President, Human Resources

Daniel D. Woodland 49 Vice President and President, Electronic Materials
Thomas S. Roman 58 Principal Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller

DAVID H. LI has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer, and as a director of our Company, since fanuary 2015. From June 2008 through December
2014, Mr. Li served =3 our Vice President of the Asia Pacific Region. Prior to that role, Mr. Li held various leadership roles throughout our business, including in
regional and procuct line management, operations, supply chain and investor relations since jeining us in 1998, Mr. Li received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering
from Purdue University and an M.B.A. from Northwestern University.

SCOTT D. BEAMER has served as our Vice President and Chicf Financial Officer aince Jamuary 2018. Prior to joining us, Mr. Beamer served as Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Stepan Company from August 2013. Before that, he held various senior finance roles over a 16-year career at PPQ Industries, Inc.,
including serving as its CFO — Burope, and as its Assistant Corporate Controlter. Mr. Beamer has a B.S. in Accounting from Bloomshurg University, and an
M.B.A_ from the University of Pittsburgh, and began his career at Emst & Young.

H. CAROL BERNSTEIN has served as our Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since August 2000. Prior to joining us, Ms. Bernstein served in
various senjor keadership roles, including as the General Counsel and Director of Industrial Technology Development of Argonne National Laboratory/the
University of Chicago, and as over a thirteen-year career et the IBM Corporation, as an Associate General Counsel of the [BM Corpomation, and as the Vice
Presidenl, Secretary and General Counsel of Advantis Corporation, an [BM joint venture. Ms, Bernstein received her B.A. from Colgate University in History and
Political Science, and her J.D. from Northwestern University; she is a member of the Bar of the States of Illinois and New York.

JEFFREY M., DYSARD has served as our Vice President and President, Performance Materials simce January 2019, and prior to that had served as the General
Manager of CMP Slurries, since October 2017, following serving as the General Manager of CMP Pads, from October 2015. Prior to that, Dr. Dysard beld a
variety of leadership roles in our R&D and product line organizations since joining us in 2004, Before that, he was a scientist with ExxenMobil. Dr. Dysard
received 6 B.S. in Chemistry from the University of Chicago, and & Ph.D. in Chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley.

COLLEEN E. MUMFORD has served as our Vice President of Communications and Marketing since September 2019. Prior to that, Ms. Mumford served as our
Corporate Relations Director since March 2018, responsible for Investor Relations, Corporate Communications and Marketing Communications. Ms. Mumford
joined us in 1997, and has held various positions, including as North America Quality Director, ameng other leadership roles in research and development,
operations, and human resources. Ms, Mumford received a B.S. in Ecolegy, Ethology and Evolution from the University of Illinois.

ELEANOR K. THORP has served as our Vice President, Human Resources since September 2018. Ms, Thorp rejoined our company afier serving as the Head of
Human Resources and Recruiting at Sephora Digital SEA, from 2015 through 2018, based in Singapore. Prior to that, Ms. Thorp was Cabot Microclectronics’
Human Resources Director of Asia Pacific frem 2013 through 2015. Before this, she was Head of Human Resources and Recruiting at Frontier Strategy Group,
and also spent time in executive search, working actoss a wide range of industries, based first in London and then in New York. Ms. Thorp graduated from the
University of Cambridge (England) with 2 B.A. in Social and Political Science.
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DANIEL D. WOODLAND has served as our Vice President and President, Electronic Materials since November 2018, and prior to that had served as our Vice
President and Chief Marketing and Operations Officer since October 2017 and Vice President of Marketing since January 2015. Previously, Dr. Woodland served
in various product line, marketing and research and development leadership roles since joining us m 2003. Before joining our Company, Dr. Woedland held
mamagement roles at OMNOVA Solutions. Dr. Woodland received a B.A. in Physics from the University of California, Berkeley, and a Ph.D, in Physics from the
University of Maine.

THOMAS S, ROMAN has served ag our Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer since February 2004, and prior to that served as our North

American Controller after joining us in 2000, Before that, he worked for FMC Corporation, Gould Electronics, and Arthur Andersen LLP in various financial
reporting, tax and audit positions. Mr. Roman is 2 C.P.A. and earned a B.S. in Accounting from the University of Illinois and an M.B.A. from DePaul University.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock has traded publicly under the symbol "CCMP* since our initial public offering in April 2000, currently on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market, and formery the NASDAQ Natienal Market. As of Octeber 31, 2019, there were approximately 630 holders of record of our common stock. [n Jamusry
2016, we anpounced that our Board of Dircctors authorized the initiation of a regular dividend program under which the Company intends to pay quarterty cash
dividends on our common stock. The declaration and payment of future dividends is subject to the discretion and determination of the Company's Board of
Directors and management, based on a variety of factors, and the program may be suspended, tetminated or modified at any time for any reason.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Approximate Dollar
Vahue of
Shares that May Yet
Tatal Nomber of Shares Be
Purchased as Part of Purchased Under the
Publlcly Plzns or
Total Number of Shares  Average Price Pald Announced Plany or Programs (in
Period Purchased Per Share Programs thousands)
Jul. 1 through Jul. 31, 2019 15660 8 114,66 15000 § 74,554
Aug. | through Aug. 31, 2019 14,978 118.98 14,500 72,781
Sep. | through Sep. 30, 2019 11,033 137.16 11,033 71,268
Total 41,671 § 122.17 40933 § 71,268

In January 2016, our Beard of Directors authorized an increase in the amount available under our share repurchase program from the previcusly remaining
$75.0 million to $150.0 million. Under this program, we repurchased 88,403 shares for $10.0 million in fiscal 2019. As of September 30, 2019, $71.3 million
remaing available under our share repurchase program. The manner in which the Company repurchases its gshares is discussed in Part 11, Item 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, under the heading "Liquidity and Capital Resources”, of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. To date, we have funded share purchases under our share repurchase program from our available cash balance, and currently anticipate we will continue to
do go.

Separate from this share repurchase program, we purchased a total of 46,702 shares during fiscal 2019 pursuant to the terms of our Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended (“OIP™), as shares withheld from award recipients to cover payroll taxes on the vesting of shares of
restricted stock or restricted stock units swarded under the OIP.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

See Part IIL, Item 12 of this Form 1(-K for information regarding shares of common stock that may be issued under the Company’s existing equity
compensation plans.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph illustrates the cumulative total stockholder retumn on our comman stock during the period from September 30, 2014 through September
30, 2019 and compares it with the cumulative total return on the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Philadelphis Semiconductor Index. The comparison assumes
30, 2014 in our commen stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of the quarterly cash dividends
declared in fiscal 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019. The performance shown is not necessarily indicative of future performance. See "Rigk Factors™ in Part [, [tem 1A

$100 was invested on

above.
COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Among Cabot Microclectronics Corporation, the NASDAQ Compesite Index
and the PHLX Semiconductor Index
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*$100 invested on 9/30/14 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending September 30,
9/14 1214 Y15 6/15 9/1%5 12/15 e 6/16 916 12/16 anz?
Cabot Microelectronics
Corporation $100.00 S11416 $12055 S$113.66 $ 9346 S$10562 § 99.04 510304 512920 S$15469 $188.12
NASDAQ Composite 510000 510570 $109.70 S$11193 S10400 $113.06 511031 $110.05 $121.08 $123.08 $13555
PHLX Semiconductor $100.00 $108.00 $109.77 S108.00 § 9612 S$10628 $10897 $112.07 S$13594 $14807 $16583
617 917 12717 3ns 618 9/18 12718 319 619 9/19
Cahot Microelectronics
Corporation S181L78 519732 $23274 $2659) $26802 $257.08 $239643 318244 $278.78 $357.62
NASDAQ Composlte $141.19 $149.75 $15956 S$163.69 $17451 $18744 S$155.03 $181.08 S188.09 §18843
PHLX Semiconductor $170.59 $193.86 S$20810 322152 $22025 S$230.10 S$19552 $13727 S24956 §267.81
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sclected financial dara for each year of the five-ycar period ended September 30, 2019 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial
staterpents.

The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, "Consolidated Financial Statements” and "Notes to the Consolidated Financisl Statermnents®
incheded in ltems 7 and 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Farm 10-K, as well as "Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA - FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amrounts)

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Consolidated Statements of Income Data:
Revenue s 1037696 § 590,123 507,179 §$ 430449 § 414,097
Cost of sales 595,043 276,018 253,050 220,247 201,866
Gross profit 442 653 314,105 254,129 210,202 212,231

Operating expenses:

Research, development and technical 51,707 51,950 54,798 58,532 59,778
Selling, general and adminisirative 213,078 192,037 26,483 77,162 77,413
Asset impairment charges 67,372 — 860 — —
Total operating cxpenscs 332,157 153,987 142,141 135,694 137,191
Operating income 110,49 160,118 111,938 74,508 75,040
Interest expense 45,681 2,905 4,529 4,723 4,524
Interest income 2,346 4,409 2,351 949 365
Other income (expense), act (4,055) 8% (438) {296) 316
Income before income taxes 63,106 161,711 109372 70,438 71,197
Provision for income taxes 23,891 51,668 22,420 10,589 15,051
Net income s 9215 § 110,043 § 86952 § 59,849 § 56,146
Weighted avernge basic shares outstanding 28,571 25518 25,015 24,0 24,040
Diluted earnings per share $ 135 § 419 § 340 S 243 § 2.26
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 29,094 26,243 25,512 24477 24,632
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_ As'of September 30, .. .
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data: - ' '
| Cash and cash equivelents 188,495 352921 § 13973890 87479 § 354,190 |
. Other current assets- 320,061 169,860 - - 153,092 149,351 - . 140,318
| Property, plant and equipment, net 276,818 111,403 106,361 106,496 93,743 |
-Othier asscts ' 1,476,392 146,789 176,757 183,904 72223
| Total assess 2,261,766 780,973 § 834,100 727230 § 660474 |
[ Curreat liabilities 171,460 101,154 S 91,213 65885 § 60,644 |
Long-term debt 928,463 —" %7 132,997 146,961 155,313
[ Other tong-term liabilities 181,466 13,127 14,853 16,736 15,553 |
Total lisbilities 1,281,389 114,281 + 239,063 - 229,582 231,510
[ Stockbolders’ equity 980,377 666,692 595,037 497,648 428,964 |
Total liabilitics and stockholders’ equity . 2,261,766 780973 5 834,100 727230 $ 660474
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ (MD&:A), as well as disclosures included
clsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, include "forward-looking siatements* within the meaning of the Privete Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
This Act provides a safe harbor for forward-leoking statements to encourage companies to provide prospective information about themselves zo long as they
identify these gatements as forward-looking and provide meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that conld cause actual results to differ
from the projected results. All statements other than statements of historical fact we make in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking and address a
variety of subjects including, for example, future sales and operating results; growth or contraction, and trends in the industry and markets in which the Company
participates; the scquisition of, investment in, or collaboration with other entities, including the Company’s acquisition of KMG Chemicals, Inc. (“KMG™), snd the
expecied benefits and synergies of sach acquisition; divestment or disposition, or cessation of investment in certain, of the Company's businesses; new product
introductions; development of new products, technologies and markets; product performence; the financial conditions of the Company's customers; competitive
landscape; the Company's supply chain; natural disasiers; various economic or political factors and international or naticnal events, including related to the
enactment of trsde sanctions, tariffs, or other similar matters; the gencration, protection and acquisition of inteflectual property, and litigation related to such
intellectual property or third party mtellectuat property; environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, and related compliance; the operation of facilities
by Cabot Microclectronics; the Company’s management; foreign exchange fluctuation; the Company's current or future tex rate, including the ¢ffects of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act in the United States (“tax act”); cybersecurity threats; financing facilities and related debi, pay off or payment of principal and interest, and
compliance with covenants and other terms; snd, uses and investment of the Company's cash balance, inchuding dividends and share rpurchases, which may be
suspended, terminated or modified at any time for any reason by the Company, based on a variety of faciors. Statements that are not historical facts, including
statements about Cabot Microclectronics' beliefs, plans and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Such sisicments are based on current expectations of
Cabot Microclectronics’ management and are subject to & number of factors and uncertainties, which could cause actusl results to differ materially from those
described in the forward-ooking statemnents. Except as required by law, Cabot Microclectronics undertakes no obligation 1o update forward-looking statements
made by it to reflect new information, subscquent events er circumstances. The section entitled “Risk Factors™ describes some, birt not all, of the factors that could
canse these differences.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our histerical financial statements and *Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” which are included in Item 8 of Part 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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OVERVIEW

Cabot Microelectronics Corporation ("Cabot Microelectronics”, "the Company”™, "us”, “we”, or "our”) is a leading global supplier of consimabie materials to
gemiconductor manufacturers and pipeline companies. As discussed above, on November 15, 2018 (“Acquisition Date™), we completed our acquisition of KMG
Chemicals, Inc. (“KMG'"), which produces and distributes specialty chemicals and performance materials for the semiconductor industry, pipeline operations and
edjacent industries, and indusirial wood preservation industry (“Acquisition™). The Acquisition has extended and strengthened our position as one of the leading
mpphu'sofwnmmblema:malsmthesemmnductormdumandhucxpandndmrpnrtfohomlhthcaddmmoI‘KMG 8 performance materials business,
which enables us to be a leading global provider of performance products and services to the pipeline operations industry. The Consolidated Financial Statements
inchuded in this Anoual Report on Form 10-K include the financial results of KMG from the Acquisition Date. Subsequent to the Acquisition, we operate our
buginess within fwo reportable segments: Electronic Materials and Performance Materials, The Electronic Materials segment consists of our heritage CMP shurries
and polishing pads businesses, as well as the recently-acquired KMG electronic chemicals business. The Performance Materials segment inchudes KMG's heitage
pipeline performance and wood treament businesses, and our heritage QED business. For additional information, refer to Part 1, ltem |, “Business”, in this Annual
Repaort on Form 10-K.

In the Electronic Materials segment, we recorded record revenuc in fiscal 2019, primarily due 1o the Acquisition. We had lower CMP slurries revenue in fiscal
2019 compared to fiscal year 2018, which was partially offs¢t by higher revenus in CMP pads and the addition of revenue in electronic chemicals. We believe this
decline in CMP slurries revenue was due to the softness in the semiconductor industry in fiscal 2019, primarily in the memery aector. CMP shurries have a high
participation in the memory sector, and were adversely impacted by the decrease in DRAM and NAND production at our customers during our fiscal 2019. In
logic applications, the transiticn to advanced nodes by many of our lop customers is driving increased demand for materials, particujarly electronic chemicals. We
believc that new applications in arcas such as mobile, artificial intelligence (AI), and blockchain will continue to drive demand for advanced logic semiconductor
devices going forward. [n addition, the legacy logic and foundry area of the industry continues to benefit from growth in applications such as mternet of things,
sutonomous driving, industrial automation, cloud and high-performance computing, virtual reality, and 5G. We believe we remain well-positioned to benefit from
these long-term demand trends. Despite some industry headwinds that impacted demand for our CMP slurmies, performance in CMP pads and the acquired KMG
businesses more than offset these headwinds, reflecting the strength of our acquired KMG businesses, the resiliency of our heritage CMP business, and the breadth
of our product offerings. Later in fiscal 2019, as channel inventories appeared to be reduced and demand from multiple end markets improved, we began to scc
signs of stabilization in the semiconductor industry and improvement in demand for our CMP shurries from advanced logic, foundry and memory customers.
However, there are many factors that make it difficult for us to predict future revenue trends for our business, including those discussed in Part I, Item 1A entitled
“Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In our Performance Materials sepment, we recorded record revenuc in fiscal 2019, primarily driven by the Acquisition. We have experienced strong demand
for our DRAx in our pipeline parformance business. These products cnable pipeline operators to aptimize the efficiency and throughput of oil transport in bath
United States and international oil production.

Revenue for fiscal 2019 was $1,037.7 million, which represented an increase of 75.8% from the $590.] million reported for fiscal 2018, primarily due to the
Acquisition.

Net meome was $39.2 million in figcal 2019, whichrepmenledadocruuof&t%%orﬂﬂsmﬂlion, from $110.0 million in fiscal 2018. Results benefited
from the Acquisition, but were more than offset by Acquisition-related expenses, asset impairment charges and a restructuring charge related to wood treatment,
increased amortization and depreciation associated with re-valuing KMG assets to fair value, cleanup and disposal costs related to a warchouse fire at pur wood
treatment facility in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, higher [nterest expense resulting from the debt borrowing to finance the Acquisition, and newly issued final regulations
related to the United States Tax Cut and Jobs Act ("Tax Act™), which impacted our reserves for uncertain tax positions. For the same reasons, Diluted eamnings per
share decreased from $4.19 in fiscal 2018 to $1.35 in fiscal 2019. Sec Notc 21 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part I, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Adjusted EBITDA was $333.4 million in fiscal 2019, This represents an increase of $143,5 million, or 75.5% from $189.9 million in fiscal 2018. Adjusted
EBITDA benefited from the Acquisition of the KMG businesses, partially offset by the sofier industry canditions that resuhted in lower demand for our heritage
CMP products. Refer o the “Use of certain GAAP and Noo-GAAP Financial [Information”™ section below for the definition of adjusied EBITDA and a
reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA 10 Net incomae, the most comparable GAAP financial measure. Adjusted EBITDA margin, which represents adjusted EBITDA
as & percentage of revenue, was 32.1% and 32.2% for fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

This MD&A, as well as disclogures included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are based upon our audited consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generaily accepted in the Unjted States. The preparation of these financial siatemaents requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingencies. On an
ongoing basis, we cvaluate the estimates used, including those related to business combinations, assct retirement obligations, impairment of long-lived asscts,
goodwill and other intangible assets, income taxes and contingencies. We base our cstimates on historical experience, current conditions and on various other
essumptions that we belicve to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets
and Tiabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources, as well as for identifying and assessing our accounting treatment with respect to commitments and
contingencies. Actual results may differ from these estimates ynder different assumptions or conditions. We belicve the fallowing critical secounting policies
Involve significant judgments and estimntes used in the preperation of our consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

We account for our acquisitions under the current standards of accounting for business combinations, These standards require assets and liabilities of an
ecquired business to be recognized at their estimated fair value. We engage independent third-party appraisal finms to assist us in determining the fair values of
asyety and liabilitics acquired. This valuation requircs management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to long-lived and
intangible assets. Goodwill represents the residual value of the purchase price over the fair value of net asscts acquired, including identifiable intangible assets.

Critical cstimstes in valuing certain of the intangible assets include but are ot limited to: future cxpected cash flows related to customer relationships, trade
namcs, acquired developed technologics, and patents and assumptions about the period of time the technologies will continue to be used in the Company's product
portfelio; expected costs to develop the in-process technology into commercially viable products and estimated cash flows from the products when completed; and,
discount rates. Management's estimates of valus are based upon assumptions believed 10 be reasonable, but which are inberently uncertain and uppredictable.
Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated cvents and circumstances may oceur that may cause actual realized values to be different from
management's estimates.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Asset Retirement Obligations (AROs) are the obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. The Company recognizes an ARQ
liability in the period in which it is incured, including upon acquisition, if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. If a reasonable estimate of fair value
cannot be made in the period in which the ARO is incurred, the liability shall be recognized when a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made.

The Company recognizes AROs for the removal or storage of hazardous materials, decontamination or demolition of above ground storage tanks (ASTs), and
certain restoration and decommissioning obligations related to certain of our owned and leased properties. AROs are initially recorded at an estimate of fair value

by discounting to present value the expected future cash flows. In subsequent periods, the Company recognizes accretion expense in Cost of sales increasing the
ARO balances, such that the balance will ultimately equal the expected cash flows at the time of settlement,

The Company has multiple production facilities with an indeterminate useful life and there is insufficient mformation available to estimate a range of
polential setticment dates for the obligation. Therefore, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the liability.
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IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We assess the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used whenever evenis or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. We must exercise judgment in assessing whether an event of impairment has ocourred. For purposes of recognition and
measurement of an impairment logs, long-lived assets are either individually identified or grouped with other assets and liabilitics at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows arc largely independent of the cash flows of other agsets and liabitities. We must exercise judgment in this grouping. The carrying value of a
long-lived asset is considered impaired when the total projected undiscounted cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of the agset or asset group are
separately identifiable and are less than its carrying value. In that event, a los is recognized based on the amount by which the carying value exceeds the fair
valuc of the long-lived agset. The fair value methodology used is an estimate of fair market vatue, which is made based on prices of similar assets or other
valuation methodologics, including present value techniques. Long-lived assets to be disposed of by means other than sale are clagsified as beld for use until their
disposal. Lang-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are classified as held for sale and are reported at the lower of carrying amount ar fair market value, less the
estimated cost to sell. Depreciation is discontinued for any long-lived assets classified as held for sale.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we recorded an impairment of $67.4 million of long-lived assets, including a $4.1 millicn impairment of Property, plant
and equipment in the wood treatment assct group. See Note 10 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part [, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for & more detailed discussion of the impairment. We did not record any impairment expense in fiscal 2018. We recorded impairment
expense on long-lived assets of $0.9 million in fiscal 2017 related to surplus research and development equipment, which was subsequently sold for a gain.

GOCDWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased intangible assets with finits lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives end are cvaluated for impairment using a process similar to that
used 10 evaluate other long-lived assets. Goodwill and mdefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized and are tested annuslly in our fourth fiscal quarter or
more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach. The recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit
level, which is defined as either an operating segment or onc level below an operating segment. A component is a reparting unit when it constituies a business for
which discrete financial information is available and scgment management regularly reviews the operating results of the component. Components may be
combined into ons reporting unit when they have similar economic characteristics. We have six reporting units, all of which had goodwill as of September 3¢,
2019, the date of our annual impairment test,

The Company's Electronic Materials segment is comprised of the three following reporting units: CMP shuries, electronic chemicals, and CMP pads. The
Company's Performance Materials segment is comprised of three additional reporting units: pipeline performance, wood treatment, and precision optics.

Accounting guidance provides an entity the option to nssess the fair value of a reporting unit cither using a qualitative apatysis ("step zero™) or a quantitative
analysis ("step onc™). We used a step zero qualitative analyeis for the CMP slurrics reporting unit in fiscal 2018 apd 2019, and for Precision Optics in fiscal 2019.
Agside from thase previously noted, all other reporting units were assessed for goodwill impairment using & step onc approach. The Flowchem trade name, an
mdefinite-lived intangible asset, was assessed for impairment using a relief from royalty approach.

Factors requiring significant judgment include the selection of valuation approach and assumptions related to future revenue, dizcount factors, terminal growth
rates, and royalty rates, among others. Changes in economic and operating conditions that occur after the annual impainment analygis or an interim impainmoent
analysis that impact thess assumptions may result in future impairment charges.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment agsessment, comparing estimated fair values of the reporting units
to their carrying amounts. In estimating the fair vahues, the Company used the average of an income approach, discounting estimated future cash flows, and a
market approach based upon relevant market multiples. As a result of esset impairment charges recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, the carrying value of
the wood treatment reporting unit is equal to its fair value. In this circumstance with 0o excess of [air value over camrying value, any unfavorable variances from the
estimated inputs used in the impairment assessment may result in funther impairment of long-lived assets or goodwill. The Company’s Electronic Chemicals
reporting unit has goodwill resulting from a recent acquisition, with a greater sensitivity to impairment, due to the cxtent by which its estimated fair value exceeds
ils carrying value. Changes 1o the sssumptions requiring significant judgment, noted above, could result in a different outcome for the impairment assessment.
Accordingly, the Company performed sensitivity analysis for selected key assumptions.
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As n result of the review performed in the fourth quarier of fiscal 2019, and the related sensitivity analysis, we determined that there was no impairment of our
goodwill as of September 30, 2019. There was no goodwill impairment recorded in fiscal 2018 or 2017.

While no goodwill impairments were recognized in fiscal 2019, the Company recognized asset impairment charges of $67.4 million, of which $63.3 million
related to Other intangible ascets, net for the wood eatment reporting unit due to riggering events that occurred in the founth quarter of fiscal 2019. See Note 10
of "Notes to the Consolidaled Financial Statements” included in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company will continué to monitor the
wood reatment asset group for indicators of long-lived asset or goodwill impairment. Absent a gale of the business, as the Company spproaches the announced
closure date of the facilities and there are fewer estimated future cash flows, there is opgoing potential for further impairments of long-lived assets and impairment
of geodwill. While the timing and amounts of any further impairments are unknown, they conld be material to the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and to
the Consolidated Statements of Income, but they will not affect the Company's reported Net cash provided by operating activities.

ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES

Curent mcome tanes are determined based on estimated 1axes payable or refundable on tax returns {or the current year.
Deferred income taxes are determined using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax
bases of recorded assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred tax assets and lisbilities of changes in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes
the enactrrent date. Provisions are made for both United States and any forcign deferred income tax Liability or benefit. We assess whether or not our deferred tax
asse1s will ultimately be realized, and record an estimated valuation aifowance on those deferred tax assets that may not be realized. We recognize the tax benefit
of an uncertain tax position enly if it is more likety than not that the tax position will be susiained by the mxing suthoritics, based on the technical merits of the
position. In fiscal 2017, we maintained an assertion to permanently reinvest the eamnings of all of our foreign subsidiaries. In light of the Tax Act and the associated
transition to a modified territorial tax system, we no longer consider our forcign eamings to be indefinitely reinvested. See Note 19 of "Nates to the Consolidated
Financigl Statements" mcluded in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional mformation on income taxes.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have entered into certain unconditional purchase obligations, which incihede noncancelable purchase commitments and take-or-pay arrangements with
suppliers. We review our agreements on & quarierly basis and make an assessment of the likelihoed of a shortfall in purchases and determine if it is necessary to
record a liability. [n addition, we are subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business, such as a legal proceeding or
claim. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that an asset has been impaired, or a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can
be reasonably estimated. We regularly evaluate information available to us to determine whether such accruals should be adjusied and whether new accruals arc
required.

EFFECTS OF RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 2 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents™ included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-X for a description of recent
accounling pronouncements including the expected dates of adoption and effects on our results of operations, financist position and cash flows.




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of revenuc of certain line items inchuded in our historical statements of income:

] Year Ended September 30,
i 2019 : N
Revenue 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of sales 573 " 468 49.9
Gross profit 42.7 532 50.1_|
"l LR
Reacarch, development and technical 5.0 B.8 108 |
Selling, general and administrative 20.5 172 17.1
‘Asset impairment charges 6.5 — 02 |
Operating income 10,7 27.1 2.1
Interest expense 4.4 0.5 09 |}
Interest income 02 . 0.7 0.5
Other income (expense), net (0.4) 0.1 @1 |
Iricome before income taxes. 6. ‘274 215
Provision for income taxes 23 8.8 44 |
* . B
Net income 38 % 18.6 % 17.1 %
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YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 230, 2019, VERSUS YEAR ENDED SEPFTEMBER 30, 2018

REVENUE

Revenue was $1,037.7 million in fiscal 2019, which represented an increase of 75.8%, or $447.6 million, from fiscal 2018. The increase in revenue was
primarily driven by the Acquisition. Revenue from Cabot Microelectronies” heritage businesses decreased by $3.3 million, or 0.6%, driven by a $30.9 million
decrease due to kower sales volume and a $5.6 million decrease due to foreign exchange fluchmtions, partially offset by & $30. million tncrease due to & higher
value product mix, and $2.9 millien increase due to price changes.

COST OF SALES

Total Cost of sales was $595.0 million ip fiscal 2019, which represented an increase of 115.6%, or $319.0 million, from fiscal 2018. The increase in Cost of
sales was primarily due to the Acquisition. The Cost of sales from Cabot Microelectronics’ heritage businesses decreased by $7.5 milliop. The decrease was driven
by 2 §6.2 million decrease due to lower sales volume, and a $3.2 million decrease due to foreign exchange fluctuations, partially offset by & $3.0 million increase
in freight and packaging costs. Cost of sales included $14.9 million fair value write-up of KMG-scquired inventory sold and $9.5 million related to the KMG-
Bemuth warehouse fire.

GROSS MARGIN

Our gross margin was 42.7% in fiscal 2019 compared to 53.2% in fiscal 2018. The gross margin wes adversely impacted by the inclusion of the KMG
businesses, which reduced margin by 11.6%, of which 1.4% was due to the impact of the fair value write-up of acquired inventory sold, 0.9% was due to the costs
related to the KMG-Bernuth warehouse fire, and 0.7% was dus amortization of Acquisition-related costs. Withn Cabot Microelectronics' beritage businesses,
gross margin increased by 1.0%, which was primarily due te a higher value product mix, partially offset by lower volume and higher freight and packaging costs.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNICAL

Total Research, development and technical expenses were $51.7 million in fiscal 2019, which represented a decrease of 0.5%, or $0.2 million, from fscal
2018. The decrease was primarily du¢ to lower staffing-related costs of $2.4 million, including incentive compensation costs, partially offiet by higher supplics
and equipment costs used i research and development of $2.1 million.

Our Research, development and technical efforts are focused on the areas of rescarch related to findamental CMP ieclmology; development of new and
enhanced CMP consumable products, including collaboration on jeint development projects with technology-leading customers and suppliers; process development
to support rapid and effective commercialization of new products; technical support of CMP products in our customers’ research, development and manufachiring
facilitics; and, development of polishing and metrology applications ouiside of the semiconductor industry.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling, gencral and administrative expenscs were $213.1 million in fiscal 2019, which represenied an incresse of 108.8%, or $111.0 million, from fiscal
2018. The increase was primarily due 1o $45.5 million of amortization expense related to the Acquisition, $38.4 miflion in incremental KMG-related costs
associated with the post- Acquisition period during fiscal 2019, and $34.7 million of Acquisition and integration related costs. These items were partially offset by
the absence of executive officer transition costs of $4.2 million that occurred in the first quarter of fiscaf 2018.
ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Asscl impairment charges were $67.4 million in fiscal 2019 due to impairment of the long-lived assets in the wood treatment asset group. See Note 10 of
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” inchuded in Item 8 of Part [T of thix Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense wag $45.7 million in fiscal 2019, which represented an increase of $42.8 million, from fiscal 2018, The increase resulted from the debt
bomrowing to finance the Acquisition.

INTEREST INCOME
Interest income was $2.3 million in fiscal 2019, which represented a decrease of 46.8%, or $2.1 million from fiscal 2018 due to lower cash balances.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Other expense was $4.1 million in fiscal 2019, which increased from Other income of $0.1 million in fiscal 2018. The increase was primarily due to higher
loss on foreign exchange, the absence of the gain on sale of assets of $1.0 million, and gain on the termination of interest rate swap agreements that occwred in
fiscal 2018.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

Our effective income tax rale was 37.9% in fiscal 2019 compared to 32.0% in fiscal 2018. The increase in the cffective tax rate during fiscal 2019 was
primarily due to newly issued final regulations related to the Tax Act, which impacted our reserves for uncertain tax positions, unfavorable tax treatment of certain
Acquisition-related costs, such as compensation deduction limitations, as well as non-deductibility of certain professional fecs. Partially offsctting these adverse
items, the Tax Act reduced the corporate income tax rate 1o 21.0% effective January 1, 2018, resulting in a change in our blended tax rate of 24.5% in fiscal 2018
to 21.0% beginning with our fiscal 2019.

NET INCOME

Net income was $39.2 million in fiscal 2019, which represented a decrease of 64.4%, or $70.8 million, from fiscal 2018. The fiscal 2019 Net income was
adversely impacted by the asset impairment and restructuring charges related o the wood treatment business of $68.9 million, Acquisition-related expenses of
$34.7 mitlion, a charge for fair value write-up of acquired inventory sold of $14.9 million, costs related to the KMG-Bernuth warehouse fire of $9.9 million, and
increased tax expense related 10 newly issued final regulations related to the Tax Act, which impacted the Company’s reserves for uncertain tax positions, offset by
the increase due to the addition of KMG busincsses.
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YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018, VERSUS YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

REVENUE

Revenue was $590.1 million in fiscal 2018, which represented an increase of 16.4%, or $82.9 million, from fiscal 2017. The increase in revenue was driven
by a $52.9 million increase due to higher sales volume, a $27.5 million increase due to a higher value product mix, and a $4.4 million increase due to foreign
exchange fluctustions, partially offsct by a $1.8 million decrease due to price changes. The increase in sales volume was consistent with continued overall strong
demand conditions in the global semiconductor industry.

COST OF SALES

Total Cost of sales was $276.0 million in fiscal 2018, which represented an increase of 9.1%, or $23.0 million, from fiscal 2017. The increage in Cost of sales
was primarily driven by a $12.4 million increase due to higher sales volums, a $6.6 millicn increase in fixed manufacturing costs, including higher staffing-related
expenses, a $2.9 million increase due to product mix, a $2.0 million increase due to foreign exchange fluctuations, partially offset by a $1.0 million decrease in

other variable manufecturing costs, including material costs. Fixed manufacturing costs included $5.2 million of NexPhnar amortization expense compared to $4.8
million in the same period of fiscal 2017.

GROSS MARGIN

Qur gross margin was 53.2% in fiscal 2018 compared to 50.1% for fiscal 2017, The increase in gross margin from fiscal 2017 was primarily due to higher
sales volume and 8 higher value product mix, partially offset by higher fixed manufacturing costs, including higher staffing-related cxpenses.
RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND TECHNICAL

Total Research, development and technical expenses were $52.0 million in fiscal 2018, which represented a decrease of 5.2%, or $2.8 million, from fiscal
2017. The decrease was primarily due 1o lower professional expenses of $1.3 million, lower staffing-relaied costs of $1.0 million, and lower deprecistion and
amortization expense of $0.7 million, pastially offset by the absence of 2 gain on equipment disposal of $1.8 million thet occurred in fiscal 2017.
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling, generwl and administrative expenses were $102.0 mittion in fiscel 2018, which represented an increase of 18.0%, or $15.6 million, from fiscal 2017,
The increase was primarity due to $4.2 million in costs asseciated with executive officer transitions, $3.9 million in Acquisition and integration related costs in
connection with the Acquisition, higher long-term incentive compensation expenses of $2.5 million, higher staffing-related costs of $1.6 million, and higher
professional expenscs of $1.5 million.
INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense was $2.9 million in fiscal 2018, which represented a decrease of 35.9%, or $1.6 million, from fiscal 2017. The decrease resulted from the
payoff of our Term Loan in April 2018,

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income was $4.4 million in fiscal 2018, which represented an increase of 87.5%, or $2.1 million, from fscal 2017. The increase resulted from higher
investment balances and higher average interest rates.




OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Other income was $0.1 million in fiscal 2018, an increase of $0.5 million from fiscal 2017. The increase was primarily due to the gam on the sak of certain
assets of $1.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2018.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

Our cffective income tax rate was 32.0% in fiscal 2018 compared to 20.5% in fiscal 2017. The increase in the effective tax rate during fiscal 2018 was
primarily due to the unfavorable initjal impact of the Tax Act, which was enacted in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, and the absence of benefits of the tax holiday in
South Korea, which cxpired as of October 2017, These items were partially offset by the benefit from the adoption of ASU 2016-09 in fiscal 2018, which requires
excess tax benefits of share based exercises to be recorded as a reduction to the Provision for income taxes, rather than an increase to equity. See Note 19 of
"Nates to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part {1, Item 8 of this Aonual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our income tax
provision.

NET INCOME
Net income was $110.0 million in fiscal 2018, which represented an increasc of 26.6%, or $23.1 million, from fiscal 2017. The increase was primarily due to

higher revenue and a higher gross margin, partially offset by higher operating expenses and the $18.2 million unfavorable initial impact of the enactment of the
Tax Act in December 2017,
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INDEX

SEGMENT ANALYSIS

Segment data is presented for our twa reporieble segments for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 and 2018. The segment data should be read in
conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included clsewhere in this Annual Repont oo Form 1050

Revenue from external customers by segment and adjusted EBITDA/Margin are as follows:
Twelve Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 2017
Segment Revenue
El¢ctronic Materials 3 833,051 $ 559944 § 485034
Performance Materials 204,645 30,179 22,145
Total $  1,0376% $ 590,123 § 507,179
Twelve Months Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017
Segment Adjusted EB[TDA:
Electronic Materials $ 294902 § 222,019 3 169,044
Performance Materials 91,372 7,191 2,516
Unallocated corporate cxpenses (52.856) (39,266) (34,050)
Total $ 333418 § 139944 § 137,510
Twelve Months Ended September 34,
w19 2018 2017
Adjusted EBITDA Margin
Electronic Materials 354 % 397 % 349 %
Performance Materials 44.6 % 238 % 11.4 %

THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 38, 2019, VERSUS YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 34, 2018
ELECTRONIC MATERIALS

The $273.1 million increase in Electronic Materials revenue was primarily driven by the addition of KMG's electronic chemicals bnsiness since the
Acquisition. Further increase was driven by higher value product mix and strong organic demand for the Company’s heritage CMP pads product line, which
increased 13.8%, primarily on higher sales volume, partially offset by the decrease in Company's heritage CMP slurries products due to the softer indostry
conditions. The mcrease in adjusted EB[TDA for Electronic Materials increased from the prior year was driven by the addition of KMG's clectronic chemicals, as
well as stropger profitability, driven by the leverage achicved on higher sales volume of the Company’s legacy CMP polishing pads product line. The lower
adjusted EBITDA margin was primarily due to change in mix of products as a result of the Acquisition.

PERFORMANCE MATERIALS
The $174.5 million increase in Performance Malterials revenue was primarily driven by the addition of KMG's performance materials business post-

Acquisition. Performance Meterialy’ adjusted EBITDA and edjusted EBITDA margin expanded from the prior year due to the nddition of KMG’s herilage
performance materials business.




USE OF CERTAIN GAAF AND NON-GAAFP FINANCIAL INFORMATION

We provide certain non-GAAP financial information, such as adjusted EBITDA apd adjusted EBITDA margin, to complement reported GAAP resulta
because we believe that analysis of our financial performance is enhanced by an understanding of these non-GAAP financial measures. We exclude certain iterms
from camings when presenting our adjusted EBITDA measure because we belicve they will be incurred infrequently and/or are atherwise not indicative of a
scgment's regular, ongoing operating performance. Accordingly, we believe that they aid in evaluating the underlying operational perfarmance of our business, and
facilitate comparisons between periods. In addition, adjusted EBITDA is used as a basis of the performance metric for our fiscal 2019 Short-Term Incentive
Program (STIP). A similar EBITDA calculation is also used by our lenders for a key debt compliance ratio.

Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as adjustcd EBITDA as a percentage of revenue. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as eamings before interest, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, adjusted for certain items that affect comparability from period to period. These adjustments include items related to the
Acquisition, such as expenses incurred to complete the Acquisition and integration related expenses, costs of restructuring and asset impairment related to the
wood treatment business, costs related 10 the KMG-Bernuth warehousc fire, and impact of fair value adjustments to inventory scquired from KMG.

The non-GAAP financial information provided is & supplement to, and not a substituic for, the Company’s financial results presented in sccordance with U.S.
GAAP. Mansgement strongly encourages investors to review the Company's consalidated financial statemnents in their entirety and to not rely on any single
financial measure, These non-GAAF financial measures are provided to enhance the investor's understanding about the Company's ongoing operations.
Specifically, the Company belicves the impact of Acquisition-related expenses and Acquisition-related amortization expenses are not indicative of its core
opcrating results, and thus presents these certain metrics excluding Whese effects. The presentation of non-GAAP financial information is not meant to be
considered in isolation ar as a substitute for results prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. A reconciliation table of GAAP 1o non-GAAP financial
measures is contained below.

Adjusted EBITDA for the Electronic Materials and Performance Materials segmenis is presented in conformity with Accounting Standards Cedification Topic
280, Segment Reporting. This measure is reported to the chic! operating decision maker for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the
segments and asgessing their performance. For thess reasons, this measure is excluded from the definition of non-GAAP financial measures under the SEC
Regulation G and Item 13{e) of Regulation S-I
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RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO ADJUSTED EBITDA

_The table below presents the reconciliation of Net income to adjisted EBITDA. A.djumd EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under-
GAAP and should not bé considered as an alternative to Net income. Adjl.mted EBITDA may have limitations as an snalytical tool and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitutc for anelysis ofourmﬂuureponedmderGAAP

Y

Twelve Months Ended September 30,

2019 2018 _ 2017_
Segment Adjusted EBITDA i
Electrotic Materials - - s 294902 222019 169,044

{ Performance Materiels 91,372 7,191 2,516
Unallocated Corporate Expenses . C (52,856) "(39,266) (34,050)
[ Toml 5 333418 S 189,944 § 137,510 |

Twelve Months Euded September 10,

_ 2019 2018 2017
Net income 3 39215 § 110,043 $ 86952 |
Interest ckpense - ' 45,681 2,905 4,529
Interest income (2,346) (4.40%) @351
Income taxes o .- 23,891 51,668 22,420
Depreciation and amortization 98,502 25,376 25930 |
EBITDA* v - 205,033 186,083 137,480
‘Acquisition and integration related expense 34,709 3,861 — ]
Charge for fair value write-up of aciuired inventory sold- . 14,869 — —
Cost relaied 10 KMG-Bermuth warchouse fire 9,905 — — ]
Costs related to restructuring of wood treatment buginess ' 1,530 T — —
Charges related 1o asset impairment of Wood treatment business 61372 — — ]
Adjusted EB[TDA** s 333,418 $. 189944  § 137,480

) 1, -

* EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tixes, depreciation end amortization:
b Adju.ucd EBITDA is cakulated by excluding items from EBITDA that arc beli¢ved to be infrequent or oot indicative.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We generated $175.0 million in cash flows from operating activities in fiscal 2019, $168.9 million in fiscal 2018 and $141.4 million in fiscal 2017. Our cash
provided by operating activities in fiscal 2019 reflected Net income of $39.2 million, $175.2 million in non-cash items reconciling items, including $67.4 million
related to the wood treatrnent assct impairment charges partially offset by increases in working capital of $39.4 million. Our cash provided by operating activities in
fiscal 2018 reflected Net income of $110.0 million, $66.8 million in non-cash reconciling items. The increase in cash flows from operating activities in fiscal 2018
was primarily dus to higher revenue and gross margin, partially offset by an increase in working capital,

In fiscal 2019, cash flows used in investing activities were $1,233.0 million, representing property, plant and equipment additions of $56.0 million and
$1,182.2 million used for the Acquisition, net of cash inflows of $5.2 million from msurance policies and disposition of property. The remainder of the Acquisition
was satisfied with the issuance of common stock. In fiscal 2018, cash flows used in investing activities were $22.8 million, representing $21.3 million for
purchases of property, plant and equiprment, net of inflows related to purchases and sales of investments. In fiscal 2017, we used $19.8 million in investing
activities representing $21.2 million for purchases of property, piant and equipment, net of $1.2 million in proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment,

In fiscal 2019, cash flows provided from financing activities were $894.4 million. During the first quarter of fiscal 2019, we received $1,043.6 million in debt
proceeds, net of $18.7 million in debt issuance costs end $2.7 million original discount fees, which was used for the Acquisition. In fiscal 2019, we paid $105.3 of
this debt. [n addition, our dividend payments increased $15.6 million to $46.3 million.

On the Acquisition Date, we entered into 8 credit agreement by and among the Company, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent (the “Credit Agreement™), which provides for senior secured financing of up to $1,265.0 million, consisting of a term loan facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $1,065.0 million (the “Term Loan Facility™) and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $200.0 million,
meluding a letter of credit sub-facility of up to $50.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility™). The Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility are
referred to as the “Credit Facilities." The Company may generally prepay outstanding loans under the Credit Facilitics at any time, without prepayment premium
or penalty, subject to customary “breakage™ costs with respect to LIBOR rate loans. We made a total prepayment of $100.0 million during fiscal 2019. The
Revolving Credit Facility requires that the Company maintain a maximum first lien secured net leverage ratio, as defined i the Credit Agreement, of 4.00 to 1.00
as of the last day of each fiscal quarter if any revolving loans are outstanding, commencing with the first full fiscal quarter after the Acquisition Date. Additionally,
the Credit Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that limit the ability of the Company, among other things and subject to certain
significant exceptions, to incur debt or liens, make investments, enter into certain mergers, consolidations, assct sales and acquisitions, pay dividends and make
other restricted payments and enter into transactions with affiliates, The Credit Agreement alzo contains custemary affirmative covenants and cvents of default We
believe we are in compliance with these covenants. In the second quarter of fiscal 2019, we entered imto a floating-1o-fixed interest rate swap agreement to hedge
the variability in our LIBOR-based interest payments on approximately 70% of our Team Loan balance. Sec Note 13 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. for additional information regarding the Credit Agreement.

In January 2016, our Board of Directors authorized an increase in the amount available imder cur share repurchase program from the previously remaining
$75.0 million to $150.0 million. As of Seplember 30, 2019, $71 3 million remains available under our share repurchase program. Sharc repurchases are made
from time to time, depending on market and other conditions. The timing, manner, price and amounts of repurchases are determined at the Company’s discretion,
and the share repurchase program may be suspended, terminated or modificd at any time for any reason. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company
to acquire any gpecific number of shares. To date, we have funded share purchases under our share repurchase program from our available cash balance, and
anticipate we will continue to do £0. Periodically, we have enlered into *10b5-1" stock purchase plan agreements with independent brokers to repurchase shares of
our common stock in accordance with guidelines pursuant o Rule 10b5-1 of the Securittes Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A plan under Rufe 10b5-1 allows
a companty o repurchase iis shares at times when it olherwise might be prevented from doing so under insider trading laws or because of sclf-imposed trading
blackout periods. Repurchases are subject to SEC regulations as well as ceriain conditions specified in the plan.
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Our Board of Directors authorized the initiation of our regular quarterly cash dividend program in Jamuary 2016, and since that time has increased the
dividend twice, to its current level of $0.42 per share. The declarution end payment of future dividends is subject to the discretion and determination of the Board
of Directors and management, based on a variety of factors, and the program may be suspended, terminated or modified at any time for any reason.

As of September 30, 2019, we had $182.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, $124.3 million of whith was held m foreign subsidiaries. Sec Part I, Item 1A
entitled "Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-X for additional discussion of our foreign operations.

We believe that our current balance of cash, cash gencrated by our operations, cash repatristion to the United States, and aveilable borrowing capacity under
our Credit Facilities will be sufficient to fund our operations, expected capital cxpenditures, dividend payments, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve
months. However, in pursuit of corporate dovelopment or other initiatives, we may nced to raisc additional funds in the fisture through equity or debt financing, or
other arrangements. Depending on future conditions in the capital and credit markets, we could encounter difficulty securing additional financing in the type or
amount necessary to pursue these objectives.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

At September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, we did not have any unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entitics often referred to as
structured finance or special purpose entities, which might have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements.
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TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following summarizes our contractual obligations at September 30, 2019, and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash
flow in future periods.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS Less Than 1-3 35 After 5

(In millions) Total 1Year Years Years Years

Debt 959.7 133 213 213 503.8
Interest expense and fecs 209.7 489 71.6 68.7 40.5
Purchase obligations 61.1 587 24 — —
Operating leases 36.0 7.0 92 78 12.0
Severance agreements 32 3.1 0.1 — —
Other long-term liabilitics * 215 — 136 0.5 13.4
Total contractual obligations L] 1,317.2  § 1310 § 1182 § 983 3§ 969.7

* We have excluded $122.0 million in deferred tax liabilities and $12.1 million of liabilities for uncertain tax positions from the other long-term liability amounts
presented, as the amounts and timing of payments to be settled in cagh are not known. We have also excluded $18.8 million related to the fair value of our
interest rate swap and $0.8 million in dcferred rent as the rent payments are included in the table above under the caption "Operating leases.”

INTEREST AND FEES ON LONG-TERM DEBT

Interest payments on long-term debl reflect interest rates in cffect at September 30, 2019. The interest payments reflect LIBOR rates currently m effect on
$260.7 million of our cutstanding debt, and reflect fixed interest rates on $699 million of outstanding debt for which we have executed interest rate swaps.
Commitment fees arc based on our cstimated consolidated leverage ratio in future periods. See Note 13 of “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements™
mcluded i Item 8 of Part IT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our long-term debl

PURCHASE OBLIGATIONS

We bave been operating under a multi-year supply agreement with Cabot Corporation, which has not been & related party since 2002, for the purchase of a
particular abrasive particle, the current term of which runs through December 31, 2019. Purchase obligations include an aggregate amount of $5.9 million of
contractual commitments related to this agreement. In additicn, we have purchase commitment of $9.7 million 1o purchase non-water-based carrier fluid, and have
another purchase coniract to purchase $4.1 million of abrasive particles.

OPERATING LEASES

We lease certain vehicles, warehouse facilities, office space, machinery and equipment under cancelable and noncancelable operating leases, most of which
expire within ten years of their respective commencement dates and may be renewed by us.

SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS

Lisbilities for severance agreements at September 30, 2019 represent payments to be made to former o to be former employees in accordance with individual
agrecments,

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities at September 30, 2019 primarily consist of $12.7 million asset retirement obligations and $8.8 million of liabilities related to our
foreign benefit plans in Japan and South Korea
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SUPPLEMENTAL UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information is presented to jllustrate the estimated effects of the Acquisition, which was
consummated on November 15, 2018 (the “Acquisition Date'"), based on the historical results of operations of Cabot Microelectronics and KMG. See Note 4 of
"Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part 1T, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additienal information on the Acquisition.
The following Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 are
based on the historical financial slatements of Cabot Microelectronics and KMG efier giving effect to the Acquisition, and the assumptions and edjustments
described in the sccompanying notes to these Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statemnents of Income.

The historical Cabot Microelectronics Congolidaied Statements of Income for the twelve months ended Sepremaber 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 were
derived from the consolidaied financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical KMG Consolidated Statements of
Income for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019, as well as the historical KMG Consolidated Statements of Income for the twelve months ended
Scpiember 30, 2018 include information detived from KMG's books and records. Prior to the Acquisition, KMG was on a July 31st fiscal year end reporting
cycle. These pro forma financials include actual KMG's pre-Acquisition results with the months aligned to Cabot Microelectronics® fiscal periods, and therefore,
they do not align with consolidated financial siatements included in KMG’s Quarterly or Annual Reports on Form 10-Q or 10-K.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income are presented as if the Acquisition had been consummated on October 1, 2017, the first
business day of our 2018 fiscal year, and combine the historical resulis of Cabot Microelectronics and KMG, which is consistent with internal management
reporting, afler primarily giving effect to the following assumptions and adjustments:

Application of the acquisition method of accounting;

Elimination of transaction ¢osts incurred in connection with the Acquisition;

Adjustments to reflect the new financing arrangements entered into and legacy financing arrangements retired in connection with the Acquisition;
The exchange of 0.2000 share{s) of Cabot Microclectronics commeon stock for each share of KMG common stock; and

Conformance of accounting policies,

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other
things, that asseis eequired and liabilitics assumed in 5 business combination be recognized at their fair vatues as of the completion of the acquisition. We utilized
cstimaled fuir values at the Acquisition Date to allocate the total consideration exchanged to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and lisbilities assumed.
This allocation was initially completed as of November 15, 2018 and finalized in the fourth quarter of fscal 2019.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined financial information has been prepared on the basis of SEC Regulation S-X Article 11 and is not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations that would have been realized hed the transactions been completed as of the dates indicated, nor are they meant to be
indicative of our anticipated combined future results. In addition, the accampanying Unaudited Pro Forms Condensed Combined Statements of Income do not
reflect any additionat anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies, cost savings, or any inlegration costs that may result from the Acquisition.

The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusied i the accompanying Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income to
give effect to unaudited pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the transaction, (2) factually supporiable and (3) are expected to have a continuing
mmpact on the results of operations of the combined company. As u result, under SEC Regulation 5-X Article 11, certain non-recurring expenses such as deal costs
and compensation expenses related o severance or accelerated stock compensation and certain non-cesh costs related to the fair value step-up of inventory are
eliminated from pro forma results in the periods presented. Certain recurring historical KMG expenses related to deprecistion, amortization, financing costs and
costs of sales have been adjusted as if the Acquivition had occurred on October 1, 2017.

In contrast, under the ASC 805 presentation in Note 4 of "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, these expenses arc required to be included in prior year pro forma results.
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The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information, including the related notes included bereigshould be read in conjunction with Cabat
Microelectronica” Current Report on Forin 8-K/A filed on January 30, 2019, as well as the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, and the historical consolidated financial statements and related notes of Cabot Microelectronics and KMG, which are available to the public
at the SEC's website at www.sec.gav.

CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION

Unauodited Pro Forma Candensed Combined Statements of Income
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

(In thonsands, except per share dats)

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018

Revenue s 1,099,674 S 1,063,563
Cost of sales 623,303 598,049
Gross profit 47637 465,514
Operating cxpenses:

Research, development and technical 51,707 51,950
Selling, general and administrative expenscs 221,758 204,875
Asget impairment charges 51,186 —
Total operating cxpenses 324,651 256,825
Operating income 151,720 208,689
[nterest expense 53,743 51,804
Interest income 2,397 4,493
Other income (expense), net (4.313) (1,073)
Income before income taxes 96,061 160,305
Provision for mcome taxes 26,388 33,925
Net income s 9,673 § 126,380
Basic carnings per share s 240 § 4.40
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 28979 28,755
Diluted eamings per share $ 236 § 4,29
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 29,502 29,480
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
Unauodited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Income
For the Year Ended September 38, 2019

(in thousands, except per share data)
Cabot Microelectronics
1)) KMG Chemicals (2)
Year Ended September  October 1, 2018 to Presentation Pro Forma Pro Forma
340, 2019 November 14, 2018 Reclrasification (3) Adjuostinents (4) Comblned
Revenue b3 1,0376% § 61978 § - 3 — 5 1,099,674
Cost of sales 595,043 36,534 4,741 (13,015) 623,303
Gross profit 442 653 25,444 (4,741) 13,015 476,371
Operating expenses:
Distribution expenses — 4,741 (4,741) — —
Research, development and technical 51,707 — — —_ 51,707
Selling, general and administrative
cxpenscs 213,078 40,504 —_ (31,824) 221,758
Amortization of intangibles — 1,943 — (1,943) —
Asset impairment charges 67,372 — — {16,186) 51,186
Total operating expenses 332,157 47,188 (4,741) (49,953) 324,651
Operating income {loss) 110,496 (21,744) — 62,968 151,720
Interest expense 45,681 8,537 — (475) 53,743
Interest income 2,346 51 — — 2,397
Derivative fair value gain — 567 — (567) —
Other income (expensc), net (4.055) (258) — — (4,313)
Income (loss) before mcome taxcs 63,106 (29,921) _ 62,876 96,061
Provision for income taxes (benefit) 23,891 (3,722) — 6219 26388
Net income (loss) $ 36215 § (26,199) $ - 8 56,657 § 69,673
Basic carnings per share $ 137 — 3 2.40
Weighted average basic shares
outstanding 28,571 — 28,979
Diluted carnings per share H 135 § — s 2.36
Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding 29,094 — 29,502

! Includes heritage Cabot Microelectronics from October 1, 2018 to September 30, 2019 and heritage KMG from November 15, 2018 to September 30, 2019, On
November 15, 2018, the Acquisition was completed and actual combined company results arc incheded.

2 Heritage KMG results that occurred prior to the Acquisition on November 15, 2018,

3 Represents the reclagsification of KMG distribution expenses from Operating expenses to Cost of sales, in order to conform with Cabot Microclectronics’
accounting policics.

4 Certain pro forma adjustmenty related to depreciation, amortization, financing costs and Costs of sales have been made for the October 1, 2018 to September 30,
2019 period assuming that the Acquisition occurred on October 1, 2017. Additionally, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments have been made for deal costs,
compensation expenses related 1o severance or accelerated stock compensation, and the fair value step-up of inventory directly attributeble throughout the twelve-
month period.

54




CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION

Unandited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income

For the Year Ended September 30, 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

Cabot
Microelectronics KMG Chemicals (1)
Pro Forma
Year Ended Year Ended Presentation Adjostments Pro Forma
September 30,2018 Scptember 30,2018 Reclassification (2) @) Combined
Revenue s 590,123 § 473440 § — 5 — 3 1,063,563
Cost of sales 276,018 272,517 35,939 13,575 598,049
Gross profit 314,108 200,923 (35,939) (13,575} 465,514
Operating cxpenses:
Distribution expenses — 35,939 (35,939) — —
Research, development and technical 51,950 — — — 51,950
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 102,037 62,563 40275 204,875
Amortization of intangibles — 14,650 — (14,690) —
Total operating expenses 153,987 113,192 {35,939) 25,585 256,825
Openating income 160,118 87,731 —_ (39,160) 208,689
Interest expense 2,905 18,899 — 30,000 51,804
Interest income 4,409 B4 — — 4,493
Loss on the extinguishment of debt — 6,858 — (6,858) —
Derivative fair value gain — 5,685 — (5,68%5) —
Other income (cxpense), pet 89 (1,162} — — (1.073)
Income before income taxes 161,711 66,581 — (67,987) 160,305
Provision for incoms taxes 51,668 57 — {17,800) 33,925
Net mcotne S 110,043 § 66,524 3§ — 8 (50,187) § 126,380
Basic earnings per share $ 431 8 452 5 4,40
Wreighted average basic shares
outstanding 25,518 14,708 28,755
Diluted earnings per share s 419 3 4.40 [ 4.29
Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding 26243 15,111 29,430

1 Shares cutstanding for KMG are calculated from the KMG Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2018, They are intended for
illustrative purposes only and do not impact pro forma EPS calculations at right. Twelve months ended September 30, 2018 KMG share calculations were not

available.

2 Represents the reclassification of KMG distribution expenses from Operating expenses to Cost of sales, in order to conform with Cabot Microclectronics®

accounting policies.

3 Pro forma adjustments are related to non-recurming items directly atmbutable to the transaction as well as recurring differences related to depreciation,
amortization, compensation or financing costs that were inchuded as if the companies were combined as of October 1, 2017.
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
Summary of Pro Forma Adjustments
(in thonsands, except per share dats)

Impact to Cost of sales:
Depreciation and amortization, net (a)
Inventory step-up (b)

Impact to Cost of sales

Impsct fo Operating expenge:

Depreciation and amortization, net (a)

Asset impairment true up (c)

Compensation expense (d)

Deal costs (c)

Historical KMG amortization in other operating expenses removal ()
Impact to Operating expenyes

Impacet to Other income (expense), net:
Loss on the extinguishment of debt {f)
Detivative fair value gam (f)

Impact to Other Income (expense), net

Impact to [nterest expense:
Interest expense (g)
I[mp#ct 1o [aterest expense

Year Ended Year Ended

September 30, 2019 September 30, 2018

$ 1,855 § 13,5758
(14,370) —

s (13,015) § 13,575
30,689 48,806

(16,186) -

(38,099) 263

(24,414) (B,79%4)
(1,943) (14,650)

s (49,953 § 25,585
— (6,858)

(567) 5,685

§ (567) § (1,173)
(475) 30,000

b ] 475) 3§ 30,000

Adjusmments included in the sccompanying Upaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income are as follows:

a. Depreciation and amortization expense are adjusted by removing depreciation and amortization agsociated with heritage KMG assets and assigning a pro
forma expense based on the fair value of the aszets on the date of the Acquisition. For periods after the date of the Acquisition, there is no pro forma
adjustment for Depreciation and actual booked depreciation is reflected on a straight-line basis. Depreciation costs are allocated to Cost of sales and
Selling, general and administrative expenses based on historical KMG allocations. Amortization costs are allocated to Cost of sales or Selling, general and

administrative expense based on the usc of the asset, where applicable.

b. Cost of sales is impacted by increased inventory balance caused by the non-cash impact of the step up to fair value of the inventory. The incremental costs

of gales driven by the inventory step-up during the period have been removed.

¢. During the three months ended September 30, 2019, Asset impairment charges in the amount of $67.4 million were incurred related to the wood treatment
business, which was acquired from KMG., It was determined that the facts and circumstances that triggered the impaimment were not known, or could not
harve boen reasonably kmown, at the time of the transaction. Further, it was determined that the Asset impairment charges were not directly attributable to

the Acquisition and therefore, would not be wholly removed for purposes of pro forma reporting. Since the Asset impairment charges taken for Sepiember

2019 reported results were based on the Acquisition Date while the pro forma financials are based upon en October 1, 2017 acquisition date, the pro
forma adjustment of $16.2 million to reduce the asset impainment charges to $51.2 million for pro forma results is required. This adjustment reflects the
difference between amortization and depreciation expense recognized post-Acquisition from the earlier pro forma acquisition date va. the amortization
and depreciation expense recognized in reported results from the Acquigition Date. The impairment adjustment is tax cffected at 25.3%, which considers
the faxing jurisdictions where the impaired assets are held (United States and Mexico) and the period for which the impairment is deemed to have

oceurred (the three months ended Seplember 30, 2019).
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d. Directly attributable and non-recurring compensation expense related to non-recurring retention expenses and stock award vesting directly attributable 1o
the Acquisition are removed for pro forma purposes. For KMG stock awards that were replaced by Company stock awards in connection with the
Acquisition (“Replacement Awards™), the vesting for on-going service expenses are added as a pro forma adjustment.

€. The elimination of non-recurring deal costs incurred in connection with the Acquisition.

f.  Asaresult of the Acquisition, there were non-recurring costs incurred by KMG ax a result of retiring old debt. The costs azsociated with retiring the old
debt facility and other financial instruments are removed for pro forma purposcs. These instruments were retired as a result of the Acquisition and are not
included in the pro forma regults, which are presented as if the Acquisition had occurred on October 1, 2017.

g Changes in Interest expense as a tesult of financing associsted with the Acgnisition. The sdjustments remove heritage KMG interest costs, including
unused revolver fees and adds the costs associated with the new financing facilities as if the Acquisition occurred an October 1, 2017. The cajculation of
Interest expense considers the changing LIBOR rate and uses monthly period end averages from Octlober 1, 2017 to September 30, 2019.

We calculated the income tax effect of the pro forma adjustments using a 21.4% end 23.4% tax ratc, which represent the weighted average statutory 1ax rate
for the ycars ended September 30, 2019 and Scplember 30, 2018, respectively.

In addition, for the 2018 periods presented, we calculated the unaudited pro forma weighted average number of basic ghares ouistanding by adding the Cabot
Microelectronics weighted average number of basic shares outstanding from the share amounts disclosed in the historical Quarierly and Annual Reports on Form
10-Q and 10-K,, respectively, to the amount of shares igsued in connection with the Acquisition, as if the shares were hield for the entire period.

We calculated the unaudited pro forma weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding by adding the number of shares issued in the Acquisition (o the
amount disclosed in the historical Cabot Microelectronics Quarterly and Annual Reports on Form 10-Q and 10-K, respectively.

The basic and diluted EPS calculation takes pro forroa Net income divided by the applicable number of shares outstanding.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
EFFECT OF CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATES AND EXCHANGE RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

We conduct business operations outside of the United States through our foreign operations. Some of our {oreign operations maintain their accounting records
in their local currencics. Consequently, period to peried compambility of results of aperations is affected by fluctuations in exchange rates. The primary currencies
to which we have exposure are the Korean won, Japanese yen, the New Taiwan dollar, Euro, British pound, and Singapore dollar. Approximately 22% of our
revenue is transacted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. However, outside of the Uniled States, we also incur expenises that are transacted in currencies other
then the U.S. dollar, which mitigates the exponure on the Consolidated Statements of Income. We periodically enter into forward contracts in an cffort to manage
foreign currency exchsnge exposure on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, we are unlikely to be able 1o hedge these exposures completely. We do not
enter into farward contracts or other derivative instrurnents for speculative or trading purposes.

Currency fluctuations have not had a material impact on our Consolidated Statements of Income during fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017. While fluctuations
of the yen and won have not had a significant impact cn other comprebensive income on our Consolidated Balance Shecets in fiscal 2018, they did have s
gignificant impact in fiscal years 2019 and 2017. We recorded $8.5 million in currency translation losscs and $6.7 million is currency translalion gains, net of tax,
during fiscal years 2019 and 2017, respectively, which was included in other comprehensive income.

MARKET RISK AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS RELATED TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK
We have performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% additiopal adverse movement in foreign exchange rates. As of September 30, 2019,
the analysis demonstrated that such market movements would not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of opemations or

cash flows over a one-ycar period. Actual gains and losses in the future may differ materially from this analysis based on changes in the timing and amount of
foreign currency rate movements and our actual exposures.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

110.
111

All otber schedulés are omiitted, becatise they are not required, arc not applicable, or the information is inchuded in the consolidated financial satements and
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Report of Independent Registered Public Acconnting Firm
To the Board of Direclors and Stockholders of Cabot Microelectronics Corporution
Opinions on the Finencial Statements and Internal Control ever Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation and its subsidiarics (the “Company™) as of September
30, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended Seplember 30, 2019, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred
to as the “consolidated financial statements’). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2019, based on
criteria established in fmternal Control - Integrated Framework{2013) issued by the Commitice of Sponsoring Orgenizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO0).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to ebove present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
September 30, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Scptember 30, 2019in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinicn, the Company maintained, in all material reapects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Conirol - Infegrated Framework(2013) issued by the
COS0.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management ix responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for meintaining cffective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its asscssment of the effectiveness of mtemal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report cn Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearing under Ilem 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidaied financial statements and on the Company’s mternal control over
financial reporting based on our audits, We are 2 public sccounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAQB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal gecurities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our sudits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obinin reasonable
assurance abot whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective mtemnal
contro! over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evatuating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internel control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakmess exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We belicve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As described in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, menagetnent has excluded KMG Chemicals, Ine, (*KMG™) from its
agsessment of internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2019, because it was acquired by the Company in & purchase business combination
during fiscal 2019. We have also excluded KMG from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. KMG is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total asscts
and total revenves excluded from management’s assessment and our audit of internal ¢control over financial reporting represent 14.0%% and 43.5%, respectively, of
the relatcd consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019,

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is 2 process designed 10 provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial stalements far external purposcs in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting inciudes those policies and procedures that




(i) periain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the essets of the company; (ii)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being mede only in accordance with authorizations of management and direclors of
the company; and {iii) provide rcasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unsuthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
cffectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate,

Critical Audit Matters

The critical andit matters commuaicated below are matiers arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
commuumicated or required to be communicated to the audit commitice and that (i) relate 1o accounts or digclosures that are material to the consolidated financial
stalcments and (ii} involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way
our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken az a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit maners below, providing zeparate
opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Valuation of Acquired Customer Relationships Intangible Assets Related 1o Flowchem and Electronic Chemicals

As described in Noie 4 1o the consolidated financial staternents, the Company completed the acquisition of KMG for total consideration of $1,536.5 million in
fisca! year 2019, which included $595.0 million of customer relationships intangible asscts being recorded related to Flowchem and Electronic chemicals. The fair
value of acquired identifiable intangible assets, including customer relationships, was determined using the income approach on an individual asset basis. The key
essumptions used by management in the calculation of the discounted cash flows include projected revenues, operating expenses, discount rates, terminal growth
rates, and customer aftrition rates.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating o the valustion of the acquired customer relationships intangible asscis
related to Flowchem and Electronic chemicals is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment by management when determining the fair value estimate
of the customer relationships intangible agsets acquired. This in tumn led to a high degree of anditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and
evaluating audit evidence related to management’s significant assumptions, including the projecied revenues, operating expenses, discount rates, icrminal growth
rates, and customer attrition rates. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of profestionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these
procedures and evaluating the sudit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performmg pruoedum and ¢valuating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statenents. These procedurcs included testing the effectiveness of controls relaling 1o the acquisition accounting, including controls over management's
valuation of the intangible agscts and controls over development of the assumptions related to the valuation of these assets, including projected revenues, operating
expenses, discount rates, ierminal growth raies, and customer attrition rates. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for
determining the fair value of the customer relationships intangible assets; evaluating the appropriatencss of the discounted cash {low model and the reasonableness
of significant sssumptions, inchiding the projected revenues, operating expenscs, discount rates, ierminal growth rates, and customer atirition raies; and testing Lhe
completeness, accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the discounted cash flows. Evalmnmg the reasonableness of the projected revenucs and operating
expenses involved considering the past performance of the acquired business, as well as ecenemic and industry forecasis, Professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge were used 1o assist in the evaluation of the discounted cash {low model and certain significant assumptions, including the discount rates, terminal
growth rates, and customer atirition ratcs.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment Assessment - Wood Treatment

As described in Notes 2 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Company
recognized a pre-tax impairment of $67.4 million in the Performance Materials segment related to certain long-lived assets within the wood treatment reporting
unit, which is also an asset group. The currying value of the long-lived assets after impairment was $13.9 million. Management assesses the recoverability of the
carrying value of its long-lived assets to be held and used whencver events or changes in circumstances indicate that the camrying vahie may not be recoverable.
Management believes events subsequent 1o the acquisition date of KMG, including management’s decision 1o cease
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capital investment in the wood treatment business, and shifting market perceptions of environmental risks and costs, resulted in a triggering event to assess the agset
group for impairment. The asset group did 1ot pass the recoverability test and the Company proceeded to measure an impairment, Management estimated the fair
value of the asset group and recognized an impairment loss for the amount that fair value exceeded carrying vahue. Fair value of the assst group was estimated by
mapagement using an income approach based on a discounted cash flow model. Management used probability-weighted cash flows, including scenarios for
continued operations and potential for a sale of the business. Management's fair-value estimaie for the wood treatment asset group included significant judgments
and assumptions refating to projected revenues through the expected closure of the existing facilities.

The principal comsiderations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the long-lived asset impairment assessment of the wood treatment
asset group is a critical audit matter are there was significant judgment by management when determining the fair vatue of the asset group. This in turn led to & high
degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating sudit evidence related Lo management’s significant assumptions,
including projected revenucs through the expected closure of the cxisting facilities. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized
#kill and kmowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evalvating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating sudit evidence in connection with forming cur overall apinion on the cansolidated
financial statcrents. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the valuation of the woed treatment asset group, These procedures
also included, among others, testing management's process for determining the fair value of the asset group; eveluating the appropriateniess of the discounted cash
flow model; testing the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the discounted cash flow model; and evaluating the reasonablencss of
significant assumptions used by management, including the projected revenunes through the expected closure of the existing facilities. Evaluating the
reasonableness of projected revenues through the expected closure of the existing facilitics involved considering (i) current and past performance of the asset
group, (ii) conginency with cxternal market data and (iii) whether the assumptions were consistent with ¢vidence obtained in other areas of the adit. Professionals
with specialized skill and kmowledge were used to assist in the cvaluation of the discounted cash flow modet.

/a/ PricewatethouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, [llinois
November 27, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1999.
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.CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In u:omndl, except per share amounts) .

- Year Ended September 30,

2019 2018 017 _
v . - Yy !
Revenue $  1,0376% S 590,123 § 507,179 |
1

Cost of sales 595,043 276,018 253,050 |
[ Grossprofit 442,653 314,105 254,129

Operating expenses: ] . |
Research, development and technical ' 51,707, _ _51,950 54,798

[ Selling, genera! and administrative 213,078 102,037 86,483 |
Ay ra— T 61T ' — 860

| Total operating sxpenses 332,157 153,987 142,141 |

Operating income 110,496 160,118 111,928 |

Interest expense 45,681 2,905 4,529 I
Interest income 2,346 4,409 2,351

Other income (expense), net (4,055) 89 (438) |
Income before income taxes . 63;106 161,711 109,372
Provision for income taxes - 3,91 51,668 22,420

L j
Nét income $ 39215 110043 S 86,952

l - _ _ _
Basic eamings per share S 137 § T431 8 347

I J
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 28,571 . © 25,518 25,015

L ]
Dilited earnings per share s 135§ 419 S 340

L _ _ ]

Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 29,094 -26,243: 25,512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In'thousands, cxcept per share amounts)

Year Ended September 30,
2019 ] 2018 2017
Net income [ 39215 § 110,043 § 86,952 |
Other comprehﬁsive income (1083), net of tax: j
Foreign currency translation adjustments  * - ) (8,548) _ 679 {6,746)

[ Minimum pension liability adjustment (449) (26) 276 |
Net unircalized (Icss) gain on cash flow hedges -~ {18,780) (63) 863
[ - +
Other comprebensive mcome (loss), net of tax 1 (27,777) 590 (5.607)
C 3
Comprechensive income : - 11,438 $ 110,633 § 81,345

The accorapanying notes are an inicgral part of these consolidated financial statements.




CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

September 30,
2019 2018
ASSETS
Curren assets:
Cash and cash equivalents s 188495 § 352,921
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of §2,377 at September 30, 2019, and 51,900 at Septcmber 30,

2018 146,113 75,386
[nventories 145278 71,926
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 28,670 22,048

Tatal current assets 508,556 522,781

Property, plant and equipmeat, net 276,818 111,403
Goodwill 710,071 101,083
Other intangible assets, pet 754,044 35202
Dreferred income texes 6,566 5,840
Other long-term assets 5711 4,664
Total asscts $ 2261766 $ 780,973
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts paysble $ 54529 § 18,171
Current portion of long-term debt 13,313 —
Accrued expenses, mcome taxes payable and other current liabilitics 103,618 82,983
Total current liabilities 171,460 101,154
Long-term debt, net of current portion, less prepaid debt issuance cost of $17,900 et September 30, 2019 and $0 at
September 30, 2018 928,463 —
Deferred income taxes 121,993 81
Other long-term liabilitics 59,473 13,046
Totl liabilities 1,281,389 114,281
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Stockholders' equity:
Common Stock: Authorized: 200,000,000 shares, $0.001 par vatue; Issued: 39,592,468 shares at September 30, 2019 and

35,862,465 shares at September 30, 2018 40 36
Capital in excess of par value of common stock 988,980 622,498
Retained carnings 461,501 471,673
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (23,238) 4,539
Treasury stock at cost, 10,491,252 shares at September 30, 2019 and 10,356,147 shares at September 30, 2018 (446,506) (432,054)

Total stockholders' equity 980,377 666,692

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 2261766 § 780,973

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Year Ended September 30,
1019- 2018 2017

Cash ﬂows from operatmg activities: ] i ]
Net income T . H 39215 .§ 110043 § 86952
Adjusm:cntsmrecomleNetmcometonetmhpmwdedbyopamgmwna _]

Deprecintion and amortization 98,592 25,376 25930
[ Accretion on ARO - Lisbilities 530 — — ]

Provision for doubtful eccounts . 432" 185 26
| Share-based compensation expense 18,227 18,517 13,004 |

Deemed repatriation transition tax — 11,340 —

[ Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (27.150) 10,835 392 |
Non-cash foreign exchange (gain)loss . ’ ) 839 373) 435
{_Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant sod oqmpmem (36) 9] (1,820) |
‘Impairment of assets - 67372 — 860-

[ Realized loss on the sale of available-for-sale securities — % — ]
Non-cash charge on inventory step up of acquired inventary sold ‘14,869, — —
| Amortization of debt issuance costs 2,884 — — ]
(Gain) on sale of nsscts — (956) —

[ Other (1,362) 1,666 188 |

Changes in operating asscts and Lisbilitics:

{ Accounts receivable (6.156)____(12,068) (3,986) )
Inventories. (20,993) 442) (1,220)
[ Prepaid expenses and other asscts 6,830 (5.818) (1,576} |
Accounts payable ' 1,163 128 892
[ Accrued expenses, income taxes payable and other liabilitics (20,27%) 10,245 21,292 |

Net cash provided by operating activitiés © 174,981 168,865 141,369
[ )
Cesh flows from investing activities:

Additions to property, plant and cquipment (55.972) (21,308) (21,174) |
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment — — 1216
| Acquisition of busincss, net of cash scquired (1,182,187 — — |
Cash sctilement of life insurance policy 3,959 — —
| Proceeds from the sales of assets 1,224 3,027 — |

__ Purchases of availabe-for-sake scouritics — (209,048). —
| Proceeds from the sale and maturities of investment securities — 214,460 175 |
“Scttlemicnt of pet ivestment hedge — b8 -
Net cash uged in investing aclivities (1,232,976) (22,751) (19.783) |
Cash flows from financing activities: )
Repayment of long-term dobt ' (105,326) (144,375 (10,938)

[ Dividends paid 46324)__ (30,130 (19,041) |
Repurchases of common stock (14,720) (44,288) (14,208)

{_Net proceeds from issuance of stock 17,210 23,031 30,615 |
Issuance of long-term debt 1,062,337 — E

| Debt issuance costs (18,745) —_— — ]




P

‘Principal pyments usder capital leass abligations o _ _

(1,200) —
| Tax benefits associated with share-based compensation expense — — 6,557 |
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ' 894,432 (197,562) (7.015)
[ ]
Effect of exchange ratc changes on cash , - (863) 6,479 (4,160)
Increase (decreasc) in cash (164,426) _ _ (44.969) 110,411
Cash aind cash equivalents at beginning of year .. 352921 1 397890 287,479
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year S 188495 § 352921 § 397,890 |
Egpplemcnul disciosure of cash flow information: _l
Cash paid for incotne taxes (et of refunds received) . .35432 20,345 13,321
Cash paid for interest 39,181 2,464 4,128 |
Eupplemenlal disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities: _ ]
_Purchazes of property, phmandeqmpmcmmacmwdhnbﬂmsandaccmmtspayableanbemdofpenod $ 8690- 87 1975 § 1,488
Equ:ry Consideration related to the Acquisition S 331, 048 $ — 3 —J

Thcmcompanymgmsmanmugrdpanoflbnecomhthmdﬂmnndmemenm
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

{In thomsands)
. Accumulated
Common "Io Excess Retained Comprehensive Treasory
. Stock Of Par Earnings Income Stock Total
Balance at September 30, 2016 H 34 0§ 530840 $ 330776 $ 9.556 §_(373.558) _§ 497,648 |
Share-based compensation expense 13,004 13,004 |
Repurchases of common stock under ahare repurchase 5
plans, at cost (12,035) (12,035)
Repurchases of common stock - other, &t cost (2,173) 2,173 ]
Exercise of stock options.  _ 1 27,665 27,666
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock under
| Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2.986 2,986
‘Tax benefits from share-based compensation plans 6,443 6,443
Net income 86,952 86,952 |
'Dividends ($0.78 per share in dollars) (19,347) (19,847)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6,746) (6_,11_6)__]
Interest rate swaps: ' 863 863
Minimum pension lisbility edjustment _ ] 276 276 |
"Balance at September 30, 2017 $ 35 5 580933 § 397881 § . 3949 § (387,766) $ 595037
:Sﬁm-basodwmmsaﬁon expense 18,518 IS.SiBJ
Repurchases of common stock under share repurchase
{_plans, at cost (40,726) (40.726)
Repurchases of common stock - other, at cost (3.562) (3,562).
Exercise of stock options 1 19.278 19279 |
lssuance of Cabot Microclectronics stock under Deposit -
Share Program 300 300
Issuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock under
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 3,464 3464 |
Net income 110,043 110,043
Dividends ($1.40 per share in dollars) (36,251) (36.251)
Foreign currency trapslation adjustment 679 679
Interest rate swaps (63) (63) ]
Minimum pension tiability adjustmesit ) B (26) (26)
Balance at September 30, 2018 $ 36 5 622498 5 471673 § 4539 $ (432,054) S 666,692 |
Sharc-based compensation expense 18,227 18,227 |
urchages of commeon stock, at cost under sharc o ‘
hase Program (10,002) (10,002)
Repurchases of common stock - other, 8t cost (4,850) (4,850} |
Exercise of stock épticns I 13,194 13,195
Jssuance of common stock in connection with the
"Acquisition 3 331,045 331&3_}
Lssuance of Cabot Microelectronics restricied stock . o
under Deposit Share Program 75 75




D Ta e g b v el s el e g

Jssuance of Cabot Microelectronics stock under Employee

| Stock Purchase Plan 3,941 3,941
Net income’ ' 39215 39,215
Dividends (51.66 per share in dollars) (48,454) (48.454) |
Effect of the adoption of revenue recognition accounting

“siandsrds ' (933) (933)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (8,548) (§,5_4_§)J
Interest rate gwaps ) (18,780) (18.780)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (449) {449) |

Balanee at Sepfember.30, 2019 $ 40§ 988980 $ 461500 §

@3238) 5 (446906) S 980377 |

The accompanying notes arc an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

1. BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Cebot Microckctronics Corporation (**Cabot Microelectronics™, “the Company”™, “us”, “we”, or “our’™) is a leading global supplier of consumable materials to
semiconductor manufacturers and customers in the pipeline and adjacent industries. On November 15, 2018 (“Acquisition Date™), we completed our acquisition of
KMG Chemicals, Inc. (“KMG"), which produces and distributes specialty chemicals and performance materials for the semiconductor industry, pipeline and
sdjacent industries, and imdustrial wood preservation industry (“Acquisition'). The Acquisition extended and strengthened our pasition as one of the leading
suppliers of consumable materials to the semiconductor industry and expanded our portfolio with the addition of KMG's businesses, which we belicve enables us
to be a lcading global provider of performance products and services to pipeline and adjacent industry companies. The Consolidated Financial Stateraents included
in this Armual Report on Form 10-K inctude the financial results of KMG from the Acquisition Date. Subsequent to the Acquisition, we have operated our
business within two reportable segments: Blectronic Materials and Performance Materials. The Electronic Materials segment consists of our heritage CMP slurrics
and polithing pads businesses, as well as the KMG electronic chemicals business. The Performance Materials segment includes KMG's beritage pipeline
performance and wood treatment businesses, and our heritage QED business.

The audited consolidated financiz! staternents have been prepared by us pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and

eccounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). We operate predominantly in two repartable segments - Electronic
Materials and Performance Materials.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

‘The consolidated financial staternents include the accounts of Cabot Microelectronics and its subsidiaries. All mtercompany transactions apd balances
between the companies have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements ax of September 30, 2019.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgmenis, assumptions and
cstimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial staternents and accompanying notes. The zccounting estimates that require management’s
mast challenging and subjective judgments include, but are not limited to, those estimates related to impairment of long-lived assets, business combinations, assets
retirement cbligations, goodwill and other intangible asseis, mcome taxes and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions
and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. However, future events are subject to change and estimates and
judgments routinely require adjustment. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INYESTMENTS

We consider investments in all highly liquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Short-term
investments include securitics generully having maturities of 90 days to one year. We did not own any securities that were considered short-term investments as of
September 30, 2019 or 2018. See Note 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of other financia) instruments.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated loases
resulting from the potential inability of our customers to make required payments. Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on historical collection
experience, adjusted for apy specific known conditions or circumstances such as custorper bankrupteies and increased risk due to economic
conditions. Uncollectible account balances are charged against the allowance when we believe thai it is probable that the receivable will not be
recovered. Amounts charged to bad debt expense are recorded in general and administrative expenses. A portion of our receivables and the related allowance for
doubtful accounts is denominated in foreign currencies, so they are subject to foreign exchange fluctuations which are included in the table betow under
deductions and adjustments.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts changed during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 as follows:

Balance as of September 30, 2018 5 1,500
Amaunts charged 1o expense 432
Deductions and adjustments 45
Balance as of September 30, 2019 ) 2377

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable. We perform ongoing credit evalugtions of cur
customers' financial conditions and generally do not require collateral to secure accounts receivable. Our exposure to credit risk associated with nonpayment is
affected principally by conditions or occurrences within the semiconductor industry and the global economy. We have not experienced significant losses relating 10
accounts receivable from individual customers or groups of customers.
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Customers who represented more than 10% of revenue are as follows:
Year Ended September 30, 2019

2019 2018 7
Intel 14% . .
Samsung Group (Samsung) 11 % 18 % 16 %
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Co. (TSMC) * 12% 13%
SK Hynix Inc. . 10% .
Micron Technology Inc. . . 10 %

* Not a customer with mare than 10% revenue.

intel accoumied for B.1% and 3.9% of net accounts receivable at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Samsung accounted for 5.5% and 11.4% of pet
accounts receivable at Seprember 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. TSMC accounted for 8.2% and 7.9% of net accounts receivable at September 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively. SK Hynix accounted for 1.6% and 3.4% of pet accounts receivable at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Micron accounted for6.8%
and 13.1% of pct accounts receiveble at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The recorded amounts of cash, accounts receivable, and accounts paysble approximate their fair vajues due to their short-term, highly liquid characteristics,
See Note 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for & more deteiled discussion of the fair value of financial instruments.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis, or net realizable value. Finished goods and work in process
inventories include material, labor and manufecturing overhead costs. We regularly review and write down the value of inventory as required for cstimated
obsolescence or lack of marketability. An inventory reserve is maintained based upon a historical percentage of ectual inventories written off and applied sgainst
inventory value at the end of the period, edjusted for known conditions and circumstances.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost Depreciation is based on the following estimsted useful lives of the aasets using the straight-line method:

Land Improvements 10-20 years

Buildings 15-30 years

Machinery and equipment 3-20 years

Fumiture and fixtures 5-10 years

Vehicles 5-8 years

Information systems 3-5 years

Assets under capital leases Term of leasc or estimated useful life

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Expenditures for major rencwals and betterments are capitalized and depreciated
over the remaining useful lives. As assets are retired or sold, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are remaved from the accounts and any requlting gain
or loss is included in the results of operations. We capitalize the costs related to the design and development of software used for internal purposes.




ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Axset Retirement Obligations (ARO#) are the obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. The Company recognizes AROs for the
removal or storage of bazardous materials, decontamination or demolition of above ground storage tanks (ASTs), and certain restoration and decommigsioning
obligations related to certain of our owned and leesed properties. The Company recognizes an ARO liability in the period in which it is incurred, inchiding upon
Acquisition, if a reagonable estimate of fair vatue can be made. if a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be made in the period the ARO is incurred, the Liability
shall be recognized when a reasonable estimaie of fair value can be made. The Company has multiple production facilities with an indeterminate useful life and
there is imsufficient information available to estimate a range of potential scttlement dates for the obligation. Therefore, the Company cannot reasonably estimate
the fair value of the Lability.

When a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made, an ARO amount is calculated using present value techniques in which estimates of firture cash outlays
associated with the asset retirements are discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate. Estimates of the timing and amounts of future cash cutlays are based on
projections of when and how the assets will be retired and the cost of future removal / decommissioning activities. Cost estimates for AROs are based on
information using various assumptions related to closure and post-closure costs, timing of future cash outlays, discount rates, and the potential methods for
complying with legal and environmental regulations. Material changes to current ARO estimates coubd result as more mformation becomes available surmounding
these assumption factors.

In subsequent periods, the Company recagnizes accretion expense in Cost of sales increasing the ARQ balances, such that the balance will ultimately equal the
expected cash flows a1 the time of settlement. Sce Note 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ARO and accretion expense recorded in fiscal 2019.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We assess the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived asscts to be held and used, whenever events or changes in circumsiances indicate that the
carmrying value may not be recoverable. We must exercise judgment in assessing whether an event of impairment has occurred. For purposes of recognition and
measurement of an impairment loss, long-lived assets are either individually identified or grouped with other assets and liabilitics at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other asscts and lisbilities. We must cxefcisc judgment in this grouping. The carrying valus of »
long-lived asset is considered impaired when the total projected undiscounted cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group are
separately identifiable and are less thap its carrying value. In that event, a losa is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying velue exceeds the fair
value of the long-lived asset. The fair value methodology used is an estimate of fair market value, which is made baged on prices of smmilar assets or other
valuation methodologies, including present value techniques. Long-lived assets to be disposed of by means other than sale are classified as held for use until their
disposal. Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are classified as held for sale and arc teporied at the lower of carrying amount or fair market value, less the
estimated cost 1o scll. Depreciation is discontinued for any long-lived assets classified as held for sale.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we recorded an impairment of $7,372 of long-lived asscts, of which $4,063 related to Property, plant snd equipment in
the wood treatment asset group. See Note 10 of this Annnal Report on Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of the impairment. We did not record any
impairment expense in fiscal 2018. We recorded impairment expense on long-lived asscis of $8560 m fiscal 2017 related to surplus rescarch and development
equipment, which was subsequenily sold for a gain.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased mtangible asscts with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are evaluated for impairment using & process similar to that
used to evaluate other long-lived asgets. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are mot smortized and are tested annually in our fourth fiscal quarter or
more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-valuc-based approach. The recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit
level, which is defined a3 either an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. A component is a reporting unit when the component constitutes a
business for which discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating resuits of the component. Components may
be combined into one reporting unit when they have similar economic characteristics. We have six reporting units, all of which had goodwill as of Scptember 30,
2019, the date of our annual impairment test.
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The Company’s Electronic Materials scgment is comprised of thethree following reporting units: CMP slurrics, electronic chemicals, and CMP pads. The
Company's Performance Materials segment is comprised of three additional reporting umits: pipeline performance, wood treatment, and precision optics.

Accounting guidance provides an entity the option to sssess the fair value of & reporting unit either using a qualitative analysis (*step zero™} or & quantitative
anaiysis ("step one™). We used a step zero qualitative analysis for the CMP slurries reporting unit in fiscal 2018 and 2019, and for precision optics in fiscal 2019,
Aside from those previously noted, all other reporting units were assessed for goodwill impairment using a step one approach. The Flowchem trads name, an
indefinite-lived intangible asset, was asseased for impairment using o relicf from royalty approach.

Factors requiring significant judgment include the selection of valuation approach and assumptions related to fiture revenue, discoun! fectors, terminal growth
rates, and royahty rates, among others. Changes in economic and operating conditions that occur after the annual impainment analysis or an interim impairment
analysis that rmpact these sssumptions may result in future impairment charges.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment assessment, comparing estimated fair values of the reporting units
to their carrying amounts. In estimaring the fair values, the Company used the average of an income approach, discounting estimated firure cash flows, and
market approach based upon relevant market multiples. As a result of & long-lived asset impairment recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, the carrying value
of the wood treatment reporting unit is equal to its fair value. In this circumstance with no excess of fair value over carrying value, any unfavorable variances from
the estimated inputs used in the intpairment assessment may resuit in further impairment of long-lived assets or goodwill. The Company's Electronic Chemicaly
rcporting unit has goodwill resulting from a recent acquisition, with a greater sensitivity to impairment, due to the extent by which its estimated fair value exceeds
its carrying value. Changes to the assumptions requining significant judgment, noted above, could result in a different outcome for the impairment asscssment.
Accordingly, the Company performed sensitivity analysis for selected key assumptions.

As a result of the review performed in the fourth quarter of figcal 2019, and the related sensitivity analysis, we determined that there wano impairment of our
goodwill as of September 30, 2019. There was no goodwill impairment recorded in fiscal 2018 or 2017.

While no goodwill impairmenis were recognized in fiacal 2019, the Compeny recognized asset impairment charges of %7,372, of which 563,309 related w
Other intangible assets, net for the wood treatment asset group due to triggering cvents that occurred in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019. Sce Note 10 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company will continue to monitor the wood treatment asset group for indicators of long-lived asset or goodwill impairment.
Absent a zale of the business, as the Company approaches the anncunced closure date of the facilities and there are fewer estimated future cash flows, there is
ongoing potential for farther impairments of long-lived asgets and impainnent of goodwill. While the timing and amounts of any further impairments are
unknown, they could be material to ibe Company’s Coneolidated Balance Sheets and to the Consolidated Statements of Income, but they will not affect the
Company's reported Net cash provided by operating activities.

WARRANTY RESERVE

We maintain a warranty reserve that reflects menagement's best estimate of the cost to replace product that does not meet our specifications and customers'
performance requirements. The warranty reserve is based upon a historical product return rate, adjusted for amy specific known conditions or circumstances.
Adjustments to the warranty reserve are recorded in Cost of sales.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Certain operating activities in Asia and Europe are denominated im local currency, considered to be the functional currency. Asscts and liabilities of these
operations are translated using exchange rates in effect at the end of the year, and revenue and costs are translated using average exchange rates for the year. The
related translation adjustments are reported in comprehensive income in stockholders' equity.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE MANAGEMENT

We transact business in various foreign currencies, primarily the Korean won, Japanese yen, the New Taiwan dollar, Euro, British pound, and Singapore
doltar. Our exposure 1o foreign cuarency exchange risks has not been significant because a large portion of our business is denominated in United States dollars.
Howewver, we also incur expenses in foreign countries that are transacted in currencies other than dollars, which provides natural hedge and mitigates the exposure
on our Consolidated Statements of Income. We periodically, enter into certain forward contracts in an cffort to manage foreign cumrency exchange exposure on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, we are unlikefy to be able to hedge these expasures completely. We do not eater into forward contracts ar other derivative
instruments for speculative or trading purpases, These foreign exchange contracts do not qualify for hedge accoumting; therefore, the gains and losses resulting
from the impact of currency exchange rate movements on our forward foreign exchange contracts are recognized as Other income (expens<), net in the
accompanymg Consolidated Statements of [ncome in the period in which the exchange rates change. See Note 13 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K fora
discussion of derivative financial ingtruments.

PURCHASE COMMITMENTS

We bave entered into unconditional purchase obligations, which include noncancelable purchase commitments and take-or-pay armangements with supplicrs.
On an ongoing basis, we review our agreements and assess the likelihood of a shortfal) in purchases and determine if it is necessary to record a liability. See Note
20 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion of purchase commitments. To date, we have not recorded such a liability.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

At contract inception, the Company assesses the gootds and services promised in its contracts with customers and identifies a performance obligation for each
material promise to the customer. A performance obligation is a promisc in a contract to transfer a distinet good or service, or 2 bundle of goods or services, o the
customer, and is the unit of accounting under ASC 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as
revenue when, or a8, the performance obligation is satisfied. A majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation which represents, in
mast cascs, the products, equipment or services being sold to the customer. Some contracts include multiple performance obligations, including prospective tiered
price discounts or delivery of free product that we have concluded represents a material right. Contracts with prospective tiered price discounts require judgment in
determining if that discount represents a material right.

Contracts vary in length, and payment terms vary by the type and location of the Company’s customers and the products or services offered. However, the
period of time between invoicing and when payment i due is typically not significant and has no significant financing components. Customers pay in accordance
with negotiated terms upan receipt of goods or completion of services. For these contracts, the transaction price is determined upon establishment of the contract
that contains the final terms of the sale, including the description, quantity, and price of goods or services purchased. In certain instances, we receive consideration
from a customer prior to transferring goods or services to the customer under the terms of & sales contract. In such cases, we record deferred revenue until the
performance obligation is satisfied, which represents a contract liability, and is included in the contract liabilities discussed in Note 3 of this Annual Report an
Form 10-KL

The Company recognizes revenue relaled to product sales a1 a point in time following the transfer of control of such producis to the customer, which generally
occurs upon shipment, or delivery depending on the terms of the underlying contracts. The Company considers control to have transferred upon shipment or
delivery because the Company has a present right 1o payment at 1hat time, the cusiomer has legal title to the asset, the Corapany has transferred physical
possession of the asse1, and the customer has significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset Revenue is recognized on consignment sales when control
transfers to the customer, generally at the point of cusiomer usage of the product. The Company also records revenue for services provided to customers in the
pipeline and adjacent indusiries. These services include preventive maintenance, repair and specialized isolation sealing on pipclines and training. Revenue is
recorded at a point in time when the services are completed as ihis is when right to payment and customer acceptance occurs.
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For sales contracts that contain multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation identified in the
contract based on relative standalone selling prices or estimates of such prices. Standalone selling price, once established, is then used to allocate total
consideration proportionally to the various performance obligations within a contract. Most contracts where we have determined there to be multiple performance
obligations relate to where we have identified the existence of a material right such that we provide prospective tiered pricing discounts or free product. Whea we
invoice for products shipped under these contracts, we defer the revenue associated with these rights on the balance sheet as a contract liability. Revenue is
recognized when the customer exercises the option to purchaze goods at a discount in the case of the prospective tiered pricing discounts or when we ship the free
product.

iderati

The primary type of varisble consideration present in the Company's contracts are rebates and early payment discounts, both of which are immaterial, Early
paymeni discounts are offered on & limited basis and are not significant. The Company also offers rebates based upon cumulative vohime of purchases within a
quarier and accrucs for the rebate obligation within the quarter that the rebate is carned. ASC 606 did not change the accounting for rebates under ASC 605.

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill 8 Contract

For certain contracts within the Performance Materials segment, commissions are paid to sales agents based upon a percentage of end-customer invoice value.
Agents are paid the commissions after funds are received by the Company from its customers, Under ASC 340, sales commissions are required to be capitalized
and expensed over the associated contract period. However, as a practical expedient, the Company does not capitalize commissions as the associated contracts arc

generally one year or less in duration. For shipping and handling activities performed after & customer obtains control of the goods, the Company has elected o
account for these costs as activities to fulill the promise to transfer the goods and incheded in Cost of sales.

RESEARCH, DEVELOFPMENT AND TECHNICAL

Research, development and technical cosis are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of staffing costs, materials and supplics, depreciation, utilitics and
other facilities costs.

INCOME TAXES

Current income taxes arc determined based on estimated 1axes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current year. Deferred incotne taxes are determined
using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred tax assets
and lisbilities of changes in tax rates is recognized in income in the peried that includes the ensctment date. Provisions are madc for both U.S. and any foreign
deferred income tax liability or benefit. We assess whether or not cur deferred tax agsets will ultimately be realized and record an estimated valustion allowance
on those deferred tax assets that may not be realized. We recognize the tax benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position
will be sustained by the taxing euthorities, based an the technical merits of the pasition. In fiscal 2017, we maintained an assertion to pemanently reinvest the
carnings of all of our foreign subsidiarics. In light of the Tax Act and the associated transition o a modified territarial tax system, we no longer consider cur
foreign eamings 1o be indefinitely reinvested. See Note 19 of this Annnal Report on Form 10-K for additional information on income taxes.
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INTEREST RATE SWAPS

During the sccond quarter of fiscal 2019, we entered into a floating-to-fixed interest rale swap agreement to hedge the varinbility in LTIBOR-based intercst
payments on a portion of our outstanding variable rate debt. The fair value of our interest rate swaps is estimated using standard valuation models using market-
based observable inputs over the contractual term, including one-month LIBOR-based yield curves, among others. We consider the risk of nonperformance,
including counterparty credit risk, in the calculation of the fair value. We have designated these swap agreements as cash flow hedges pursuant to ASC 815,
"Derivatives and Hedging". As cash flow hedges, unrealized gains arc recognized as assets and unrealized losses are recognized as liabilities. Unrealized gains and
losses are designated as effective or ineflective based on u comparison of the changes in fair value of the intercst rate swaps and changes in fair value of the
underlying exposures being hedged. The effective portion is recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive incotne ot loss, while the ineffective
portion is recorded a8 a component of Interest expense. Changes in the method by which we pay interest from one-month LIBOR to another rate of interest could
create ineffectiveness in the swaps, and result in amounts being reclassified from other comprehensive income into Net income. Hedge effectiveness is tested
quarterly to determine if hedge treatment is appropriate.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We issue share-based aweards under the following programs: our Cabot Microclectronics Corporation 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended effective
March 7, 2017 (OIP); our Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 2007 Employce Stock Purchase Plan, as Amended and Restated January 1, 2010 (ESPP); and,
pursuant to the OIP, our Dircctors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended September 23, 2008 (DDCP), and our 2001 Executive Officer Deposit Share
Program (DSP). In March 2017, our stockholders re-approved the material terms of performance-based awards under the OIP for purpases of complying with
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. For additional information regarding these programs, refer to Note 16 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

We record share-based compensation expense for all share-bascd awards, including stock option grants, and restricted stock, restricted stock unit and
performance share unit ("PSU™) awards, and cmployee stock purchase plan purchases. We calculate share-based compensation expense using the straight-lme
approach based on awards ultimately expected to vest, which requires the use of an estimated forfeiture rate. Our estimated forfeiture rate is primarily based on
historical experience, but may be revised in future periods if actual forfeitures differ from the estimate. We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate
the grant date fair value of our stock options and employee stock purchase plan purchases. This model requires the inpart of highly subjective assurnptions,
including the price volatility of the underlying stock, the expected term of our stock options, expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate. We estimate the
expected volatility of our stock options based on a combination of our stock's historical volatility and the implied volatilities from actively-traded options on our
stock. We caleulate the expected term of our stock options using historical stock option exercise data, and for stock option grants made prier to December 2017,
we have added a slight premium to this expected term for employees who meet the definition of retirement-cligible pursuant to their stock option grants during the
contractual term of the grant. As of December 2017, the provisions of stock option grants and restricted stock unit awards stated that, except in certain
circumstances including termination for cause, once an cmployce meets the retirement cligibility requirements, any remaining unvested share-based awards will
continue 1o vest regardless of termination of service. Consequently, the requisite service period for the award is satisfied upon retirement cligibility. Therefore, we
record the total share-based compensation expense upan award for those employees who have met the retirement eligibility at the grant date. The expected
dividend yield represents our annualized dividend in dollars divided by the stock price on the datc of grant. The rigk-free interest rate is derived from the U.S.
Treasury yicld curve in effect at the time of grant.

The PSUs that have been awarded msy be subject to downward or upward adjustment depending on the total sharcholder return achieved by the Company
during the particular performance period related to the PSUs, relative to the total shareholder return of an established market index. We use a third-party service
provider to estimate the fair value of the PSUs at grant date by using a Monte Carlo simulation model. This mode] simulates the stock price movements of the
Company and Index constituents using certain assumptions, including the stock price of the Company and index constituents, the risk-free interest rate and stock
price volatility, Subsequent o the Acquisition, the performance metrics of the PSUs awarded in December 2017 were modified to reflect the performance metrics
expecied due to the Acquisition.
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KMG awards granted subsequent to the entry into the definitive agreement for the Acquisition, but prior to the Acquisition Date, were converted to our
restricted stock units (“Replacement Award”), with vesting in three equal installments on the first three anniversaries of the original award date. If the recipient is
terminated without cause or resigns with good reason during the 18 months following the Acquisition Date, the Replacement Award will vest as of such
termination date in a number of shares equal to 150% of the Replecement Award.

For additional information regerding our share-based compensation plans, refer to Note 16 of this Annual Report en Form 10-K.
EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic eamnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing Net income available to commen stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, excluding the effects of unvested restricted stock awards with a right to receive non-forfeitable dividends, which are considered
participating securities as prescribed by the two-class method under ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share (ASC 260). Diluted EPS is cakculated in a similar
manner, but the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period is increased to include the weighted-average dilutive effect of "in-the-
money” stock options and unvested restricted stock shares using the treasury stock method. We adopted ASU 2016-09 in fiscal 2018. Pursuant to the adoption, the
proceeds from exceas tax benefits are no longer included in the ditlutive impact on the weighted average shares outstanding for dilutive EPS. The excess tax
benefits were treated as a reduction 1o tax provision, rather than an increase to equity.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income primarily differs from Net income due to interest rate swap contracts and foreign curency translation adjustments.
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EFFECTS OF RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, "Leases” (Topic 842). The provisions of ASU 2016-02 require a dual approach for lessee accounting
under which a lessee would recognize a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability, Leases will be classified as either finance or operating leases. For
finance lcascs, a lessec will recognize Interest cxpense and amortization of the right-of-use asset, and for operating leases, the lessee will recognize a straight-line
total lease expense. The guidance also requires specific qualitative and quantitative disclosures to supplement the amecunts reconded in the financial statements, to
afford better understanding of an entity's leasing activitics, including any significant judgments and estimates. The guidance was amended through various ASU's
subsequeat to ASU 2016-02, all of which will be effective for us beginning October 1, 2019. Additional disclosures for our leases will be required beginning in the
first quarter of fiscal 2020.

The Company will elect to usc the practical expedients in the siarsiard to not reassess prior conclusions related to contracts containing lcases, lease
classification and initial direct costs and therefore, does not expect the adoption of Topic 842 to have a significant impact on the Consolidated Statements of
Income. We will not elect the hindsight practical expedicnt. We will also adopt the new standard in our first quarter of fiscal 2020 using the modified retrospective
transition method; however, we will be applying the optional transition adjustment that permits us to continue applying Topic 840 within the comparative periods
disclosed. By electing this optional transiticn method, we will recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening retained earnings balance as of October 1,
2019 rather than the earlicst period presented. We also plan to make policy ¢lections not to apply the balance sheet recognition requirements for qualifying short-
term leases for non-real estate asscts and not to separate non-lease components from lease components, as applicable.

We are finalizing the review of our population of lcase contracts, implementing a new third-party lease software system, and establishing internal controls
over financial reporting. Our lease partfolio primarily corsists of operating leases, and the existing lease contracts include leases related to buildings, land, office
equipment, and vehicles. The Company is in the process of determining the itpact of adoption of ASU 201 6-02 and anticipate the standard to have a maierial
impact 1o our Consolidated Balance Sheets, but do not anticipate a material impact to our consolidated net earninga or cash flows, The most significant impact will
be the recognition of right of use assets and lease liabilities for operating leases to cur Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 1, 2019. The Company will
complets its adoption of this standard m the first quarter of fiscal 2020.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No, 2016-13, "Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (Topic 326). The provisions of thiz standard
require financial assets measured at amertized cost to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. An allowance account would be established to
present the net cammying value at the amount expected to be collected. ASU 2016-13 also provides that credit losses relating to available-for-sale debt securitics
should be recorded through an allowance for credit losses. The guidance was amended through various ASU's subsequent to ASU 2016-13, all of which will be
effective for us beginning October 1, 2020, but early adoption is permiticd as of October 1, 2019. We are currently evaluatiog the impact of implementation of this
standard on our financial statements.

In March 2017, the FASB issucd ASU No. 2017-07 "Improving the Presentation of Net Period Pension Cost and Net Period Postretirement Benefit Cost"
{Topic 715). The provisions of ASU 2017-07 provided specific guidance on the presentation of the components of net benefit cost. We adopted this standard ASU
2017-07 cffective October 1, 2018 and applicd it retrospectively. Pursuant to the adoption, net service costs are recorded as fringe benefit expense under Cost of
sales and Operating expenses, and all other costs are recorded in the Other income (expense), net in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The impact of the
retrospective adoption m fiscal year 2018 is not material.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09 "Scope of Modification Accounting” (Topic 718). The provisions of ASU 2017-0% provide specific

guidance about which changes to the term or conditions of a share-based payment require an entity to apply modification accounting. We adopted ASU 201709
effective October 1, 2018 and will apply this new standard to our share-based compensation awards, to the extent modified.
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In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12 "Derivatives and Hedging" (Topic 815). The provisions of this standard amend the bedge accounting
mode] in ASC 815 to &xpand an entity's ability 10 hedge nonfinancial and financial risk compenents, reduce complexity in fair value hedges of interest rate risk,
eliminate the requirement to separately measure and report hedge incfectiveness, and generally require the cntire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument
1o be presented in the same income saternent line as the hedged item. The guidance also eases ceriain documentation and assessment requirements and modifics
the accounting for components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. We carly adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2019, and we did not
have any hedggs that ¢xisted a8 of the initial application date. We applied the new guidance (o the interest rate swep that we entered imto during our second quarter
of fiscal 2019, Pursuant to the guidance, we performed initial quantitative hedge effectiveness testing upon the inception of the hedge, and determined the hedge to
be highly effective. Therefore, unrealized changes in fair value are recotded in other comprehensive income. In addition, we reclassify the realized gains and losses
out of other comprechemsive income, and into Interest cxpense in our Consolidated Statements of Income, which is the same financial statcment line as the bedged
ilem. We will perform subscquent assessments of hedge cffectiveness qualitatively on s quarteriy basis,

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02 "Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220)". The amendments in this standard
allow a company to reclassify the sranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Act from sccumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. ASU 2018~
02 will be effective for us beginning October 1, 2019, but carly adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating and quantifying the amount to be reclassified
into retained carnings and expect to recard the reclassification on October 1, 2019.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07 = Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting.” The ASU simplified the accounting for share-based payments granted to nonemployees for goods and services, Lherefore guidance on such payments
to nonemployees would be mostly aligned with the requirements for share-based payments granted to cmployees. ASU 2018-07 will be effective for us beginning
October 1, 2019, but carly edoption is permitted (but no carlier than the adoption date of Topic 606). We do not expect implementation of this standard to bave
material impact on qur financial statements,

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13 " Fair Valuc Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement.” The ASU provides specific guidance on various disclosure requirements in Topic 820, including removal,
modification and eddifion to current disclosure requirements. ASU 2018-13 will be effective [or us beginning October 1, 2020, but early adoption is permitied, We
arc currently evaluating the impact of implementation of this standard on our disclosures.

In August 2018, thc FASB issued ASU No, 2018-15 "Intangfbles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting
for implementation Costs Incurred in & Cloud Computing Arrangemend That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging 1ssues Task Force).” The
ASU Requires an entify (customer) in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract to follow the guidance in Subtopic 350-40 to determine which
implementation costs 1@ ummhzc as an asset related to the service contract and which costs to expense. ASU 2018-15 will be effective for us beginning October 1,
2020, but early adoption is permitted. We are currcntly evaluating the impact of implementation of this standard on our financial statements.
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3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Disagpregated Revenue

The Company disaggregates revenue by product arca and segment as it best depicts the nature and amount of the Company’s revenue. Sec Note 23 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information.

Contract Balances

The following table provides information about contract liability balances:

September 30,
2019 October 1, 2018
Contract lisbilitics (current) s 5008 % 5,310
Contract liabilities (noncurrent) 1,130 1,239

The contract liability balances as of October 1, 2018 in the table above include 1he amounts recorded upon the adoption of ASC 606. At September 30, 2019,
the current portion of contract liabilities of $5,008 is included in accrued ligbilities, 1axes payable and other current liabilities, and the noncurrent portion of $1,130
is included in other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of revenue recognized during the year ended September 30, 2019 that
was included in the apening current contract liability balances in our Performance Malerials segment was $4,989. The amount of revenue recognized during the
year ended September 30, 2019 that was included in our opening contract liability balances in our Electronic Materials segment was not material.

Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

The table below discloses (1) the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to perfotmance obligations that are imsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
as of the end of the reporting period for coniracts with an original duration of greater than one year and (2) when the Company expects to recognize this revenue.

Less Than 1
Year 1-3 Years 35 Years Total
Revenue expected to be recognized on contract liability amounts as of September 30,
2019 s 1344 671 § 450 § 2475
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4. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On the Acquisition Date, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of the outstanding stock of KMG, which was a publicly held company
headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas. KMG specialized in producing, processing, and distributing electronic chemicals for the semiconductor industry and
performance materials for the pipelinc and adjacent industrics, and industrial wood preservation industry. We acquired KMG to extend and sireogthen our position
us one of the leading supplicrs of consumable materials to the semiconductor industry and to expand our portfolio with the addition of KMG's performance
materials businesscs, which we belicve enables us to become a leading global provider of performance products and services to the pipeline industry. The purchase
consideration was $1,513,235, including consideration wransferred of $1,536,452, less cash acquired of §23,217. The consideration was comprised of cash
consideration 10 KMG comman sharcholders and equity award holders, stock consideration to KMG commeon shareholders and equity award holders, and cash
consideration in the form of the retirement of KMG's preexisting debt obligations. Under the 1erms of the definitive agreement 10 acquire KMG, each share of
KMG common stock wus converied into the right to receive $55.65 in cash and 0.2000 of a share of Cabot Microelectronics common stock. As a result, we issued
3,237,005 shares of our common stock 10 KMG's common stockholders, with a siock price of $02.27 on the Acquisition Date. In connection with the
Acquisition, we ¢ntered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement’™), which provided us with a gevernryear, $1,065,000 term loan facility {(the “Term Loan
Facility"), which we drew on the A¢quisition Date to fund the Acquisition along with cash on hand, and a five-year, $200,000 revolving credit facility (the
“Revolving Credit Facility"), which bas not been drawn. In connection with the borrowing, we incurred $21,408 in debt issuance costs and original issue discount
fees, $859 of which relates 1o the Revolving Credit Facility and is recorded as 2 prepaid aaset, and the remaining £0,549 in debt issuance costs relates to the Term
Loan Facility and is presentad as a reduction of long-term debt. These debt issuance costs arc amortized and recorded in Interest expense in the Consolidated
Statements of [ncome over the life of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facility, respectively. See below for 2 summary of the different components
that comprise the total consideration.

Amount
Total cash consideration paid for KMG owstanding common stock and equity awards s 900,756
Cash provided to payoff KMG debt 304,648
Total cash consideration paid 1,205,404
Fair value of Cabot Microelectronics common stock issued for KMG outstanding commeon stock snd equity awards 331,048
Total consideration transferred $  1,536452
The following table summarizes the allocation of fair valucs of asscts acquired and liabilities assumed as of the Acquisition Date.
Amount
Cash s 23217
Accounts receivable 63,950
Inventorics 68,087
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14,694
Property, plant and equipment 147,170
Intangible assets 844,300
Other long-term assets 5,805
Accounts payable (28,835)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (44.216)
Deferred income taxes liabilities (154,449)
Other long-term lisbilities™ {15,900)
Towl identifiable net assets acquired 924,323
Goodwill 612,129
Total consideration transferred $ 1536452

*In cur fourth fiscal quarter of 2019, a3 8 measurement period adjustment, 82,145 of agset retirement obligations was included in Other long-term liabilities. See
Note 8 of this Annual Repert on Form 10-K for additional information.
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The Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
recorded at fair valuc as of the Acquisition Date. These valuations are based on the information currently available, and the expectations snd assumptions that have
been deemed reasonable by the Company’s management.

The fair vaiues of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were developed with the agsistance of a third-party valuation firm. The fair value of acquired
property, plant and equipment is primarily valued at its “valuc-in-use.” The fuir value of acquired identifiable intangible assets was determined using the “income
approach” on an individual asset basis. The key assumptions used in the calculation of the discounted cash flows include projected revenues, operating expenses,
discount rates, terminal growth rates, and eustomer aitrition rates. The valuations and the underlying assumptions have been deemed reesonable by the Company’'s
management. There are inherent uncertainties and management judgment required in these detcrminations.

The following wble sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives es of the Acquisition Date:

Estimated Useful
Fair Value Life
{year)
Customer relationships — Flowchem 3 315,000 20
Customer relationships -Electronic chemicals 280,000 19
Customner relationships - all other 109,000 15-16
Technology and know-how 85,500 9-11
Trade name — Flowchem 46,000 Indefinite
Trade name - all other 7,000 1-15
EPA product registration rights 2,300 15

Total intangible assets 3 844,800

Customer relationships represent the cstimated fair value of the underlying relationships and agreements with KMG's customers, and arc being amortized on
an accelerated basis in order for the expense o most accurately match the periods of highest cash flows atributable to the identified relationships. Technology and
kmow-how represent the estimated fair value of KMG's technology, processes and knowledge regarding its product offerings, and arc being amortized on a
straight-line basis. Trade names represent the estimated fair value of the brand and name recognition associated with the marketing of KMG's product offerings and
are being amortized on a straight-tine basis, except for the Flowchem trade name, which we believe has an indefinite life. The intangible assets subject to
amartization have a weighted everage useful life of 17.9 years.

The excess of consideration transferred over the fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, and is not deductible for income tax purposes. The
goodwill is primarily attributable w0 anticipated revenue growth from the combined company product portfolio, cxpected synergies of the combined company, and
the assembled workforce of KMG. The allocation of goodwill 1o each of (he Electronic Materials and Performance Malcriala segments as a result of the
Acquisition was $259,859 and $352,270, respectively.

For the year ended Seplember 30, 2019, we recorded 84,709 in Acquisition and integration-related cxpenscs, including transaction costs, flock compensation
expense, severance and retention costs. These ilems arc inchuded within Selling, general and edministrative in the Consolidaied Siatements of Income. In the same
year ended September 30, 2019, we also recorded a charge of $14,869 related to the fair value write-up of acquired inventory sold, which is included in Cost of
sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

KMG’s results of operations have been included in our Consolidated Statements of [ncome and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
from the Acquisition Date. Net sales of the acquired KMG businesses since the Acquisition Date through September 30, 2019 were $450,945. KMG's Net loss
since the Acquisitian Date was $38,500, which includes $22,720 of Acquisition-related costs, $67,372 of impairment expense and a $14,869 charge for fair valuc
write-up of inventory sold. Further, additional amortization and depreciation cxpense associated with recording KMG's et assets at fair value decreased KMG's
Net income pogt-Acquisition.
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The following upaudited supplemental pro formna information summarizes the combined results of operations for Cabot Microclectronics and KMG as if the
Acquisition had occurred on October 1, 2017.

Year Ended September 30,

201% 2018
Revenues s 1,099,674 § 1,063,563
Net income 69,673 50,055
Earmnings per share - basic 5 240 § 1.74
Earnings per share - difuted b 236 3 1.7¢
The followmg costs are inchuded in the year ended September 30, 2018:

Nen-recufring transaction costs of $33,208.
. Non-recurring transaction-related employce costs, such as accelerated stock compensation expense, retention and severance cxpense of 88,132,

. Non-recurring charge for fair value write-up of inventory sold of $14,869.

The historical financial information has been adjusted by applying the Company’s accounting policies and giving effect to the pro forma adjustments, which
consist of (i) amortization expense associated with identified intangible agsets; (ii) depreciation of fixed assct step-up (for pre-Acquisition periods only); (iit)
accretion of inventory step-up value; (iv) the elimination of Intercst expense on pre-Acquisition KMQ debt and replacement of Interest expense related to the
Acquisition-related financing; (v) transaction-related costs; (vi) accelerated share-based compensation expente (pre-Acquirition periods only); (vii) retention and
geverance cxpense incurred 25 a direct result of the Acquisition; and (vili) an adjustment 1o tax-effect the aforementioned unaudited pro forma adjustments using an
estimated weighted-average effective income tax rate of each entity and the jurisdictions 1o which the above adjusiments relate. The pro forma consolidated results
arc not necessarily indicative of what the consolidated results actually would have been had the Acquisition been completed on October 1, 2017. The pro forma
consolidated resulis do not purport to project future results of combined operations, nor do they reflect the expected realization of any revenue or cost synergics
associated with the Acquisition.




5. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be reccived from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or lisbility in an orderly transection between market participants on the measurement date. The FASB established a three-level
hierarchy for disclosure based on the extent and level of judgment used o catimate fair value. Level 1 inputs consist of valuations based on quoted market prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs consist of valuations based on quoted prices for similar asscts or lisbilities, quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilitics in an mactive market, or other observable inputs. Level 3 inputs consist of valuations based on unobservable inputs that are supported
by littie or no market activity.

The following table presents financial instruments, other than long-{erm debt, that we measured at fair value on a recurring basis 8¢ Sepiember 30, 2619 and
2018. See Note 13 of this Annual Report an Form 10-K for a detailed discussion of our long-term debt. We have classificd the following assets and lisbilities in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy set forth in the applicable standards. In instances where the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset fall into more
than one level of the hicrarchy, we have classified them based on the lowest level input that is significant to the determination of the fair value.

Total
September 310, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents s 183495 § — 8 — 8 188,495
Other long-term investments 980 — — 980
Total assets s 189475 % — 3 — 3 189,475
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments — 24,244 — 24,244
Total liabilities H — 8 24244 § — 3 24244
Total
September 30, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Valoe
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalenis $ 352921 § — § — 5 352,921
Other long-term investments 1,137 —_— — 1,137
Total assets b 354,058 § — 3 — 8 354,058
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instrumenis — 339 — 339
Total lisbilities 5 — 8 339 % — 5 339

Cur cash and cash equivalents consist of various bank accounts used to support our operations and investments in institutional money-market funds that are
traded in active markels. We invest only in AAA-rated, prime institutional money market fimds, comprised of high quality, short-term fixed income securitics.
Our other long-ierm investments represent the fair value of investments under the Cabot Microclectronics Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP), which
is a nonqualified supplemental savings plan. The fair value of the investments is determined through quoted market prices within actively traded markets.
Although the investments are allocated to individual participants and investment decisions are made solely by those participants, the SERP is a nonqualified plan.
Consequently, the Company owns (he asscts and the related offsctting liability for disbursement wntil such time a5 a participant makes a qualifying withdrawal.
The long-term asset was adjusted to $980 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 to reflect its fair value as of September 30, 2019.

Our derivative financial mstruments include forcign exchange contracts and an interest raic swap. During the second quarter of fiscal 2019, we entered into a
floating-to-fixed inlerest rate swap agreement to hedge the verisbility in LIBOR-based intercst payments on a portion of our outstanding variable rate debt. The fair
value of our derivative instruments is estimated uxing standard valuation models and market-based observable inputs over the contractusl term, including one-
month LIBOR-based yield curves for the interest rate swap, and forward rates and/or the Overnight Index Swap (OIS) curve for forward foreign exchange
contracts, among others. We consider the risk of nonperformance, including counterparty credit riak, in the calculation of the fair value of derivative financial
mstrumentz. See Note 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our use of derivative financial instrumenits.
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6. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following:

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Total

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIFMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

Land

Buildings

Machinery and equipment
Vehicles

Fumiture and fixtures
Information systems

Capital lease

Construction in progress

Total property, plant and equipment
Less: sccurnulated depreciation
Net property, plant and equipment

September 30,
2019 2018
s 60,157 § 35,150
12,940 8.117
72,181 28,659
5 145278 $ 71,926
September 30,
2019 2018
5 36,276 3§ 17,525
142,585 103,601
257,706 195434
13,497 —
9,615 7,575
46,516 3427
1,200 1,200
63,636 17,001
571,031 376,607
(294,213) (265,204)
5 276,818 § 111,403

Depreciation expense was 337,584, $17,255 and 317,195 for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In fiscal 2019, we recorded an mpairment of $1,063 of property, plant and equipment related to the wood treatment asset group, and adjusted the remaining
useful tives such that they do aot extend beyond the announced plant closures around the end of the calendar 2¢21. See Note 10 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K for further information. In fiscal 2017, we recorded $860 in impairment expense related to & surplus research and development asget and we recorded a
$1,820 gain on sale of surplus rescarch and development equipment. We didnot record any impairment expense on property, plant and equipment in fiscal 2018




8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The company has asset retirement obligations (AROs) related to storage or removal of hazardous materials, decontamination or demolition of above ground
storage tanks (ASTs) and certain restoration and decommissioning obligations related to certain of its owned and leased properties. We measure AROs based upon
the applicable accounting guidance, using certain assumptions mcluding estimates provided in decommissioning and demelition cost stdlies based on multiple
alternative scenarios. These cost studies contain significant estimaics and assumptions, and are reviewed by Company Management. If operational or regulatory
requirements vary from our estimates, we could incur significant additional charges to income and increase in cash expenditures related to those costs.

The Company has multiple production facilities with an indeterminate usefill life and there is insufficient information available to estimaic a range of
potential settlement dates for the cbligation. Therefore, the Company cannot reasonably cstimate the fair value of the liability. When a reascnsble estimate can be
made, an essel retirement obligation will be recorded, and such amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements in the period in which they are
recorded.

The following table provides a rollforward of the AROs reflected in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets from October 1, 2018 to September 30,
2019:

Amounnt
Beginning Balance st October 1, 2018 S——
Addition: Purchase Accounting in connection with the Acquisition 12,145
Reduction: Lisbilities Settled —
Addition: Accretion of discount 530
Ending Balance at September 30, 2019 H 12,675

Our AROs are recorded in Other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accretion is recorded in Cost of sales on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. See Note 2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-X for additional nformation on the Company’s accounting policy for AROs.

87




INDEX

9. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill activity for each of the Company's reportable segments which carry goodwill, Electronic Materials and Performance Materials, for the years ended
September 30, 2019 and 2018 is shown below:

Performance
Electronic Materials Materials Total
Balance at September 30, 2017 s 96,237 $ 5695 % 101,932
Foreign curmency translation impact (154) — (154)
Sale of certain asscls — (695) {695)
Balance at September 30, 2018 3 96,083 § 5000 § 101,083
Foreign currency translation impact (3,145) 4 (3,141}
Goodwill arising from the Acquisition 259,859 352,270 612,129
Balance at Seprember 30, 2019 H 352,797 % 357274 § 710,071
The compepents of other intangible assets are as follows:
September 39, 2019 September 30, 2018
Gross Carrylng  Accomulsted Gross Carrylng  Accomulated
Amount Amortiration Net Amount Amortixation Net
Other intangible assets subject to
amortization:
Product technology, trade secrets and
know-how £ 123948 § 37993 § 85,955 § 48,825 § 25305 $ 23,520
Acquired patents and licenses 9,023 8,397 626 8270 8,252 18
Customer relationships, distribution
rights and other 684,764 64,471 620,293 28,068 17,574 10,494
Total other intangible asssts subject (o
amortization B17,735 110,861 706,874 85,163 51,131 34,032
Other intangible assets not subject 1o
amortization:
Other indcfinite-lived intangibles® 47,170 — 47,170 1,170 — 1,170
Total other intangible assets not subject
to amortization 47,170 — 47,170 1,170 _ 1,170
Total other intangible asscts b B64.905 § 11086] $ 754,044 % 86333 S 51,131 8 35202

¢ (ther indefinite-lived intangibles not subject to amortization primarily consigt of trade names.
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Gross Carrying Amount
Balance at Additions doe
September 30, to the FX and Balance at Accumulated  Net at September
2018 Acquisition Impairment Other  September 30, 2019 Amortization 30,2019
Other intangible asscts
subject o amartization:
Customer relationships, trade
names, and distribution
rights s 28,068 711,000 (51,969) § (2335 $ 684,764 S 64471 § 620,293
Product technology, trade
secrets and know-how 48,825 £5,500 9.651) (726) 123,548 37,993 85,955
Acquired patents and
licenses 8270 2,300 (1,689) 142 9,023 3,397 626
Total other intangible assets
subject to amortization 85,163 798,800 (63,309) (2,919} 817,735 110,861 706,874
Other inangible assets not
subject to amortization:
Other indefinite-lived
intangibles* 1,170 46,000 — — 47,170 — 47,170
Total other intangible asscts
not subject to amortization 1,170 46,000 — — 47,170 — 47,170
Total other intangible assets $ 86,333 § 8442300 $ (63,309) § (2919) $ 864905 S 110,861 § 754,044

As discussed in Note 4 of this Annual Report oo Form 10-K, we recorded $44,800 of intangible assets related (o the Acquisition. The allocation of the
amount into the various categories of intangible asscts, as well a3 useful lives we have established, are discussed in Note 4 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Amortization expense was £59,931, $7,495 and $7,795 for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Estimated future amortization expense of intangible
nsgets as of September 30, 2019 for the five suceeeding fiscal years is as follows:

Estimated
Amaortiration
Fiscal Year Expense
2020 $90,811
2021 29,801
2022 82,175
2023 69,538
2024 61,627
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Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year or more frequently if indicators of
potentia] impairment exist, using a fair-vajue-based approach. The recoverability of goodwil] is measured at the reporting unit level, which is defined as either an
opemating scgment or one level below an operating segment. An entity hes the option to assess the [air value of a reporting unit either using a qualitative analysis
("step zero”) or & quantitative analysis ("step onc®). Similarly, an entity has the option to use a siep zero or a step one approach to determine the recoverability of
indefinite-lived intangible asscts. In fiscal 2018 and 2019, we chose to use a gtep one analysis for both goodwill impairment and for indefinite-lived intangible
asset impairment, with the exception of our CMP siurries and QED reporting units, for which we chose 1o use a step zero analysis for fiscal 2019. See Note 2 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding our sccounting palicy.

As discussed further in Note 10 of this Annusl Report on Form 10-K, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, assct impairment charges of 83,309 were recorded
related to technology and know-how, customer relationships and EPA product registration rights related to our weod treatment reperting unit. For these imtangible
assets, the remaining useful lives were limited to the end of the calendar 2021, No impairment charges to goodwill were recognized in any periods presented andno
impairment charges for other intangible assets were recorded in fiscal 2018 and 2017,
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10. LONG-LIVED ASSET IMPAIRMENT -WOOD TREATMENT

The wood treatment asset group produces pentachloropheno] ("penta™, a chemical pesticide supplied to industrial customers to pressure treat cerlain wood
products, primarily utility poles and crossarms, to extend the useful life of such wood products by protecting against incect damage and related decay. It includes
operations in Matamoros, Mexico and Tuscaloosa, Alebama, which form a single asset group as their operations are bighly interrelated.

In September 2019, as the Company assessed its capital expenditure priorities for fiscal year 2020 and beyond, the Company made a decision 1o further focus
its fuwre capital investments on high-growth businesses complementary to its core, and o ceaze future investment in the wood treatment business and to not
construct a new production facility to replace operations in Matamoros and Tuscaloosa.

The Company is considering various oplions regarding this business, which may include continued operations of the business uptil the previously annocunced
closure of the existing facilities by around the end of calendar 2021, or exploration of a possible sale of the business; however, management has not committed to a
plan of sale.

Management believes events subsequent to the Acquisition Dale, including management's decision to cease capital investment in the wood treatment business,
and shifting market perceptions of envirommental risks and costs, with the Tuscaloosa warehouse facility fire incident as illustrative, resulted in a tiggering event
to assess the nxset group for impairment. The assct group did not pass the recoverability test and the Company proceeded to measure an impairment.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, the Company recognized pre-tax asset impairment charges of $67,372, which were recorded within Asse{ impairment
charges and s tax benefit of $17,072 in Provision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The impairment is recognized in the Performance
Materials segment and relates 1o long-lived assels in the wood treatment reporting umit.

The long-lived asget impairment was allocated as follows:

September 30, 2019
Balance Prior to
Impalrment Impairment Balance after Impairment

Property, plant, and squipment, net 3 4902 § 4063 & 839
Other intangible asse1s - Product techmology 11,646 9,651 1,995
Other intangible assets — Acquired patents and licenses 2,038 1,689 349
Other intangible assets — Customer relationships, distribution rights, and

other 62,708 51,969 10,739
Total $ 81294 § 67372 § 13,922

To determine the measurement of the impairment loss, the Company estimated the fair value of the asset group, which is alzo a reportiog unit and therefore
included goodwill, and recognized an impairment to the extent that the carrying valuc exceeded the fair value. In estimating the fair value of the wood treatment
asscl group, the Company used an income approach bazed upon an estimsate of discounted future cash flows, using a probability-weighted approach, including
scenarios for continued operations and the potential for a sale of the business. The scenarios for estimating cash flows resulting from continued operations reflected
management’s best estimates of sales volumes, which may include customer attrition driven by the Company's announcement to cease investment in the wood
treatment business, potentially prompting them to switch to altemative products. The sale case is based upon estimated proceeds from a potential sale of the wood
treatment business; however, there is no assurance the Company will pursue or consummate a gale. The fair-value estimate for the wood treatment asset group
included significant judgments and assumptions relating to projected revenues through the expected closure of the existing facilities.
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The fair value of the wood treatment asset group was sufficicnt that the recognized impairment was limited to long-lived assets and the reporting unit goodwill
was pot impaired. The Company will continue to menitor the wood treatrent asset group for indicators of long-lived asset or goodwill impairment, Absent a zale of
the business, as the Company approaches the announced clogure date of the facilities and there are fewer estimated future cash flows, there is ongoing potential for
further impairments of long-lived asscts and impairment of goodwill. While the timing and amounts of any further impairments are unknown, they could be
material to the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and 1o the Consolidated Statementz of Income, but they will not affect the Company’s reported Net cash
provided by operating activities. Following the impairment, the wood treatment reporting nit has goodwill of $35,844 and long-lived assets of §13,922.

11. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Other long-term assets consisted of the following:

September 30,
2019 2018
Long-term contract asset 5 1,164  § 1,548
Long-term SERP Investment 980 1,137
Prepaid unamortized debt issuance cost - revolver 709 —
Other long-term assets 2,858 1,979
Total 3 5711 % 4,664
12. ACCRUED EXPENSES, INCOME TAXES PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses, income taxes payable and other current lisbilities consisied of the following:
September 30,
2019 2018

Accrued compensation 3 33809 & 35,367
Income taxes payable 15,725 18,045
Dividends payable 12,953 10,822
KMG - Bernuth warehouse fire related (Sec Note 20) 7,998 —
Taxes, other than income taxes 6,281 1,976
Interest rate swap liability 5351 —
Deferred revenue and customer advances 5,008 4,894
Accrued Intcrest 3,739 —
Goods and scrvices received, not yet invoiced 3,075 1,954
Other 9,679 9,925
Total s 103,618 § 82,983
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13. DEBT

On the Acquisition Date, we entered into the Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, which provides for senior secured financing of up to $1,265.0 million, consisting of the Term Loan Facility in an aggregaic principal amount
0£31,065.0 million and the Revolving Credit Facility in an aggregate principal amount of up 1o $260.0 million, including e letter of credit sub-facility of up to
$50.0 million. The Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility are referred 1o as the “Credit Facilities.”

Proceeds of the loans borrowed under the Term Loan Facility on the Acquisition Date were uged to fund, in part, the Acquisition and certain of KMG's
existing indebtedness, and to pay related fees and expenses. The Revolving Credit Facility remains undrawn.

The Credit Facilities are guaranteed by each of the Company’s wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, including KMG and its subsidiarics, and are secured by
substantially all assets of the Company and of each subsidiary guarantor, in each case subject to certain exceptions.

Borrowings under the Credit Facilities bear interest at s rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, cither {a) a LIBOR, subject to #.00% {loor, or (b)
8 basc rate, in each case plus an applicable margin of, in the case of berrowings under the Term Loan Facility, 2.25% for LIBOR loans and 1.25% for base rate
loans and, in the casc of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, initially, 1.50% for LIBOR loans and0.50% for base rate loans. The applicable margin for
borTowings under the Revolving Credit Facility varies depending on the Company's first lien secured net leverage ratio. The Company is also required to pay 2
commitment fee currently equal t0 0.25% per annum to the lenders under the Revolving Credit Facility in respect of the unutilized commitments thercunder. The
commitment fec under the Revolving Credit Facility varies depending on the Company's first lien secured net leverage ratio.

The Term Loan Facility matures on November 15, 2025, (heseven-year anniversary of the Acquisition Date, and amortizes in equal quarterly installments of
0.25% of the initial principal amount, starting with the first full fiscal quaricr after the Acquisition Date, The Revolving Facility matures on November 15, 2023,
the five-year anniversary of the Acquisition Date. In addition, the Company is required to prepay outstanding loans under the Term Loan Facility, subject to certain
exceptions, with up to 50% of the Company's annual excess cash flow, as defined under the Credit Agreement, and 100% of the net cash proceeds of certain
recovery events and non-ordinary course gsset sales.

The Company may generally prepay outstanding loans under the Credit Facilities at any time, without prepayment premium or penalty, subject lo customary
“breakage” costs with respect to LIBOR rate loans. We made a total prepayment of $100.0 million during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, respectively.

The Revolving Credit Facility requires that the Company maintain a maximum first licn secured net leverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, off 00
10 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter if any revolving loans are outstanding, commencing with the first full fiscal quarter sfter the Acquisition Date.

The Credit Agreement contains certyin affirmative and negative covenants that limit the ability of the Company, among other things and subject to certain
significant exceptions, to incur debt or liens, make investments, enter into certain mergers, consolidations, asset gales and acquisitions, pay dividends and make
other restricted payments and enter into transactions with affiliates. We belicve we arc in compliance with these covenants.

The Credit Agreement contains certain events of default, including relating to a change of control. I an event of default occurs, the jenders under the Credit
Facilities will be entitled 1o take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Facilitics.

At September 30, 2019, the fair value of the Term Loan Facility, using level 2 inputs, approximated its carrying value of $59,676 as the loan bears a floating
market rate of interest. As of September 30, 2019, $13,313 of the debt ocutstanding was classificd ez short-term, and $17,900 of debt issuance costs related to our
Term Loan were presented as a reduction of long-term debt.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2019, we entered into a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement to hedge the variability in our LIBOR-based interest
payments on approximately 70% of our Term Loan Facility balance. See Note 14 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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Principal repayments of the Term Loan Facility arc generally made on the last calendar day of each quarter if that day is considered to be a busincss day.

As of September 39, 2019, scheduled principal repeyments of the Term Loan were:

Fiscal Year Principal Repayments
2020 b 13,313
2021 10,650
2022 10,650
2023 10,650
2024 10,650

Thereafter 903,763

5 959,676

14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed 1o various market risks, including risks associated with interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We enter into certain derivative
transactions to mitigate the volatility associated with thesc cxposures. We have policies in place that define acceptable instrument types we may enter into and we
have established controls to limit our market rigk exposure. We de not use derivaiive financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. In addition, all
derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are required 10 be recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value on a gross basis.

Cash Flow Hedges — Interest Ratg Swap Agreement

During the second quarter, we entered into a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement to hedge the variability in LIBOR-based interest payments on a
portion of our outstanding variable rate debi. As of September 30, 2019, the notional value of the swap was $699,000 and this value is scheduled to decrease bi-
annually, and to expire on January 31, 2024,

We have designated this swap agreement a3 a cash flow hedge pursuant to ASC 815, "Derivatives and Hedging”. Baged on certain quantitative and qualitative
assessments, we have determined that the hedge is highly effective and qualifies for hedge accounting. Accordingly, unrealized gpins and losses on the hedge are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses are recorded on the same financial statement line as the hedged item, which is Interest expense.

Forei Contracts Not Desi; =]

On a regular basis, we enter mto forward forcign exchange contracts in an effort to mitigate the risks agsociated with currency fluctuations on certain foreign
currency balance sheet exposures. These foreign exchange contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting; therefore, the gains and losses resulting from the impact
of currency cxchange rate movements on our forward foreign ¢xchange contracts are recognized as Other income (expensc), net in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Incomre in the period in which the exchange rates change. As of September 30, 2019 and 2018, the notional amounts of the forward contracts we
breld to purchase U.S. dollars in exchange for foreign currencics were $6,239 and $7,652, respectively, and the notional amounts of forward contracts we held to sell
U.S. dollars in exchange for foreign currencies were $24,270 and $24,860, respectively.

Net Inv Hedge — i chan; tracts

In September 2017, we entered into forward contracts to sell 100 billicn Korean won and buy U.S. dollars, which we subsequently terminated in the third
querter of fiscal 2018. We had designated these forward contracts as effective net investment hedges.
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The fair value of cur derivative instruments included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which was determined using level 2 inputs, was as follows:

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
September 30, September 30,
Consolidated Balance Sheets Location 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments
Accrued expenses, incame taxes payable
Interest rate swap contracts and other current liabilitics 3 — 3 — 3 5351 % —
Other long-term liabilitics 5 — 3 — 3 18841 § —
Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments
Foreign exchange cantracts Prepaid expenses and other current assets § — % — 3 — 3 —
Accrued expenses, income laxes payable
and other current liabilities 5 — 3 — 8 52 S 339

The following table summerizes the effect of our derivative instrument on our Conselidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended Seplember 30,
2019, 2018 and 2017:
Gain (Loss) Recognired in Consolidated Statements

of Income
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
Consolidated Statements of Income Location 2019 2018 m7
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Foreign cxchange contracts Other income {expense), pet $ 28 3 (1,569) $ (1,462)

The interest raic swap agreement has been deeraed to be effective, and realized gains and losscs were immaterial to our Consolidated Statements of Income.
We recorded an unrealized loss of $18,780, net of tax, in Accumulated comprehensive income during the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 for this interest
rate swap. As of September 30, 2019, during the next 12 months, we expect approximately $5,351 1o be reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income into Interest expense related to our interest rate swap based on projected rates of the LIBOR forward curve as of September 30, 2019.
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15. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The table below summarizes the components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCT), net of Provision for income taxes/(benefit), for the
years ended September 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017.

Foreign Cash Pension and Other
Currency Flow Postretirement
Transiation Hedges Liabilities Total

Balance at September 30, 2016 $ 11985 § 817y § (1.612) $ 9,556
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $@,321) (6,746) — — (6,746)
Unrealized gain (Joss) on cash flow hedges:

Change in fair value, net of tax of $(560) — 1,161 — 1,161
Reclassification adjustment into carnings, net of tax of $170 — (298) — (298)
Change in pension and other postretirement, nct of tax of §79 — — 276 276
Balance at September 30, 2017 5239 45 (1,336) 3,949
Forcign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $2.409) 679 — — 679
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges:

Change in fair vatue, net of tax of $111 — 319 —_ 319
Reclassification adjustment into earnings, net of tax of $(133) — (382) - (382)
Change in pengion and other postretirement, net of tax of §1 — — (26) (26)
Balance at Septetaber 30, 2018 5918 {17 (1362 4,539
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $591 (8,548) — — (8,548)
Unrealized gain (loss) en cash flow hedges:

Changr in fair value, net of tax of $(5,297) — (18,370) — (18,370)
Reclassification adjustment into carnings, net of tax of $(i 14) — (410) — (410)
Change in pension and other posiretirement, net of tax of $(30) — — (449) (449)
Balance at September 30, 2019 $ (2,630) § (18797 § (1B11) § (23.238)

The before tax amount reclassified from OCI to Net income in fiscal 2019, related to our cash flow hedges, was recorded as Interest expense on our
Consolidated Statements of Income. Amounts reclassified from OCI to Net incomme, related to pension liabilities, were pot material in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and
2017.




16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AND OMNIBUS [NCENTIVE PLAN

In March 2004, our siockho!ders approved our Second Amended and Restated Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plap (the "EIP"), as
amended and restated September 23, 2008, In March 2012, our stockholders approved the Cabot Microelectronics Corporution 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the
"QIP*), which is the successor plan to the EIP, and which was amended as of March 2017, All share-based awnrds have been made from the OIP as of its approval
date, and since then the EIP no longer has been available for any awards. The OIP is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and
is intended to provide management with the flexibility 1o attract, retain and reward our employees, directors, consultants and advisors. The OLP allows for the
granting of six types of equity incentive awards: stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation righis (SARs), performance-based awards
and substitute awards. The OIP also provides for cash incentive awards 1o be made. Substitute awards under the OIP are those awards that, in connection with an
acquisition, may he granted 10 employees, directors, consultants or advisors of the acquired company, in substitution for equity incentives held by them m the seller
ot the acquired company. For example, in fiscal 2019 in connection with the Acquisition, we awarded a (ota] of 43,443 restricted stock unit awards 10 certain KMG
employees in substitution for certain unvested restricted stock umit awards that KMG had awarded subsequent 10 the entry into the definitive agreement for the
Acquisition, but prior to the Acquisition Date (“Replacement Awards™). Also, in fiscal 2016, related to our acquisition of NexPlanar, we granted incentive stock
options (1$0z), as allowed under the OIP, to certain NexPlanar employees in substitution for unvested 1S0Os they had beld in NexPlanar at the time of the closing of
the acquisition, As of September 30, 2019, no SAR3 bave been granted to dale under either plan. No awards of any type have been granted to date to consultants
or advisors under either plan. The OIP authorizes up to 4,977,887 shares of slock o be granted thereunder, mcluding up to2,074,395 shares of stock in the
aggregate of awards other than options or SARs, snd up to 2,538,690 incentive stock options. The 4,977,887 shares of stock represents 2,944,803 shares of newly
authorized shares and 2,033,084 ghares previously availsble under the EIP. In addition, shares that become available from awards under the EIP and the OTP
because of events such as forfeitures, cancellations or expirations will also be available for issuance under the OIP. Shares issued under our share-based
compensation plans are issued from new shares rather than from treagury shares.

Non-qualified stock optiops issued under the OIP, a3 they were under the EIP, are generally time-based and provide for aen-year term, with options gencrally
vesting equally over a four-year period, with first vesting on the first amniversary of the award date. Non-qualificd stock options granted 1o nen-employee directors
on an annual basis vest 100% on the first anniversary of the award date. Under the OIP, as under the EIP, employees may also be granted [SOs to purchase
commaon stock at not lesg than the fair value on the date of the grant, Prior to fiscal 2016, no [SO= had been granted under either plan. Compensation expense
related 1o our stock option awards was $4,267, $6,392 and $5,500 in fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For additionsl information on our accounting for
ghare-based compensation, sec Note 2 of this Annual Repart on Form 10-K.

Under the OIP, employees and non-employees may be awarded shares of restricted siock or restricted stock units, which generally vest over dour-year
period, with first vesting on the anniversary of the grant date. In general, sharcs of restricted stock and restricted siock units may not be sold, assigned, tansferred,
pledged, disposed of or otherwise encumbered. Holders of restricted stock, and restricted stock units, if specified in the award agreements, have all the rights of
stockholders, including voting and dividend rights, subject to the ebove restrictions. Holders of restricted stock units awarded a3 of fiscal 2016 bave dividend
equivalent rights pursuant to the terms of the OIP and respective award agreements. Restricted shares under the OIP, s under the EIP, also may be purchased and
placed "on deposit” by executive officers pursuant to the 2001 Deposit Share Program. Shares purchased under this Deposit Share Program receive a 50% match
in restricted shares ("Award Shares™). These Award Shares vest at the end of 2 three-ycar period, and #rc subject to forfeiture upon carly withdrawal of the deposit
shares, Compensation expense related 10 our regtricted stock and restricted stock unit awards and restricted shares matched at 50% pursuant to the Deposit Share
Program for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017 was 511,400, $9,186 and 36,730, respectively,

In December 2017, we granted performance share unit {("PSU™} awards 1o certain employees. These PSUs fully vest on the third anniversary of the grant date.
Stock-based compensation for the awards is recognized over the requisite service period (three years) beginning on the date of award through the end of the
performance period based on the number of PSUs expected to vest under the awards at the end of the performance period. The expected amount of vesting is
determined using certain performance measures and is re-evaluated at the end of each fiscal year through the end of the performance period. In addition, the PSUs
awarded may be subject to downward or upward adjustment depending on the total sharcholder return achieved by the Campany during the particular performance
period related (o the PSUs, relative to the total sharcholder returmn of the S&P SmallCap 600 Index. We used a third-party service provider to cstimate the fair value
of the PSUs at grant date by using a Monie Carlo simulation model, This model simulates the stock price movements of the Company and Index constituents using
certain assumptions, including the stock price of our company and Index constituents, the risk-free interest rate and stock price volatility. We have recorded $1,279
and $2,056 compensalion expense related to our PSU awards in fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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With respect to the Replacernent Awards, which were made in fiscal 2019, they vest inthree equal installments on the first three anniversarics of the original
award date. If the recipient is terminated without cause or resigns with good reason during the 18 months following the Acquisition Date, the Replacement Award
will vest as of such termination date in a pumber of shares equal to 150% of the Replacement Award.

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In March 2008, our stockholders approved our 2007 Cabot Microelectronics Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"}, which amended the ESPP for the

primary purpose of increasing the authorized shares of common stock to be purchased under the ESPP from 475,000 designated shares to 975,000 shares. As of
Septcmbcrm, 2019, a total of 336,684 ghares are available for purchase under the ESPP. The ESPP allows all full-time, and certain part-time, employees of our
Company and its designated subsidiaries to purchase shares of our common stock through payroll deductions. Employees can elect to have up to 10% of their
annual camnings withheld to purchase our stock, subject to 4 maximum number of shares that a participant may purchase and a maximum dotlar expenditure in any
six-month offering period, and certain other criterin. The provisions of the ESPP allow shares to be purchased at a price no less than the lower of 85% of the
closing price at the beginning or end of each semi-annual stock purchase period. A total of 48,820, 49,896, and 69,751 shares were issued under the ESPP during
fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Compensation cxpense related o the ESPP was $1,281, $885 and 5774 in fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

ACCOUNTING FOR SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The fair value of our share-based awards, as shown below, was egtimated using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended September 30,
019 2018 2017
Stock Options
‘Weighted-average grant date fair value 5 2734 8 2659 % 16.50
Expected term (in years) 6.36 6.68 6.57
Expected volatility 26 % 26% 27%
Risk-free rate of return 28% 24% 21%
Dividend yield 1.6 % 1.0% 12%
Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 1017
ESPP
Weighted-average grant date fair value $ 25.16 $ 2054 5 1249
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility 34 % 26 % 24 %
Risk-free rate of return 23% 1.5% 0.6 %
Dividend yield 1.6 % 1.1% 1.3 %

The Black-Scholes model is primarily used in cstimating the fair value of short-lived exchange treded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable. Because employee stock options and ESPP purchases have certain characteristics that are significantly different from traded options, and becanse
changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, our use of the Black-Schoeles madel for estimating the fair value of stock options
and ESPP purchases may not provide an accurate measure. Although the value of our stock options and ESPP purchazes are determined in accordance with
applicable accounting standards using an option-pricing model, those values may not be indicative of the fair values observed in a willing buyer/willing seller
market transection.

The fair value of our restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards represents the closing price of our common stock on the date of award. Share-based
compensation expense related 1o restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards is recorded net of expected forfeitures.
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

Total share-based compensanion expense for the years ended Septemnber 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
201% 2018 2017
Consolidated Statements of Income classifications:

Cost of sales $ 2727 0% 2450 § 2,229
Reszarch, development and technical 2,150 1,940 1,792
Sclling, general and administrative 13,350 14,128 8,983
Tax benefit (3,767) (4,306) (4,339)

Total ghare-hased compensation expense, net of tax b3 14460 § 14212 § 8,665

Beginning in December 2017, equity grants included the provisions of stock option grants and resiricted stock unit awards such that except in certain
circumstances including termination for cause, once an employec meets the retrement cligibility requirements, any remaining unvested share-based awards will
continue to vest regardless of termination of service. Consequently, the requisite service period for the award is satisfied upon retirement eligibility. Therefore, for
those cmployees who have met the retirement eligibility at the grant date, we now record the total share-based compensation cxpense upon award; for those
employees who will meet the retirement eligibility during the four-year vesting period, we now record the share-based compensation expense over the period from
the grant date through the date of retirement eligibility, rather than over the four-year vesting period stated in the award agreement. Restricted stock unils granted
1o non-employee directors on an annual basis vest 100% on the first anniversary of the award date.

In fiscal 2019, we recorded 53,253 in share-based compensation expense related to the Replacement Awards, including acceleraied vesting, issued in
conjunction with the Acquisition. In fiscal 2018, we recorded 52,602 of shared-based compensation expense associated with our executive officer transitions,
which is included in the table above as general and administrative expense.

STOCK OPTION ACTIVITY

A summary of stock option activity under the EIP and OIP as of September 30, 2019, and changes during fiscal 2019 are presented below:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsie
Stock Exercise Term Valoe
Options Price {ln years) (in thousands)
Cnutstanding at September 30, 2018 1,131,481 § 52.68
Granted 148,027 103.23
Bxercised (313,246) 42,12
Forfeited or canceled {87,238) 67.89
Outstanding at Septemaber 30, 2019 879,024 % 63.44 66 % 68,363
Exercisable at September 30, 2019 492218 § 50.70 55 % 44,549
Expecied to vest at September 30, 2019 386,806 S 79.72 80 § 23,783

The aggregate intrinsic valuc in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (i.e., for all in-the-money stock options, the difference between our
closing stock price per share on the last rading day of fiscal 2019 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of shares) that would have been received by the
option holders had &ll option holders cxcrcised their options on the last rading day of fiscal 2019. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $20,711,
$30,345 and $25,213 for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respeciively.
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The total cash received from options exercised wes $3,193, $19,247 and $27.666 for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The actual tax benefit realized
for the tax deductions from options excreised was $4,449, £7,503 and $8,743 for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The total fair value of stock options
vested during fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $4,506, $5,008 and §5,300, respectively. As of September 30, 2019, there was 7,442 of total unrecognized
share-based compensation expense related to unvesied stock options granted under the EIP and OIP. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.1 years.

RESTRICTED STOCK AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

A summary of the status of the restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit awards, including PSUs outstanding that were awarded under the OIP as of
September 30, 2019, and changes during fiscal 2019, are presented below:

Weighted
Average
Restricted Stock  Grant Date Fair
Awards and Units Valae

Nonvested at September 30, 2018 328,147 7042
Granted * 152,499 99.41
Vested (156,900) 69.17
Forfeited (48,513) 69.42
Nonvested at September 30, 2019 275233 § §7.36

* Includes PSUs awarded, which may be subject to downward or upward adjustment depending on the performance measures during the particular
performance period pursuant o the PSU award agreement.

The total fair value of restricted stock swards and restricted stock unils vested during fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $1,060, $6,669 and $6,898,
respectively. As of September 30, 2019. there was 518,824 of total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock awards
and restricted stock units, inchrding PSUS, under the OIF. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 yeans.

17. SAYINGS PLAN

Effective in May 2000, we adopted the Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 401(k) Plan (the "401(k) Plan™), which is a qualified defined contribution plan,
covering all eligible heritage Cabot Microelectronics U.S. employees meeting certam minimum age and eligibility requirements, as defined by the 401(k) Plan.
Participants may make elective contributions of up to 60% of their eligible compensation.  All amounts contributed by participants and samings on these
contributions are fully vested at all times. The 401(k) Plan provides for matching and fixed non-elective conttibutions by the Company. Under the 401(k) Plan,
the Company will match 100% of the first four percent of the participant’s eligible compensation and 50% of the next two percent of the participant's eligible
compensation that is contributed, subject to limitations required by government regulations. Under the 401 (k) Plan, all U.S. employees, even those who do not
contribute to the 401(k) Plan, receive a contribution by the Company in an amount equal to four percent of eligible compensation, and thus are participants in the
401(k) Plan. Participants are 100% vested in all Company contributions at all times. The Company's expense for the 401(k) Plan totaled $,028, $5,562 and
$£5,256 for the fiscal years ended Scptember 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

KMG has a defined contribution 401(k) plan in which all regular heritage KMG U.S. employees are eligible to participate. KMG makes matching
contributions under this plan of up to four percent of a participant's compensation up to the annual regulated maximum amounts. The first3% of the employee
contribution is matched at 100%. The next2% of the employee contribution is matched at 50%. The KMG expense for the 401 (k) Plan totaled %70 for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2019. KMG's United Kingdom and Singapore subsidiarics make contributions to retirement plans that function as defined contribution
retirement plans, and the contributions to those plans were approximately $1,356 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019,
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18. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The following is a summary of our capilal stock activily over the past three years:

Number of Shares
Common Treasury
Stock Stock

September 30, 2016 34,261,304 9,744,642

Exercise of stock options §18,640

Restricted stock under EIP and OIP, net of forfeitures 81,047

Common stock under ESPP 69,751

Repurchases of common stock under share repurchase plans 167,809

Repurchases of commeon stock — other 35,739
September 30, 2017 35,230,742 9,948,190

Exercise of stock options 487,915

Regtricted stock under OIP, net of forfeitures 93,817

Common stock under ESPP 49,991

Repurchases of common stock under share repurchase plans 369,791

Repurchases of common stock - other 38,166
September 30, 2018 35,862,465 10,356,147

Shares issued In connection with the Acquisition 3,236,865

Exercise of stock options 313,246

Restricted stock under OIP, net of forfeitures 131,072

Common stock inder ESPP 48,820

Repurchases of commeon stock under share repurchase plans 88,403

Repurchages of common stock — other 46,702
September 30, 2019 39,592,468 10,491,252

COMMON STOCK

Each zhare of commeon stock, including those awarded as restricted stock, but not restricted stock units, entitles the holder toone voie on all matters submitted
to a vote of Cabot Microelectronics' stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to receive ratably the dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of
Dircctors. Holders of restricted stock units awarded as of fiscal 2016 are cntitled to dividend equivalents, which are paid to the holder upon the vesting of the
restricted stock units. The number of authorized shares of common stock is 200,000,000 shares.

SHARE REPURCHASES

In January 2016, our Board of Directors authorized an increase in the amount available under our share repurchase program from §5,000 to $150,000. Under
this program, we repurchased 88,403 shares for $10,002 during fiscal 2019,369,791 shares for $40,726 during fiscal 2018, and 167,809 shares for $12,035 during
fiscal 2017. Az of September 30, 2019, $71,268 remains available under our share repurchase program. To date, we have funded share repurchases under our
share repurchase program from our existing cash balance, and anticipate we will continue to do s0. The program, which became effective on the authorization
date, may be suspended or terminated at any time, at the Company's discretion. For additional information on share repurchases, see Part [T, Item 5, "Market for
Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” and the section titled "Liquidity and Capital Resources” in
Part I1, Item 7, "Managemeni's Discuszion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations® of this Annual Report of Form 10-K.

Separate from this share repurchase program, a total 0f46,702, 38,166 and 35,739 sharcs were purchased during fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
pursuant to the terms of our OIP as shares withheid from award recipien!s 1o cover payroll taxes on the vesting of shares of restricted stock granted under the OIP.
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19. INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes was as follows:

Domestic
Foreign
Total

Taxes on income consisted of the following:

U.S. federal and state:
Current
Deferred

Total
Foreign:
Current
Deferred

Towl

Total U.S. and foreign

The Provision for income taxes at our ¢ffective tax rate differed from the statutory rate as followa:

Federul statutory rate

U.S. benefits from research and experimentation activities

State taxes, net of federal effect
Foreign income at other than U.S. rates
Excess compensation
Share-based compensation
U.S. ix reform
Globa! Intangible Low Taxed Income
Foreign Derived Intangible Income
Other, net

Provision for mcome taxes

Year Ended September 30, 2019

2019 2018 17
(45364) § 46254 33272
108,470 115,457 76,100

63,106 § 161,711 & 109,372

Year Ended Scptember 30, 2019
2019 2018 2017

23461 § 14698 § 8,606
(23,182) 16,347 1,550
7% 3 25045 § 10,156
27,580 § 26,135 § 13422
(3,968) 488 {1,158)
23,612 26,623 12,264
23891 § 51,668 § 22,420

Year Ended September 30, 2019

2019 2018 2017
21.0% 245% 350 %
24 (©.8) (1.0
@7 0.1 04
103 1.2 (14.7)

6.4 04 0.3
a2 @3 0.1
14.1 12 0.0

3.1 — —
(3.9) — —

12 (0.3) 04
379 % 320 % 205 %

The Tax Act created new rules that allow the Company to make an accounting policy election to treat taxes due on GILTI inclusions in taxable incotne as
cither a current peried expense or reflect such inclusions related to temporary basis differences in the Company’s measuremnent of deferred taxes. The GILTI
provision of the Tax Act became effective for Cabot for the year ended September 30, 2019 and the Company has elected to treat the GILTI inclusion as a current
period expense. Additionally, the Tax Act allows a domestic corporation an immediate deduction in U.S. taxable income for 8 portion of its Foreign Derived

Intangible Income (FDII).
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The increasc in the effective tax rate during fiscal 2019 was primarily due to increased tax expense related to newly issued final regulations related to the Tax
Act, which impacted our reserves for uncertain tax positions, and also the unfavorable tax treatment of certain Acquisition-related costs, including compensation
deduction limitations, and non-deductibility of certain professional fess. Partially offsetting these adverse items, the Tax Act reduced the corporate income tax rate
10 21.0% effective January 1, 2018, resulting in a change in our blended tax rate 0£24.5% m fiscal 2018 to 21.0% beginning with our fiscal 2019.

The significant increase in our effective tax rate for fiscal 2018 was primarily driven by the changes introduced by the Tax Act in December 2017, which
includes the deemed repatristion tax (trangition tax). The Company made the decision o take the dividends received deduction (DRD) on its fiscal 2018 tax return
and accordingly reflected a section 245A DRD with respect 10 the section 78 gross-up in its transition tax calculation. Other factors that impacted the Company's
effective tax rute for fiscal 2018 were primarily related to benefits in excess of compensation cost from share-based compensation recorded in the Consolidated
Statements of Income (as opposed to equity prior to October 2017) and the absence of benefits of a tax holiday in South Korea that expired as of October 2017.

The accounting guidance regarding umcertainty in income taxes prescribes a threshold for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions
1aken or expected to be taken on a tax return. Under these standards, we may recognize the lax benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustamed by the taxing authoritics, based on the wechnical merits of the position.

The following table presents the changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits during the {ast three fiscal years:

Balance September 30, 2016 $ 2,089
Additions for tax positions relating to the cutrent fiscal year 381
Additions for tax positions relating to priar fiscal years 44
Lapsc of statute of limitations 244)
Balance Scptember 30, 2017 2,270
Additons for tax positions relating to the current fiscal year 263
Additions for tax positions relating to prior fiscal years 116
Lapse of statute of limitations (1,215}
Balance September 30, 2018 1,434
Additions for tax positions relating to the current fscal year 271
Additions for tax positions relating to prior fiscal years 9,839
Balance September 30, 2019 s 11,544

The entire balance of unrecognized tax benefits shown above a5 of September 30, 2019 and 2018, would affect our effective tax rate if recognized We
recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as income 1ax expense in our financial statements. Additions for tax positions relating to prior
fiscal years of $9,839 in fiscal 2019 are mainly due o newly issued regulations to the Tax Act, which impacted the Company's reserves for uncertain tax positions.
Interest accrued on our Consolidated Balance Sheets was $281 and $69 at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and any interest and penalties charged to
expense in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017 was immaterial.

At September 30, 2019, the tax periods open to exatnination by the U.S. federal, state and local governments include fiscal years 2015 through 2019, and the

tax periods open to examination by foreign jurisdictions include fiscal years 2014 through 2019. We do not anticipate a significant change to the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months.
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Significant components of pet deferred 1ax assets and liabilities were as follows:

September 30,
2019 2018
Deferred tax asseis:
Employee bencfits s 5719 § 3,995
[oventory 3,81 3,026
Accrued expenses 4,202 8319
Share-based compensation expense 5215 5379
Credit and other carryforwards 9,743 6,419
Interest ratc swap 5,412 —
Other 1,088 358
Valuntion allowance 2574 (133)
Total deferred tax assets 5 32616 § 19,883
Deferred tax liabilites:
Depreciation and amortization $ 140092 § 8,007
Withhokling on foreign income 6,026 5,209
Cnther 1,926 908
Total deferred tax lisbilities b3 148,044 §$ 14,124

As of September 30, 2019, the Company hed foreign and domestic net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs™) of $3,465, which will expire over the period
between fiscal year 2020 and fiscal year 2039. We have recorded a tax-cffected valuation allowance of 52,565 egainst the deferred tax assets related to certain
fortign and U.S. federal and state NOLs, a3 well as on certain federal tax credit carryforwards. As of September 30, 2019, the Company had 2 LS. federal and
state tax credit cammyforward of $2,396, which will expire beginning in fiscal years 2021 through 2039.

Prior to ensctmeat of the Tax Act, the Company did not record income tax expense for the undistributed carnings of its international subsidiarics. As a result
of the Tax Act, the Company no lenger intends to maintain the indefinite reinvestment assertion.
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND OTHER CONTINGENCIES

We periodically become a party to legal proceedings, arbitrations, and regulatory proceedings (‘contingencics™) arising in the ordinary course of our business
operations. The ultimate resohution of these contingencies is subject to significant uncertainty, and should we fail to prevail in any of them or should several of
them be resolved against us in the same reporting period, these matters could, individually or in the aggregate, be material to our consolidated financial statcments.
One of these contingencics, related 1o Star L ake Canal, which we assurmed in connection with the Acquisition, is discussed below. The ultimate outcome of these
matters, however, cannot be determined at this tme, nor can (he amount of any potential ioss be reasonably estimated, and as a result except where indjcated no
amounts have been recorded in our consalidated financial statements. The Company records legal costs associsted with loss contingencies 35 expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

On May 31, 2019, & fire occurred at the warehouse of the facility of KMG's subsidiary, KMG-Bernuth, in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, which processes penta for
sale 1o customers in the United States and Canada. The warehouse fire, which we believe originated from non-hazardoug wasie materials temporarily siored in the
warehouse for recycling purposes, caused no injurics and was extinguighed in less than an hour. Company personnsl investigated the incident, and KMG-Bemnuth
commenced cleanup with oversight from certain |ocal, siate and federal authorities. The carrying value of the warehouse and the affected inveniory are not
material. Applying the accounting guidance under ASC 410-30, Environmental Obligations and ASC 450, Contingencies, we determined that sine¢ we have
environmental obligations as of the date of the fire, costs for the fire waste cleanup and dispesal should be recognized to the extent they are probable and
reasonably estimable. We have applied these criteria and recorded an undiscounted amount of $9,494 loss contingency regarding disposal costs that can be
reasonably estimated at this ime. These disposal costs were charged to Cost of sales. There are potential additional disposal and other costs that cannot be
reasonably estimated as of this time related to materials in the warchouse or otherwise impacted by the incident. The fire waste cleanup and disposal cosis have
been and may continue 1 be significant due to the nature of federally-regulated penta-related waste cleanup and disposal requirements. We will continue to update
the estimated losses as pew information becomes svailable.

In addition, we are working with ow insurance carriers on possible recovery of losses and costs, but at this point we cannot reasonably estimate whether we
will receive, or if so, the amount of, any potential insurance recoveries. As such, no insurance recaveries have been recognized as of September 30, 2019.

Separately, in 2014, prior to the Acquisition, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (*EPA™) had notificd KMG-Bernuth, that the EPA
considered it to be a potentially responsible party under the Comprebensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended
(*CERCLA") by virtue of its relationship with certain alleged predecessor companies, including Idacon, Inc (£k/a Sonford Chemical Company) in conpection with
the Star Lake Canal Superfund Site near Beaumont, Texas. The EPA has estimated that the remediation will cost approximately $22.0 million. KMG-Bemuth and
approximalely seven other parties entered into an agreement with the EPA in September 2016 to complete a remedial design phase of the remediation of the site.
The remediation work will be performed under a separate future agreement. Although KMG-Bemnuth has not conceded liability, a reserve in connection with the
remediel design was established, and as of September 30, 2019, the reserve remaining was $728.

We also may face other governmental or third-party claims, or otherwise incur costs, relating to cleanup of, or for injuries resulting from, contamination st
sites associated with this or other past and present operations. We accrue for énvironmental liabilities when a determination can be made that they are probable and
reasonably estimable. Other than as described herein, we are not involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, our Company is subject 10 extensive federal, state and local lews, regulations and ordinances in the U.S. and in other countries. These regulatory
requirements relate to the usc, generation, storage, handling, emission, transportation and discharge of certain hazardous mnicrials, substances and waste into the
cavironment. The Company, including its KMG entitics, manage Environmental, Health and Safety (“EHS™) maticrs rclated to protection of the environment and
human health, the cleanup of contaminated sites, the treatment, storage and disposal of wastes, and the emission of substances into the air or waterways, among
other EHS concerns. Governmental authorities can enfarce cotplisnce with their regulations, and violators may be subject 1o fines, injunctions or both, The
Company devotes significant financial resources 10 compliance, including costs for ongoing compliance.
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Certain licenses, permits and product registrations are required for the Company s products and operations in the U.S., Mexico and other countries in which it
does business. The licenses, permits and product regisirations are subject to revocation, modification and repewal by governmental suthorities. In the United States
in particular, producers and distributors of pents, which is a product manufactured and sold by KMG-Bernuth as part of the wood treatment business, are subject to
registration and notification requirements under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (“FIFRA™) and comparable state law in order to sell this
product in the United States. Compliance with these requirements may have a significant effect on our business, financial condition and resulis of operations.

We are subject to contingencies, including litigation relating to EHS laws and regulations, cormmercial disputes and other matters. Certain of these
contingencics arc discussed above and below. The ultimate resolution of these contingencies is subject to significant uncertainty, and should we fail to prevail in
any of them or should several of themn be resolved against us in the same reporting period, these matters could, individually or in the aggregnic, be material to the
consolidated financial statements. The ultimate cutcome of these matters cannot be determined at this time, nor can the amount of any potential loss be reasonably
estimated, and as a result except where indicated no amounts have been recorded in our consolidated financial statements. The Company records legal costs
associated with loss contingencics as expenscs in the peried in which they are incurred.

INDEMNIFICATION

In the normal cotrse of business, we are a party to a variety of agreetnents pursuant to which we may be obligated to indemnify the other party with respect to
certain matters. Generally, these obligations arise in the context of agreements entered into by us, under which we customarily agree to hold the ather party
harmless against loszes arising from ilems such as & breach of certain representations and covenants including title Lo mxscts sold, certain intellectual property rights
and certain environmental matters. These terms &rc common in the industries in which we conduct business. In each of these circumstances, payment by us js
subject to certain monetary and other limitations and is conditioned on the other party making an adverse claim pursuant to the procedures specified in the
particular agrecment, which typically allow us to challenge the other party's claimg,

We evaluaic estimated lesses for such indemnifications under the accounting standards related to contingencics and guarantees. We consider such factors as
the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the sbility to make a reasonsble estimate of the amount of loss. To date, we have not experienced material
coats a3 a result of such obligations and, as of September 30, 2019, have not recorded any liabilitics related to such indemnifications in our financial statements asg
we do not belieye the likelihood of mich obligations is probable.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

We lease certain vehicles, warchouse facilities, office space, machipery and equipment under cancelable and noncancelable leases, most of which cxpire in
five years and may be renewed by us. Rent expense under such arrangements during fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017 totaled $7,975, $4,307 and $3,120, respectively.

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable leases as of September 36, 2019 are as follows:

Fhcal Year Amount
2020 5 6,984
2021 4,941
2022 4,291
2023 4,122
2024 3,710

Thereafler 12,010

b 36,058

PURCHASE OBLIGATIONS

Purchase obligations include take-or-pay arrangements with suppliers, and purchase orders and other obligations entered into in the norms! course of business
regarding the purchase of goods and services. We have been operating under an sbrasive particle supply agreement with Cabot Corporation, our former parent
company which is not a related party, the curment term of which runs through December 2019. As of September 30, 2019, purchase obligations include $5,897 of
contractual commitments related 1o this agreement. In addition, we have purchase commitment of $9.7 million to purchase pon-water-based cermier fluid, and have
another purchase contract to purchase $4.1 million of abrasive particles.
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POSTRETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS IN FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS

We have defined benefit plans covering employees in certain foreign jurisdictions as required by local law. Net service costs are recorded as fringe benefit
expense under Cost of sales and Operating expenses, and all other costs are recorded in the Other income (expense), net in our Consolidated Staiements of Income.

Our unfunded plans in Japan, which represent the majerity of our pension liability for such plans, hed projected bemefit obligations of ¥,175 and $6,621 as of
September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and an accumulated benefit obligation of $5,704 and $5,234 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Key
assumptions used in the actuarial measurement of the Japan pension liability include & weighted average discount rate of 0.25% and 0.50% at September 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively, and an expected rate of compensation increase of 2.50% at Seplember 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Total future Japan pension costs
included in Accumulated other comprehensive (Toss) income are $(1,894) and $(1,735) at Scptember 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Our unfunded plans in South Korea had projected benefit obligations of £,182 and $1,731 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018 and an accumulated bencfit
obligation of $1,264 and $1,064 as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Key assumptions used in the actuarial measurement of the Korea pension
Liability include weighted average discount rates of 2.50% and 3.75% at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and an expected rate of compensation
increase of 4.50% at September 20, 2019 and 2018. Total future Korea pension costs included in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income are $457) and
$(133) at Scpicmber 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Our benefit plan for KMG employees in France hed s projected benefit obligation of 8,764 as of Scptzmbcr 10, 2019 and an accumulaied benefit obligation
of $1,346 as of September 30, 2019. Key assumptions used in the actuarial measurement of the France pension liability include a weighted aversge discount rate
of 0.50% at Scpiember 30, 2019 and an expectsd rate of compensation increase 0f2.50%, and an expected rate of return on plan asseis 02.15% at September 30,
2019. Total future France pension costs included in Accumnulated other comprehensive (loss) income is not material at September 30, 2019.

Benefit costs for the combined plans were $,345, $1,236 and $1,176 in fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, consisting primarily of service costs,
and were recorded as fringe benefit expense under Cost of sales and Opernting cxpenses in our Consolidated Statements of Income. Estimated future benefit
payments are as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount
2020 H 662
2021 48!
2022 498
2023 621
2024 663

2025 o0 2029 4,947
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21. EARNINGS FER SHARE

Basic eamings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing Net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of commwon shares
outstanding during the period, excluding the effects of unvested restricted stock awards with a right to receive non-forfeitable dividends, which are considered
participating sccuritics as prescribed by the two—class method under ASC 260 “Earnings per Share”. Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, the amount of
participating securitics was no longer material and therefore, we have excluded such securities from our calculation of EPS in fiscal 2019. Diluted EPS is
calculated in a gimilar manner, but the weighted-averuge number of common shares outstanding during the pertiod is increased to include the weighted-average
dilutive effect of "in-the-money" stock options and unvested restricted stock shares and units using the treasury stock method.

The standards of accounting for camings per ahare require companies to provide a reconciliation of the numerator and denommator of the basic and Diluted
earnings per share computations. Basic and Diluted eamings per share were calculated as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017
Numerator:
Net income $ 39215 § 110,043 § 86,952
Less: income attributable to participating securities — (123) (256)
Net income available to comman stockholders $ 39215 §$ 109920 $ 86,696
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares 28,571,052 25,517,825 25,015,458
(Denominator for basic calculation)
Weighted-average effect of dilutive securities:
Share-based compensation 522,975 725,339 497,029
Diluted weighted-average common sharez 29,094,027 26,243,164 25,512,487
(Denominator for diluted calculation)
Eamings per share:
Basic $ 137 § 431 § 3.47
Diluted $ 135 § 419 § 340

For the year ended September 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017, approximately0.2 million, 0.1 million and ¢.4 million shares, respectively, attributable to outstanding
stock options were excluded from the calculation of Diluted carnings per share.
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22. SEGMENT REPORTING

We identify our segments based on our management structure and the financial mformation used by our chief executive officer, who is our chicf operating
decision maker, 1o assess segment performance and allocale resources amang our operating units. We historically had operated predeminantly in one industry
segment — the development, manufacture and sale of Chemical Mechanical Planarization (CMP) consumables products. In comnection with the Acquisition, we
reasscssed our operating and reportable segments, and determined that we have the following two reportable segments:

El ic Mategials

Electronic Materials includes products apd solutions for the semiconductor industry. We manufacture and sell CMP consumables, including CMP slurries and
polishing pads, and high-purity process chemicals used 1o eich and clean silicon wafers in the production of semiconductors, photovoltaics (solar cells) and flat

panel displays.
Materials

Performance Materials includes pipeline performance products and services, wood treatment products, and products and equipment used in the precision optics
industry.

Beginning in fiscal 2019 and with the Acquisition, our chief operating decision maker evaluates segment performance based upon revenue and segment
adjusted EBITDA. Segment adjusied EBITDA is defined as carnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted for certain items that
affect comparability from period to period. These adjustments include items related to the Acquisition, such as expenses incurred 1o complete the Acquisition,
integration-related expenses and impact of fair value adjustments to inventory acquired from KMG, and certain costs related to the KMG-Bernuth warehouse fire,
assct impairment and restructuring charges related to the wood treatment reporting unit. We exclude these items from earnings when presenting our adjusted
EBITDA messure because we believe they will be incurred infrequently and/or are otherwise not indicative of 4 segment’s regular, ongeing operating performance.
Adjusted EBITDA is also the basis of 8 performance metric for our Gscal 2019 Short-Term Incentive Program (STIFP). In addition, our chief aperating decision
maker does not use assets by segment to evaluate performance or allocete resources. Therefore, we do pot disclose assets by segment.

Revenue from external customers by scgment and are as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 017
Segment Revenue
Electronic Materials s 833,051 § 559,944 ¢ 485,034
Performance Materials 204,645 30,179 22,145
Total $ 1,037,696 § 560,123 § 507,179
Capital expenditures by segment are as follows:
Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017
Capital Expenditures
Electronic Materials $ 40,166 8 18,668 3§ 19,325
Performance Materials 16,367 409 414
Corporate 5,663 3,918 1,917
Total $ 62,196 § 22995 3§ 21,656
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Adjusted EBITDA by segment are as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2013 2617
Scgment adjusted EBITDA:
Electronic Materials $ 294902 § 222019 § 169,044
Performance Materials 91,372 7.191 2,516
Unallocated corparate expenses (52,856) (39,266) (34,050)
Interest cxpense (45,681) (2,905) @.529)
Interest income 2,346 4,409 2,351
Depreciation and amortization (98,592) (25.876) (25,960)
Acquisition and integration related expenses (34,709) (3,861) —
Charge for fair value write-up of acquired inventory sold (14,869) — —
Costs related to KMG-Bernuth warehouse fire (See Note 20) (9,905) —_ —
Costs related to restructuring of wood treatment (1.530) — —
Charges related 1o asset impairment of wood treatment (67.372) — -
Income before income taxes b3 63,106 § 161,711 § 109,372

We began to manage and report our results under the new organizational siructure in conjunction with the Acquisition in fiscal 2019 and have reflected this
change for all historical periods presented. Since the two segments operate independently and serve different markets and customers, there are no sales between
scgments. Revemue from cxternal customers and segment adjusted EBITDA ahown for Performance Materials for the year ended Septernber 30, 2018 and 2017
include Cabot Microelectronics’ heritage QED business. The adjusiments to segment EBITDA for the year ended September 30, 2019 represent addbacks of the
Acquisition and integration related expenses, and a charge for the write-up of inventory acquired from KMG to fair value for inventory sold in the period, costs
related to KMG-Bernuth warehouse fire, and restructuring and asset impairment charges related to wood treatment busimess.  The adjustments to segment EBITDA
for the year ended September 30, 2018 represent addbacks of Acquisition and integration related expenses. There were no adjustments to segment EBITDA for the
year ended September 30, 2017, The unallocated portions of corporate functions including finance, legal, human resources, information technology, and cotporate
development not directly attributable to 2 repariable segment.

13. FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY INDUSTRY SEGMENT, GEOGRAPHIC AREA AND PRODUCT LINE

We operate predominantly in two reportable segmenis - the Performance Materials and Electronic Materials. Revenues are atiributed to the United States and
forcign regions based upon the customer location and not the geographic location from which our products were shipped. Financial information by geographic
area was as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017
Revenue:
North America 5 3T2247 3 79,019 § 72,670
Asia 515,833 471215 394,874
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 149,305 39,889 39,635
South America 311 — —
Total $ 103769% § 590,123 § 507,179
Property, plant and equipment, pet:
North America ] 133,682 § 60818 § 52,155
Asia 68,823 50,573 54,201
Europe 74,313 12 5

Total s 276,818 $ 111403 § 106,361
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The following table thows revenie from salés o customers in foreign countrics that accounted for more than ten percent of our total revenue in fiscal 2019,
2018 and 2017:

Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2017
Revenue: f
South Korea $° 135844 5§ -136403. § 95,414
[ Taiwan 125,895 130,500 130,849 |
China * 97254 74,781
* Not a country with moro than 10% revenue..
The following isble shows revenue generated by product group in fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017; ) _
" Year Ended September 30,
_ 2019 . 018 2017
Revepue: |
Electronic Materials '
[__Slurries $ 460053 § 476828 § 416361 |
Electronic Chemicals: ‘278,413 —. =
{ CMP Pads : 94,585 83,117 68,673 |
Total Electronic Materials 833,051 559,945 485,034
[ i
Performance Materials ' :
L Pipeline 140,553 - )
Wood Treatment . 31,898 — —
| _Precision Optics and other 32,194 30,178 22,145 |
Total Performance Materials $ 204,645 S 30,178 § 22,145

{ ) . |

Total Revenue 3 1,037,696 $ 590,123 " § ‘507,179
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SELECTED QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS

The following table presents our unaudited financial information for the eight quarterly periods ended Scptember 30, 2019. This unaudited financial
information has been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, applicd on a basis consistent with the
annua| sudited financial statements and m the opinion of management, inchude all necessary adjustments, which consist only of normal recurring adjustments
Decessary 10 present fairly the financial results for the periods. The results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
SELECTED QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS
{Unandited and in thousands, except per share amounts)

Cost of sales

Groas profit

Reacarch, development and
technijcal

Sclling. general and
administrative
Asset Impairment Expensea
Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest cxpense

Intercst income

Other income {expensc), oot

Income before income taxes
Provision for incoms taxes

Net income (loas)
Basic earnings {loss) per share

Weighted average basic shares
ocutstanding

Dituted zamings (loss) per share

Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding

Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec, 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 1018 2017

$ 278645 5 271,882 § 265391 5 W78 S 156720 5 150437 0§ 142978 % 39979
165,535 156,492 150,571 122,445 72,383 69,737 67.933 65.965
113,110 115,390 114,820 99,333 84,346 80,700 75,045 74,014
12,698 12,191 12,778 14,040 13372 13,059 13,368 12,151
50,663 50,959 50,328 61,128 26,986 25,711 24,589 24,751
61372 — — — — — — —
130,733 63,150 63,106 75,168 40,358 38,770 37,957 36,902
(17,623) 52,240 51,714 24,165 43,988 41,930 37,088 37,112
12,703 12,757 13,331 6,890 102 513 1,158 1,132
M2 417 568 1.019 1161 1,141 1156 951
(1,158) (472) (1,014) (1410 (24) 486 (94) @M
{31.142) 39,428 37.937 16,383 45,023 43,044 36,992 36,652
{10,899) 20,550 10,800 3,440 (3.195) 7,873 7,255 39,735
$ (20243) $ 18878 $ 27,037 5 13443 0§ 48218 $§ 3517 0§ W 0§ (3,083)
$  (070) § 065 § 094 § 050 S 189§ 137§ 116 8 (©.12)
29,084 29,064 28,998 27,157 25,520 25,612 25,593 25326
$  (070) S 064 3 092 $ 048 $ 184 § 134 % 114§ (0.12)
29,084 29,568 29479 21,762 26,213 26,319 26,161 25,326
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SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

The following table séts forth activities in oir allowance for doubtful accounts:

Balance At Anwnntl Deductions Balapce At
_ Beginningof©  Charged To “and End
Allowance For Doubtful Acconuts: Year Expentes - Adjustments *' of Year
Year endad: ]
September 30, 2019 5 1900 ©oa32 § 45§ 2317
September 30, 2018 1,747 185 32) 1.900_]
‘Seprember 30, 2017 1,828 .26 . (10m 1,747
We have provided a valuatian allowancé on cértain deferred tax assets. The following table sets forth activities in ‘our valuation allowance:
Balance At - Amonnts Deductions Balance At-
. Beginning Charged To. | ‘and End
Valuation Allowance of Year Expenses © ' Adjostments of Year
Year eoded: 7]
September 30; 2019 5 133 % 2432 8 — 8 2,565
Seprember 30, 2018 2271 — (2,138) 133 ]
September 30,2017 3,022 — (751) 2271
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared by the Company in conformity with sccounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, The Company’s management is responsible for the integrity of thesc statements and of the underlying dats, estimates and judgments.

The Company's management cstablishes and maintaing a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reagonable assurance that jts assets are
safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use, transactions are properly authorized and recorded, and that financial records can be relied upon for the preparation of
the consolidated financial staicments. This system includes writien policies and procedures, a code of basiness conduct and an organizational stracture that
provides for appropriate division of responsibility and the training of personncl. This system is monitored and evalnsicd on an ongoing basts by management in
conjunction with its internal audit function.

The Company's management assesses the effectivencss of its internal control over financial reparting on an annual basis. In making this asscssment,
management uscs the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Contro] — Integrated Framewoerk
{2013). Management acknowledges, however, that all internal control systems, no matter how well designed, bave inherent limitations and can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. In addition, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm
evahmtes the Company's internal control over financial reporting and performs such tests and other procedures as it deems necessary to reach and express an
opinion on the fairmess of the financial statements.

In addition, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors provides general oversight responsibility for the financial statements. Composed entirely of
Directors who are independent and not employees of the Company, the Committee meets periodically with the Company’s management, internal auditors and the
indcpendent registered public accounting firm to review the quality of fmancial reporting and internal controls, 28 well as results of anditing efforts. The internal
auditors and independent registered public accounting firm have full and direct access to the Audit Committee, with and without management present.

{/ David H. Li

David H. Li
Chief Executive Officer

I8! Scont

Scott D. Beamer
Chief Financial Officer

fe/ Thomas 5. Roman

Thomas S. Roman
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCL.OSURE
None,

ITEM %A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, with the participation of cur Chicf Executive Officer (CEO) and Chicf Financial Officer (CFO), has evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operstion of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢e) under the Secirities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“the
Exchange Act")), as of September 30, 2019. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have conciuded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective 1o ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure,

While we believe the present design of our disclosure controls and procedures is effective enough to make known to our senior management in a timely
fashion all material information concerning our businegs, we intend to continue to improve the design and effectivencss of our disclosure controls and procedures
1o the extent necessary in the future 1o provide our senior management with timely access to such material information, and to correct any deficiencies that we may
digcover in the future, as appropriate.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Cur mapagement is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rule 132-15(f) or Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company's CEO and CFO, or person's performing similar functions, and effected by the Company's board of directors, management and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the prepamtion of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accoumting principles in the United Stateg of America. [nternal coatrol aver financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:
pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately aad fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of the Company's assets; provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary far preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles; provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of Company asscts are made in accordance with management authorization; and provide
reasonsble assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Company assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements would be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based upon SEC siafT guidance, management has excluded KMG from the scope of our assessment of internal control over fmancial reporting, as of
September 30, 2019 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during fiscal 2019. As of September 30, 2019 and for the period
from Acquisition through September 30, 2019, total assets and total revenue of KMG represented 14.0% and 43,5%, respectively, of the Company's consolidated
total assets and total revenues, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019,

Qur management evaluated the effectiveness of our intemal controt over financial reporting based on the framework infnternal Control-Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Commitice of Sponsoring Crganizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ™). Besed on this cvaluation, our management
conchrded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30, 2019. The effectiveness of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2019 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in
their report which appears under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or arc
reagonably likefy to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

INHERENT LIMITATIONS ON EFFECTIVENESS OF CONTROLS

Becanse of inherent limitations, our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent all errors and all fraud. A control
gystem, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, ot absolute, assurapce: that the objectives of the control system are met. Further,
the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there arg resource conatraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evahmtion of controls can provide absohnte assurence that all control issaes and insiances of frand, if
any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breskdowns
can occur because of a simple eTor or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusicn of two or more
people or by menagement override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelibood of
future cvents, and there can be 0o assurance that any design will succeed in achicving its staied goals under all potential fitire conditians; over time, controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations
in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART ITI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-K with respect to identification of directors, the existence of a separately-designated standing audit
committee, identification of members of such committee, and identification of an audit committes financial expert, is incorporated by reference from the
information contained in the sections captioned "Election of Directors™ and "Board Structure and Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 4, 2020 (the "Proxy Statement*). In addition, for information with respect to the executive officers of our Company, sce
*Information about our Executive Officers” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the section captioned "Section 16(z) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance™ in the Proxy Statement. Information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained
in the section captioned "Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.

We have edopted a code of business conduct for all of our employees and directors, including our principal executive officer, other executive officers,
principal financial officer and senior financial personnel. A copy of our code of business conduct is available free of charge on our Company website at

www.cabotcmp.com. We imtend to post on our website any material changes to, or waivers from, our code of butiness conduct, if any, within two days of any such
event.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-K is incarporated by reference from the information contained in the section captioned "Executive
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

Shown below is information as of September 30, 2019, with respect to the shares of common stock that may be issued under Cabot Microelectronics’ existing
equity compensation plans.

(¢} Number of secorities
remaining available for
(2) Number of securities 1o future
be {b) Welghted-average hsuance under equity
ssued upon exercise of exercise compensation plans
outstanding options, price of outstanding {excloding
warrants options, securities reflected In
Plan category and rights warrants and rights colnmu (a))
£quity compensation plans approved by security holders (1) 1,153,321 (2) § 6344 (2) 2,391,804 (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total 1,15332]1 (2) 8 63.44 (2) 2391804 (3)

(1) Equity Compensation plans consist of our Second Amended and Restated Cabot Microclectronics Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (EIP), as
amended and restated September 23, 2008, our Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended effective March 7,
2017 (OIP), and our Cabot Microclectronics Corporation 2007 Employee Stock Purchage Plan, as Amended and Restated September 23, 2013 (ESPP).
As of March 6, 2012, all securities available for future issuance under the EIP were transferred to the OIP and gince then the EIP oo tonger has been
available for any future awards. Alf share amounty in the above table reflect the effect of our 2012 leveraged recapitalization with a special cash
dividend. See Note 16 of "Notes to the Consolidsted Financia! Statements” of this Anmal Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding our
equity compensation plans.

(2) Column (a) includes 215,215 shares that employees and non-employee directors have the right to acquire upan the vesting of the equivalent restricted
stock units that they have been awarded under our equity incentive plans, and 59,082 initial granted shares that certain cmployees have the right to
acquire upon the vesting of the performance-based restricted stock units that they have been awarded under our equity incentive plans, which may be
subject to downward or upwand adjustment depending on the performance measures during the particular performance period pursuant to the PSU
award agreement. Column (b) excludes all of these from the weighted-avernge cxercise price.

(3) Column (c} includes 336,684 shares available for future issuance under the ESPP.

The other information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section captioned "Stock
Ownership” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section captioned “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions® i the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by [temn 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section captioned "Fees of Independent
Audijtors and Audit Commitice Report” in the Proxy Statement.




PART IV

ITEM 1S. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

() The following Financial Statements and Finencial Stitement Schedule are included m [tem 8 herein::

1.. Financial Statervents:

l Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017

| Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended Seplember 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017

.Consolidated Balance Sheets at Sepiember 30, 2019 and 2018

{ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ycars caded September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Staiements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Financial Statement Schedule: Schedule [1 - Valuation and Qualifying Accouats for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017

[ Notes to the Consalidated Financial Statements
2
3

Exhibits - The following exhibits are filed as part of, ar incorporaied by reference into, this Report on Form 10-K:

_Ju_JLJ_.J__

Filed as an exhibit to, and lacorporated by referénce from

_Exhibit No.. Description Form —. FileNo. Flling Date
Ammsg; and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 27, 2015, by and 8-K 000-30205 September 28, 2015
21 amang NexPlanar Copporation, Cabot icroelectronics Corporation, Matrix
’ Mg;gchn v and Sharcholder Representative Services LLC solely in its
capacity as fepresentative.
. ﬁ% % Plan of Merger, dated as quugCuit 14, 2018, by and among B-K 000-30205- August 17,2018
2.2 KM emicals, Inc., Cabol Microclgctronics Corporation, and Cobatt- T
Merger Sub Corporation,
32 ird) Amended and ed By-Laws of Cabot Microelectronics 8-K 000-30205 March 6; 2017
%mﬂﬁ
) 33 Form of Amended and Restated Cegtificate of Incorporation of Cabot 51 333-95093 March 27, 2000
| Mluoeleclmmcs Corporation. )
4.1 Form ofCabm M:cmclectmmcs Corporation Common Stock Certificate. S-1 313-95093 April 3, 2000 ]
4.2 Description of o s Securities
10.1 od Am and Restated Cabot Microelectronics ration 2000 10-K 000-30205 November 25, 2008
) v as gm and resiated September 23, 2008.*
) Form of Second ded and Restated Cabol Migro¢lecironics ton 10-Q 000-30205 ‘May 9, 2011
10.2 2000 Equity Incentve Plan Non-Oualified Stock Option Grant Agreement -~ ’ v
nployee directors).®
of Second Amended and Restated Cabot Microelectronics Corporation 10Q 000-30205 February 8, 2011
10.4 2 uity Incentive Plan Non- lihed Stock Option | Agreement
{employees [including executive officers)).*
10.15 Csbot Microelectronics Corporation 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as 10-K 000-30205 November 20, 2013
b Ammdedggggmglcdggtcmbcfz,2013' i T o
| 10.22 t Mictge]ectronics Corporation as amended 4 10-Q 000-30205 February B, 2010 |

119




1023 Form of Amended and Restated Change in Contro| Severance Protection 10-K 000-30205 November 25; 2008

 Agreement.** _
1028 Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended September 23, 2008,* 10K 000-30205 November 25, 2008]
1030 ©  Form of Deposit Share Axye il 10-Q 000-30206. February 8, 2013
10.33 Adopuon ccment, as smended September 23, 2008, of Cabot 10-K 000-30205 November 25, 2008
- Microglectronics Ci ration Supplemental Emplo Plan.*
L '10.34 Code of Busigess Conduct, 10-Q " i000-30205 ,  February 8,2011
[ 1036 Directors' Cash Compensation Umbrella Program.® 10-K 000-30205 December 10, 2003

10.53 Cahot Microetectronics ration Supplemental Employee Rcu:rmP!nn 10-K - "000-30205 November 25, 2008
10, _W*%rw_mtm—au - . o . hes X
Adoption A ent, as amended J 2010, of Cabot Migroelecironics 10Q 000-30205 February 8, 2010
10.57 "c‘;—‘:.%ﬁn’on 40} (k) Plan *

'10.58 Steck hasc Plan tus ovember 24, 2010.* 10Q ' 000-30205 February 8, 2011

Cabat Microe]e: Corporation 2012 Ommnibus g&mu've Plan, as 10Q 000-30205 May 5, 2017
10.60 pmended eflective March 7, 2017, *mtion 201 ibys Incentive Plan, as

' amended effective March 7, 20)7. *

Form ¢ t't gﬂllcmclccimmcs Qrporat ibuug ive Plan’ 10-Q 000-30205 February B, 2013
- . K 180s]4] g n
10.61
10-Q 000-30205 February 8, 2013
10.62
10.63 i 10-Q 000-30205 August 8,2012
10.64 Form of Cabot Microelecironics Corporation 2012 Cmnibus Incentive Plan 10Q 000-30205 August 8, 2012
i m-mged Stoc UmL-: Avward Agreemept (pon-employee directors).®
10.65 Employment O r dated December 12, 2014 (David H. Li)* 10Q. ~ ' 000-30203 February 6, 2015
[ os6 Cabot Microelectronics Corporation Shon Term Incentive Progrant” 10-Q 000-30205 February 8, 2016 |
10.67 L igs ration 2012 Omnibus [ncentiv iscpl Year 10-Q 000-30205 February 8, 2016
: 20 Restricted Unit Award Agree ment for United States Emplovees®
Cabot Microclectronics Corporation 2012 Omnibus I.nccnuvc Plan Fiscal Year 10-Q 000-30205 February 7, 2018
10.68 20[ 1 Non-Qualified Stock Option Award ited States
Employees*
10.69° Cabot Micrpelectronics Corpormtion 2012 Omnibus Incentive Plan Fiscal Year 1-Q - 000-30205 ‘February 7, 2018
' 200 ] Restricted Stock Ugjt Awnrd Agreement for United States Employecg*
10.70 Cabot Microclectronics Corporation 2012 Ommnibus Incentive Plan Fiscal Year 10-Q 000-30205 February 7, 2018 J
- 20[ | Performence Share Unit Award Agreement for United States Emp[ovocs‘
_— © Credit ent, dat o 13, 2018, by and among Cabot 8K 000-30205 November 15, 2018
10.71 Microglectronics Comporation, the lenders thereto and JPMorgan Chase '
B N.A inistrative agent,:
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INDEX

| 21.1 Subsidiaries of icr ics Corporation.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney,
313 ifjeatiop of Chief Executjve cer as adopted L to jon_302 of. .
sh 1he Sa s cto B
312 ification of Chief Financial O Lo jiop 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082,
321 Certification pursuant to'18 U.5.C. Section' 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section

-906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

XBRL Instance Document — The Instance Document does not appear in the

101.INS Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document,
101.8CH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schems
| 181.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF. XBRL Taxonommy Extension Definition Linkbase. .
[ 101:LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Cover Page Interactive Data File - The Cover Page Imeractive Daia File
104 does not eppear in the Interactive Data File because itn XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRI. document.

* Management contract; or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Submnhahymﬂnchmgemwmlmmgznmmagmmhnwbeenmmedmmwn.hDawdH LiScott D. Beamer, H. Carol
=+ Bemnstein, Eleanor K. Tharp, Jeffrey M. Dysard, Colletn E. Mumford, Thiomas S: Roman, and Daniel D Woodland.ml.hdxﬂacmcsonlym
Ihcammmlofpaymcmsandbmcﬁlsmbcmcﬂvodbysuchpam

Submnnaﬂynmﬂn:deposnshmng:umcnuhawbeenenmedmmmthDawdH Li, with differences only in the amount of initial deposit
*** made and deposit shares purchased by such persons.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behaif by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized:
CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION

Date; November 27, 2019 /s DAVID H. LI

David H, Li

President and Chief Executive Officer

[Principal Executive Officer]
Date: November 27, 2019 /a/ SCOTT D BEAMER

Scott D. Beamer
Vice President and Chief Fmancial Officer
[Principal Financial Officer]
Date: November 27, 2019 /s THOMAS S. ROMAN
Thomas 5. Roman
Corporate Controller
[Prim¢ipal Accounting Officer]

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacitics and on the dates indicated:

Date: November 27, 2019 /¢! WILLIAM P. NOGLOWS®*
William P. Noglows
Chairman of the Board
[Director]

Date; November 27, 2019 /& DAVIDH. LI
David H. Li
President and Chief Executive Officer
[Director]

Date: November 27, 2019 /o' RICHARD S. HILL*
Richard S. Hill
[Director)

Date: November 27, 2019 /s’ BARBARA A. KLEIN*

Barbara A, Klein
[Director]

Date: November 27, 2019 /e/ PAUL J. REILLY*
Paul J. Reilly
[Drrector]

Date: November 27, 2019 /¢/ SUSAN M. WHITNEY*
Susan M. Whitney
[Drirector)

Date: November 27, 2019 /3! GEOFFREY WILD*
Geoffrey Wild
[Director]

. by H. Carol Bernstein as Attomey-in-fact pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.




Exhibit 4.2

DESCRIFTION OF THE REGISTRANT'S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 194

The following summary of the capital stock of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation does not purport 1o be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to
our amended and restated ceriificate of incorporation fas amended, our “charter'), our (third} amended and restated by-laws (our “by-laws”, and together with
our charier, our “organitational docwments "), each of which are incorporated by reference os an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit
is @ part, and certain provisions of Delaware law. Unless the contexi requires otherwise, all references to "we”, “us,” “our” and “Cabot Microelectronics” in
this section refer solely to Cabot Microelectronics Corporation and not fo our subsidiaries.

General

Under onr charter, Cabot Microelectronics' authorized capital stock consists of 20,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 200,000,000
shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par vahee per share. As of October 31, 2019, there were 29,104,190 shares of Cabot Microclecironics common stock outstanding
and no shares of Cabot Microelectronics preferred stock cutstanding. All outstanding shares of Cabot Microtlectronics common stock are duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable,

Common Stock

Voting

Holders of Cabot Microelectronics common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matiers to be voted on by Cabot Microelectronics stockholders. Holders
of Cabot Microclectronics common stock do not have cumulative rights, so that holders of a majority of the shares of Cabot Microelectronics common stock
present at a meeting at which a quorum is present are able to elect all of Cabat Microclectronice directors ¢ligible for election in a given year. The holders of a
majority of the vating power of the issued and outstandmg Cabot Microelectronics common stock constitute a quanm.

Dividends

Holdets of Cabot Microclectronics common stock ate entitled i receive ratably the dividends, if any, that are declared by the Cabot Micro¢lectronics board of
directors. The Cabot Microelectronics board of directors may declare dividends out of funds lkegally available for the declaration of dividends, subject to the
preferential rights of any holder of preferred stock that may from time to time be outstanding.

Liquidation Rights

Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Cabot Microelectronics, the holders of Cabot Microclectronics common stock are entitled to share pro rata in
the distribution of all of the assets available for distribution after satisfaction of all Liabilitics and the payment of the liquidation preference of any preferred stock
that may be outstanding.

Other Maiters

The holders of Cabot Microelectronics common stock will have no preemptive or other subscription rights to purchase common stock, and there are no redemptive
rights or sinking fund provisions.

The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of Cabot Microelectronica common stock are subject 1o and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders
of shares of any series of preferred stock that Cabot Microelectronics may designate and issue in the future.

Cabot Microclectronics common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Sclect Market under the symbol “CCMP."

The transfer agent and registrar for Cabot Microelectronics commaon stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A-




Preferred Stock
The Cabot Microelectronics board of directors is authorized to cause shares of preferred stock to be issued in one or more series, to:

«  determine the number of shares of each series;
»  fix the rights, powers, preferences and privileges of each series;
«  fix any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereon; and
= increase or decrease the number of shares of each such series.
Among the specific matters that may be determined by (e board of directors are:
the annual rate of dividends;
the redemption price, if any;
the terms of a ginking or purchase fund, if any;
the amount payable in the event of any voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the afTairs of Cabot Microelectronics;
conversion rights, if any; and
voting powers, if any.,
Depending upon the terms of the preferred stock cstablished by the Cabot Microelectronics board of directors, any or all series of preferred stock could have
preferences over the common stock with respect to dividends and other distribations and upon liquidation or could have voting or conversion rights that could
adversely affect the bolders of the outstanding common stock.

Certain Effects of Authorized but Unizsued Stock

Cabot Microclectronics has shares of conamon stock and preferred stock available for fuhure issusnee without stockholder approval. Cabot Microelectronics may
utilize these additional shares for a varicty of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital or facilitale corporate ecquisitions or
for payment as a dividend on the capital stock. The existence of unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred stock may ensble the Cabot
Microclectronics board of directors to issne shares to persons fiendly to current management or 1o issue preferred stock with terms that could render more difficult
or discourage & third-party attempt to obtain control of Cabot Microclectronics by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, thereby prolecting
the contimuity of Cabot Microelectronics’ management, '

Provistons of Cabot Microelectronics Charter, Cabot Microclectropics Bytaws and DGCL That May Have Anti-Takeover Effects

The Cabot Microelectronics charter, the Cabot Microelectronics bylaws and Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (*DGCL™) contain provisions
summarized below that may delay, discourage or prevent the acquisition or control of Cabot Microslectronics by means of a tender offer, open market purchase,
proxy fight aor otherwise, including acquisitions that might result in a premium being paid over the market price of the common stock.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Mectings

Any action required or permitted to be taken by Cabot Microclectronics stockholders may be effected only at a duly called annual or special meeting of
stockholders and may not be effected bry » writien consent in lieu of a meeting of stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law and subject to the rights of the
holders of any preferred stock, special meetings of stockholders for any purpose may be called only by the Cabot Microclectronics board of directors, its chairman
or, at the written request of 2 majority of the Cabot Microclectronics board of directors, the president.




Advance Notice Procedures

The Cabot Microciectronics bylaws require advance potice of the nomination, other than by or at the direction of the Cabot Microelectronics board of directors, of
candidates for election as directors, as well as for other stockholder proposals, to be considered at special meetings of stockholders. Subject to certain exceptions,
notice of intent to nominate a direclor or raisc matters et these mectings will have to be received in writing not less than 90 nor more than 120 days prior to the
anniversary of the previous year's annual meeting of stockholders, and must contain specific information concerning the person to be nominated or the matters to
be brought before the meeting and concemning the stockholder submitting the proposal. If the chairman of a meeting determines that an individaal was not
nominated, or other business was not brought before the meeting, in accordance with the advance notice procedures, that individual will not be eligible for ¢lection
as @ director, or that business will not be conducted at such mecting, as the case may be.

Board of Directors

The Cabot Microelectronics charter and bylaws provide that the number of directors ghall be determined from time to time by a resolution adopted by the majority
of the Cabot Microclectronics directors. The Cabet Microelectronics charter and bylaws also provide that the board of directors be divided into three classes, as
nearly equal in number as possible. Each director holds office unti] that person's successor is duly elected and qualified. Vacancies on the board of directors are
filled by a majority of the remaining directors, or by & sole remaining director, or by Cabot Microeleciranics stockholders if the vacancy was caused by the action
of Cabot Microelectronics stockholders.

Any director may be removed from office with or without cause upon the affinmative vote of holders of at |east 80% of the Cabot Microelectronics outstanding
common stack, voling as a single class, A director may not be removed by the stockholders at a meeting unless the notice of the meeting states that the purpose, or
one of the purposes, of the meeting is removal of the director.

Adoption, Amendment or Repeal of Charter or Bylaws

The Cabot Microelectronics charter provides that the affirmative vete of holders of at least 80% of Cabot Microelectronics outstanding commen stock is required
to amend, repeal ar adopl any provision of the Cabot Microctectronics charier inconsisient with the provisions of that certificate regarding amendments to the Cabot
Microelectronics bylaws, stockholder action by written consent, special meetings of stockholders, the Cabot Microelectronics board of directors and the election
and removal of directors. The Cabot Microelectronics charter furiher provides that the Cabot Microelectronics bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed only by
the Cabot Microclectronics board of directors or upon the affirmative vote of hoiders of at least 0% of the Cabot Microclectronics outstanding common stock,
voting together as a single class.

Takeover Statutes

Section 203 of the DGCL generally prohibits “business combinations,” including mergers, sales and leases of asscts, issuances of securitics and similar transactions
by & carporation or a subsidiary with an interested stockholder who beneficially owns 15% or more of a corporation's voting stock, within three years after the
person or entity becomes an interested stockholder, unless: (i) the board of directors of the target corporation has approved, before the scquisition time, cither the
busincss combination or the tranzaction that resulted in the person becoming an interested stockhelder, (ii) upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in
the person becoming an interesied stockholder, the persom owns at least 85% of the corporation's voting stock (excluding shares owned by directors who are
officers and chares owned by employee stock plans in which participants do not have the right 1o determine confidentially whether shares will be tendered in a
tender or exchange offer) or (iii) afier the person or entity becomes an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and
authorized at a meeting of siockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 662/3% of the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder. Cabot
Microelectronics has not opted out of the protections of Section 203 of the DGCL.



EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF CABOT MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION

Cabot Microelecironics Global Corporation (Delaware, U.8.)
NexPlanar Corporation (Delaware, U.S.)
QED Technologies International, Inc. (Delaware, U.S.)
Cabot Microelectronics Japan KK (Japan)
Nihon Cabot Microelectronics KK (Japan)
Cabot Microclectronics B.V. (Netherlands)
Cabot Microclectronics Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
Hanguk Cabot Microclectronics, LLC (South Kores)
Epoch Material Co., Ltd. (Taiwan)
Shanghai Cabot Microelectronics Co. Lid. {China)
KMG Chemicals, Inc. (Texas, U.S.
KMG-Bemnuth, Inc. Inware u.
KMG de Mexico SA de CV ?:c
KMG Electronic Chemicals, (Tc.x.aa us)
ggg}msnawcmy) icals L Holdings S.a.r.!. (Luxembourg)
ectronic uxembourg Ho arl. Lux
KMG Electronic Chemicals SAS Franoc; "
KMG Ultra Pure Chemicals SAS (France
KMG Electronic Chemicals, Pie. le. (Singapore)
KMG Singapore Pre. U%aff
KMG U'l lZm
KMG Electronic Chemicals Lumt.cd nited Kingdom
KMG Ultra Pure Chemicals Limited (United Kingdom
KMG Industrial Lubri canuCanad.n,lnc (British Columbia, Canada}
KMG Val-Tex, LLC (Tens Us.)
Sealweld Corporation (2003), Inc. (Nevada, U.5.)
Sealweld (USA), Inc. (Texas, U.8.)
KMG FCM, Inc. (Delaware, US))
KMG-Flowchem, Inc. (Delaware, U.S.
Flowchem Holdings LI.C (Delaware, U.5.)
Flowchem Intermediate Holdings, LL.C (Delaware, U.S.)
Flowchem A mon L1LC 1nwarc, 8)
ggwchm LL

FLX Inc. (Tcxas, U.S
MPower Specialty Chemicals LLC (Texas, U.S.)



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Staiements on Form S-8 (No. 333-34272, 333-34278, 333-82680, 333-123692, 333-
170810, 333-179955, and 333-232088) and Form S-4 {(No. 333-227301) of Cabot Microclectronics Corporation of our report dated November 27, 2019 relating to
the financial statementz and financial statement schedule and the effectivencss of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sf PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, llinois
November 27, 2019



EXHIBIT 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY
Know all persons by these presents, that each person whose signature appesrs below constitutes and appoints H. Carol Bernstein, their Attorney-in-fact, with
the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019
and any amendments 1o this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said Attorney-in-fact, or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue bereof,
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE Date

s/ William P. Noglows Chairman of the Board November 27, 2019
William P. Noglows

/&/ David H. Li Prestdent and Chief, November 27, 2019
David H, Li Executive Officer

/s/ Richard S. Hill Director November 27, 2019
Richard S. Hill

s/ Barbara A. Klein Director November 27,2019
Barbara A. Klein

/a/ Paul J. Reilly Director November 27, 2019
Paul J. Reilly

/8! Susan M. Whitney Director November 27, 2019

Susan M. Whitney

13/ Geoffrey Wild Director November 27, 2019
Geoffrey Wild




Exhibit 31.1

I, David H. Li, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cabot Microelectronics Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does nol contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to statc a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stalernents, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for cstablishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the

registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating 1o the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

{(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemnal
purposes in accordance with gencrally accepied accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the cffectivencss of the regisirant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by Lhis report based on guch evaluation; and

(d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrani's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's {ourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's interoal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors:

{a) All significant deficiencies and material weakmesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability 1o record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

{b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that mvolves management or other employess who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 27, 2019 /8/ DAVID H. L1

David H. Li
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

LCERTIFICATION
1, Scott D. Beamer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annusl Report on Form 10-K of Cabol Microelectronics Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report docs not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit o state s material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on roy knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other centifying officer and 1 are responsible for cstablishing and maintaining disclosure coptrols and procedures (as defined m Exchange
Act Rules 133-15(e} and 15d-15(c)} and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15¢D) for the
registrant and bave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiarics, is made known 1o us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control gver financial reparting, or caused such intersal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectivencss of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedurss and presented in this report our conclusions about the
cffectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter {the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ennual report) that has materially affected, or is reagonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registranit’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent cvaluation of interna] control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of direclors:

{a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonsbly
likely 1o adversely affect the registrant's ability 1o record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employecs who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 27, 2019 /8/ SCOTT D. BEAMER

Scott D. Beamer
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.5.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Cabot Microclectronics Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, as
filed with Lh_e Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof {ihe "Report™), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursusnt 1o 18
U.8.C. Section [350, as adopled pursuant to Scction 935 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

{1) The Report fully complies with the tequirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of aperations of the Company.

Date: November 27, 2019 /s/ DAVID H. LI
David H. Li
Chief Executive Officer
Date: November 27, 2019 /s/ SCOTT D. BEAMER
Scott D. Beamer

Chief Financial Officer



